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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S LETTER

FENG Dai
Chairman of the Board

HU Jiezhang
Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Technology Officer

headed towards, improving clinical quality and expanding 
availability. More importantly, aligner orthodontics is at 
its early stages and rapidly improving every year.

We thank the clinicians who try new approaches. We 
thank the entrepreneurs who are pushing the limit of 
the industry. We thank the KOLs who illuminate with 
forward thinking. We thank orthodontic organizations 
for setting guardrails for clinical quality. We are excited 
to see the rich innovation of digital orthodontics in our 
field, including in brackets, materials, software, imaging, 
monitoring, and protocols. As a company built by 
orthodontists over 20 years ago, Angelalign is proud to be 
part of this worldwide community and doing what it can 
to advance the community mission.

Dear Customers, Colleagues, and Shareholders,

Thank you for supporting Angelalign over the past year. 
Your trust and support motivated us to make strong 
progress. As we traveled around the world to dental 
conferences and to see customers, it’s satisfying to see 
the accelerated pace of dental technology innovation. 
Whereas many dental technologies in the past rode on 
progress in other specialties, digital orthodontics is now 
leading the pace in the medical field.

I n d i v i d u a l  t r e a t m e n t  p l a n n i n g ,  c u s t o m i z e d 
manufacturing, fast delivery anywhere in the world, 
cross-pollination of different clinical traditions, aligner 
orthodontics is at the forefront of where medicine is 

STANDING FOR CLINICAL EXCELLENCE AROUND THE WORLD
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Localizing Clinical Preferences

Sydney, Bangkok, Paris, Madrid, Cologne, Sao Paolo, 
Boston, Dubai, Shanghai... these are not just names of 
cities with customers. Each of our 50 country markets 
represents a drastically different ecosystem, patient 
base, clinician needs, and clinical traditions. We find it 
fascinating to adapt our products and services to each 
market and to create an organizational structure that 
can respond to their brilliance.

We remember meeting an experienced orthodontist from 
Cologne in an old brewery, next to its great cathedral. 
It was a chilly evening, but the centuries-old pub was 
warm and cozy. Together with our experienced German 
team leader, we were chatting about the challenges 
facing orthodontists in Germany and what they would 
like to see. The orthodontist shared us his family story 
of coming from many generations of dentists dating 
back to the late 1800s. Given his roots, he was not 
only interested in increasing case volume, but also in 
bringing orthodontic theories to aligner movements and 
focusing on the quality of treatment planning. It was 
clear that Germany needed educational programs that 
were based on traditional orthodontic protocols and 
could fully exploit our most complex product tools. The 
evening continued with good beer and pork knuckles, 
while the doctor wistfully shared that it’s a pity his 
sons won’t be in dentistry, but perhaps they can find 
spouses in orthodontics to carry on the family tradition. 
This is how we try to understand each customer, their 
story, aspirations and values, and their broader cultural 
and clinical community. Then we adapt our products, 
treatment protocols and clinical support to their needs.

We are continuously improving our localized services. 
Angelalign is expanding treatment planning capacity 
and aligner production in Brazil, which is fast becoming 
one of the most important centers of dentistry in the 
world, with strong clinical culture and strong academic 
research. Recently, we also decided to establish 
a new manufacturing facility in Wisconsin, a short 

drive to Milwaukee, thus bringing advanced custom 
manufacturing locally for our North American customers 
and being able to explore production process innovation 
with clinicians.

Our dedication to localization is often put to test, such 
as when an accomplished doctor in Madrid sent us a 
hundred-page presentation with her clinical preferences. 
After rolling eyes and pulling hair for a day, our clinical 
and treatment planning team dug in and distilled her 
requirements into structured preferences. This helped us 
to deeply understand the Spanish orthodontic approach. 
Out of that came product improvements targeted for the 
Spanish market. This clinician eventually became one of 
our best friends and mentors.

Making Technology Robust Clinically

Both of us come from the software and hardware 
engineering area, so the latest technologies are 
straightforward tools for us to use. Maybe because of 
this, we are less enamored by marketing headlines that 
suggest digital technology is going to solve all problems 
in dentistry and orthodontics. We love all the new 
software and hardware and hope they keep coming. At 
the same time, we feel that as an industry, we need to 
make technology more robust and easier to use to allow 
doctors to truly increase productivity and quality.

We hope that Angelalign and other industry leaders 
come back to basic human intelligence and use clinical 
feedback to iterate products and improve over time. 
Moreover, we advocate our industry to incorporate 
technology unobtrusively into how doctors and patients 
live and work. Unlike other healthcare industries where 
professionals are well supported and have uniform 
needs, our clinicians operate in many different contexts 
and have less IT and administrative support. As a result, 
it takes much longer to make dental technologies robust 
and widely usable compared to other medical devices. 
Orthodontic technologies, in particular, have no short 
cuts to success.
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One day at a Brazil conference we met with an 
accomplished business executive who led various dental 
and orthodontic products businesses for decades. In 
recent years, he has transitioned to leading an aligner 
business. He was a brilliant guy and much more 
accomplished than we. He scratched his beard over 
coffee and mumbled that “All dental products are linear 
products, just like any other medical device. What you 
see is what you get. I can look at the design, the material, 
the manufacturing, the software, the protocol, use it 
briefly and pretty much know how well it works. Having 
been in aligners for a few years, I found it a different 
animal. Aligners all look the same; all have beautiful 
marketing; all make same claims and seem to have 
similar manufacturing processes and design software. 
But they give completely different results. Differences 
are in details of interface, design, manufacturing, 
quality control, and medical protocols. Differences are 
unobservable at first but over 20 to 50 steps of treatment 
they accumulate tenfold. The accumulated irregularities 
get magnified by biomechanical forces, and finally 
expresses non-linearly like the butterfly effect.” What 
an insightful perspective from a lifelong dental industry 
leader. He reinforced our view that for aligners, the 
ultimate value proposition for our customers is to make 
technology robust and effective, achieved through a 
large amount of iteration and feedback.

As a result of this approach, customers will see 
continued innovation in our doctor-facing software 
and hardware offerings. This including tools to handle 
complex cases quickly, to present treatment plans to 
patients more professionally, to control mid-treatment 
check-ups in finer details, and to ensure every treatment 
phase is smoothly monitored.

Even more of our investment in technology will be in 
the invisible areas such as better medical protocols, 
higher treatment planning quality, reducing refinements, 
improving manufacturing and operational quality, 
strengthening data security and adjusting for different 
clinical traditions.

Progress in Pediatric Area

Pediatrics is a good example of how we incorporate 
technology robustly into a wholistic treatment paradigm 
for clinicians and patients. In some well-developed 
countries, it is common for parents to take their children 
to see orthodontists at an early age. While in other 
regions, awareness of early orthodontic intervention is 
still low. Parents often delay seeking treatment until 
problems become severe. By then, treatment becomes 
more complicated, longer, and costlier.

Regardless of the region, doctors face similar challenges 
in pediatric dentistry due to the long treatment and 
monitoring cycle. Most pediatric orthodontic products 
are limited to specific stages and tackle only a part of the 
process. Whereas what doctors really need is support 
through a very long treatment cycle and by a clinical 
ecosystem.

Guided by the principles of prevention, timely 
intervention, and personalized treatment, we launched 
our new KiD Max full-cycle orthodontic product in 
selected regions last year. This product allows doctors 
to utilize Angelalign’s professional orthodontic tools and 
clinical support for up to six years. Doctors can use our 
K1 product to achieve proper molar occlusion and incisor 
alignment for children. Doctors can seamlessly upgrade 
to the full-cycle KiD Max treatment plan if further 
intervention is necessary. Many doctors say they can now 
recommend the most suitable treatment plans based on 
each family’s needs and budget without worrying about 
product terms limitations in later stages.

Pediatric oral health is not just orthodontics, but lifelong 
oral health. Therefore, we need to introduce more 
innovative products and services into the treatment 
paradigm, such as the KiD Care clinical service, which 
covers every step from early diagnosis to mid-treatment 
monitoring, and caries-prevention aligner technology 
because caries is a big concern for many parents. 
Pediatric oral health is one of many examples of where 
technology needs to be unobtrusively integrated into the 
complete treatment cycle.
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Decentralize, Empower and Stabilize

Doctor needs vary tremendously depending on their region, culture, or patient demographics. To address different 
needs with tailored products and services, we created a decentralized organization that empower country teams and 
operating teams to be an integral part of product and service design. To make the decentralized structure work, we 
continue to make our team culture about transparency, responsibility and most importantly, stability.

In contrast, highly centralized corporate structure serving fiercely independent doctors in different cultures is a 
real challenge, especially when people are constantly changing. Large corporate mergers in the past decade in 
dentistry have faced this challenge and investors have begun to understand that stability is itself value-creating in 
dentistry. Our customers and employees have welcomed the advantages of stability in our ownership, strategy and 
management, which ultimately engenders trust inside and outside. Trust is at the heart of dentistry, more so than 
even technology or marketing.

By the end of 2024, our business and clinical team are operating in over 50 countries, with a diverse multinational and 
multicultural team. We continue to build a culture that flips the corporate monolith on its head so that headquarters 
are service providers and risk managers. The real bosses are our regional market executives and our operational 
leaders, those who are closest to our customers. This has driven our strong customer satisfaction and solid business 
progress. Moreover, this culture has attracted many talented people to join our effort. People enjoy making customers 
happier and enjoy in turn making the orthodontic industry better.

Chairman
Dai Feng

CEO and CTO
Fox Hu
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• Our total clear aligner case shipments increased by 46.7% from approximately 245,000 in the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to approximately 359,400 in the year ended December 31, 2024.

(i) In the non-China global markets, our clear aligner case shipments increased by 326.4% to approximately 
140,700 in the year ended December 31, 2024, representing 39.1% of our total clear aligner case shipments. 
In the year ended December 31, 2024, under the strategy of “global organization + localized operations”, our  
non-China global business expanded rapidly and has spanned over more than 50 countries, serving as our 
major growth engine.

(ii) In the China market, our clear aligner case shipments increased by 3.2% to approximately 218,700 in the 
year ended December 31, 2024.

• Our revenue increased by 28.2% from approximately USD209.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
approximately USD268.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(i) In the non-China global markets, our revenue increased by 290.4% from approximately USD20.6 million in 
the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately USD80.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, 
accounting for 30.0% of our total revenue.

(ii) In the China market, our revenue was approximately USD188.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, 
comparing to approximately USD189.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2023.

• Our gross profit increased by 28.7% from approximately USD130.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 
to approximately USD168.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(i) Our gross profit margin for the year ended December 31, 2024 was approximately 62.6%, comparing to 
approximately 62.4% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

• Our segment operating results for the year ended December 31, 2024 were as follows:

(i) Our adjusted segment loss in the non-China global markets was approximately USD29.7 million in the year 
ended December 31, 2024, due to our continuous expansion in the non-China global markets.(1)

(ii) Our adjusted segment profit and adjusted segment profit margin in the China market remained relatively 
stable at approximately USD36.6 million and 19.5% respectively in the year ended December 31, 2024.(1)

• Our net profit increased by 46.6% from approximately USD6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
approximately USD10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

(i) Our adjusted net profit for the year ended December 31, 2024 was approximately USD26.9 million, as 
compared to approximately USD26.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.(2)

• The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a special final dividend of HKD0.38 per Share for the year 
ended December 31, 2024.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (Selected Items)

Year ended December 31

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 USD’000 USD’000
(Restated)

Revenue 816,528 1,271,677 1,269,706 209,616 268,787
Cost of revenue (241,479) (445,031) (484,016) (78,908) (100,559)

Gross profit 575,049 826,646 785,690 130,708 168,228
Selling and marketing expenses (148,835) (236,516) (298,170) (70,068) (105,004)
Administrative expenses (154,423) (183,185) (185,027) (39,755) (46,210)
Research and development expenses (93,479) (123,094) (147,681) (24,645) (21,323)
Net losses of impairment on financial assets (10,148) (245) (9,029) (651) (150)
Other income 22,625 18,598 27,108 4,798 12,451
Other expenses (6,000) – – – (143)
Other gains/(losses) – net 3,096 16,070 38,427 (4,313) (1,568)

Operation profit/(loss) 187,885 318,274 211,318 (3,926) 6,281

Finance income 4,153 16,890 42,289 13,586 7,000
Financial Costs (1,154) (1,230) (1,676) (1,149) (1,542)

Finance income – net 2,999 15,660 40,613 12,437 5,458

Share of results of investments accounted  
 for using the equity method 347 (1,850) (183) 65 (72)

Profit before income tax 191,231 332,084 251,748 8,576 11,667
Income tax expense (40,299) (46,512) (38,591) (1,743) (1,651)

Profit for the year 150,932 285,572 213,157 6,833 10,016

Profit attributable to
– Owners of the Company 150,689 285,848 213,781 7,530 12,114
– Non-controlling interests 243 (276) (624) (697) (2,098)

150,932 285,572 213,157 6,833 10,016
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Selected Items)

As of December 31,

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 USD’000 USD’000
(Restated)

ASSETS
Total non-current assets 206,431 407,603 615,407 146,532 186,439

Total current assets 1,003,708 3,733,241 3,870,802 525,069 491,672

Total assets 1,210,139 4,140,844 4,486,209 671,601 678,111

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital and share premium 486,669 3,118,030 2,941,986 439,103 415,443
Shares held for employee share scheme (29,529) (4,393) (1,098) * *
Other reserves (22,135) (27,545) 237,820 (35,577) (17,835)
Retained earnings 66,698 232,978 428,058 67,546 76,495

Non-controlling interests (4,029) (4,338) (4,569) 10,058 6,139

Total equity 497,674 3,314,732 3,602,197 481,130 480,242

Liabilities
Total non-current liabilities 36,747 127,643 102,522 66,352 69,776

Total current liabilities 675,718 698,469 781,490 124,119 128,093

Total liabilities 712,465 826,112 884,012 190,471 197,869

Total equity and liabilities 1,210,139 4,140,844 4,486,209 671,601 678,111

* The balance represents an amount less than USD1,000.

Note

(1). Adjusted segment profit/loss and adjusted segment profit margin is defined as segment profit/loss and segment profit margin 
with adjustments of respective share-based payments. Please refer to pages 21 to 22 of this annual report for more details.

(2). Adjusted net profit is defined as net profit with adjustments of share-based payments, unrealized fair value (losses)/gains 
recognized in profit or loss in relation to unlisted equity investment, amortization in relation to acquisition and net foreign 
exchange gains. The yields from our treasury management are included in adjusted net profit. Please refer to pages 21 to 22 of 
this annual report for more details.

(3). On February 19, 2025, the Group has decided to adopt USD as the presentation currency for its consolidated financial 
statements, effective from the annual results announcement of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024. Please 
refer to the announcement of the Company dated February 19, 2025 for further details.
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Business Review

In an increasingly complex environment, we have maintained our strategic focus on the long-term growth and the 
dual engines of digitalization and globalization. In 2024, our China business retained its leading position while our 
non-China global business experienced robust growth.

During the Reporting Period, our total clear aligner case shipments increased by 46.7% year-on-year to approximately 
359,400 in the year ended December 31, 2024, among which, our clear aligner case shipments in the non-China global 
markets increased by 326.4% to approximately 140,700. Our revenue increased by 28.2% to approximately USD268.8 
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, among which, our revenue in the non-China global markets increased 
by 290.4% to approximately USD80.5 million. Our gross profit increased by 28.7% year-on-year to approximately 
USD168.2 million and the gross profit margin was approximately 62.6%. Our net profit increased by 46.6% to 
approximately USD10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

1. Expanding Global Footprint with Local Solutions

Under our strategy of “global organization + localized operations”, we remain committed to enhancing the long-
term value of our brand.

In the China market, we have strategically expanded our sales and clinical teams to reflect the characteristics 
of different tier cities. This expansion ensures comprehensive medical service support, including case-assisted 
diagnosis, 3D treatment plan interpretation, and follow-up monitoring suggestions for different types of dental 
professionals. Our commitment extends to ensuring the precise diagnosis and treatment of each case. Our 
medical design, customer service and other teams have also been upgraded to offer “7×12 hours” service, 
promptly addressing user needs. During the Reporting Period, we achieved approximately 218,700 clear aligner 
case shipments in the China market, solidifying our position as market leader.

In the non-China global markets, we prioritized dental professionals’ experience, maintained high quality medical 
design support, and had stable delivery cycles. During the Reporting Period, we recorded approximately 140,700 
clear aligner case shipments in the non-China global markets, spanning over 50 countries.

• EMEA region: Angel Aligner has made significant inroads into mainstream orthodontic annual meetings 
including SEDO in Spain, BOC in London, UK, DGKFO in Germany, and JO in France, garnering substantial 
attention from orthodontists. We also launched the “Angel Aligner Education” APP. Our KOLs have published 
articles in international journals showcasing clinical applications and data-driven results of Angel Aligner’s 
products and medical technology solutions

• APAC region: During 2024, we interacted with dental professionals from many countries, including 
Australia, New Zealand, and Malaysia. We invited them to our state-of-the-art intelligent manufacturing 
base in Wuxi, China and talked to R&D, medical-design and other teams, spurring further cooperation

• South America region: Angel Aligner made its debut at the Orto SPA Orthodontic Exhibition held in San 
Paolo, Brazil in October of 2024, where Angel Aligner brand products were officially launched

* Products and technologies mentioned in this annual report are available in certain countries and regions.



12 Angelalign Technology Inc.    

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

• North America region: Angel Aligner attracted attention at the 124th American Association of Orthodontists 
(AAO) meeting and the Canadian Association of Orthodontists (CAO) meeting. Orthodontists also shared 
insights on the differentiated functions and user experience of Angel Aligner’s products in industry 
periodicals such as OrthoTown and Orthodontic Practice. Our angelButtonTM was awarded the “Best 
New Product” at Second Annual Orthodontic Awards in North America, spotlighting that Angel Aligner’s 
innovative technologies have received wide recognition from orthodontists in the region

2. User First by Enhancing Product Experience

In the field of adult orthodontic treatment, we pay significant attention to the efficiency and efficacy of our 
products and to providing high quality treatment planning services. For example, in China, we implemented the 
following initiatives:

• Launched intelligent algorithm “Advanced A6 Occusal Block”: The structure design disperses forces of the 
occlusal block more evenly and enhances the intensity of orthodontic forces, which improves the treatment 
in jaw misalignment correction, lower anterior teeth torque control and other clinical applications

• Significantly upgraded “Classics” product line: We integrated access to angelButton and the Intelligent 
Root System (IRS), while supporting A6 Mandibular Advancement Solution and other functions

In the field of early-stage orthodontic treatment, we use a “Teeth-bone-muscle Three-in-one Solution” and abide 
by the principles of “age-based treatment” and “symptom-specific treatment”. We focus on comprehensive oral 
health management for children and adolescents, which has driven rapid growth in our “KiD” product line during 
the Reporting Period. In China, we implemented the following initiatives:

• Launched the sub-brand product lines of “KiD Max” and “Anti-caries KiD”: We have developed a 
comprehensive early-stage orthodontic treatment portfolio that covers the entire lifecycle. Products such as 
“K1”, “K1 Pro” and “KiD Max” cater to the full-cycle management of teeth, jaw and oral function at different 
growth stages. Addressing the challenges of maintaining the oral health for children and adolescents, we 
launched “Anti-caries KiD”, which integrates the dual functions of tooth correction and protection, thereby 
expanding the product matrix of the “KiD”

• Offered accompanying services for early-stage orthodontic treatment: Leveraging the “iDiagnose Dental 
Health Report” (children’s edition), a dedicated team of medical experts, and the digital remote dental 
solution “Mooeli” (children’s edition), we provide diagnosis and treatment support for dental professionals 
throughout the early, middle and late stages of orthodontic treatment

3. Advancing Digital Orthodontics

Harnessing computer technology, we continue to develop digital orthodontics during initial patient consultation, 
case-assisted diagnosis, treatment plan design, and manufacturing to real-time process monitoring.

In the first half of 2024, we introduced a suite of digital tools designed to enhance dental professionals’ 
capabilities in diagnosis and treatment, including:

• iSmile Maker
• iDiagnose
• Live Now
• Movement Evaluation
• Progress Analysis
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In the second half, we expanded our offerings with advanced features for treatment planning, including:

• Flexible Virtual Jump
• Modify Passive Aligners
• Enter Figures to Modify Tooth
• angelButton Collision Detection
• Auto Save

These enhancements facilitate comprehensive case review and modification, streamlining workflows for dental 
professionals.

In January 2025, we officially launched the international edition of iOrtho App. This release retains key general 
features such as:

• Case Submission and Management
• 3D Treatment Planning Review and Approval

Additionally, it introduces new mobile-terminal functionalities, including:

• Portraits and Intraoral Photograph
• Upload of Intraoral Scan and CBCT Data

4. Embracing Innovation

Our R&D efforts focus on underlying core technologies in the interdisciplinary fields covering key materials 
and processes, product design and development, software design and algorithms, as well as stomatology and 
biomechanics. In 2024, we invested approximately USD21.3 million in research and development, representing 
7.9% of our total revenue. As of December 31, 2024, we have 241 patents and 22 software copyrights.

The project “Research and Development and Industrialization of Digital Aligner for Treatment of Children and 
Adolescents Retrognathia” co-developed with the orthodontics department team of Shanghai Ninth People’s 
Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University School of Medicine, won first prize as the Outstanding Industry-
Academia-Research Cooperation Project in Shanghai. This innovative solution features the digital clear aligner 
mechanical interface “angelButton” and the active force reinforcement arm “angelArm”. The technology has been 
widely accepted in the market.

In collaboration with Zhejiang University, we have continued to make breakthroughs in medical computer 
technology. Throughout 2024, papers co-authored by both parties were published in top-tier international 
journals and conferences including Medical Image Analysis and IEEE TVCG. These publications span a wide 
range of research areas such as medical imaging, graphics, privacy protection, and natural language processing. 
Notable examples include:

• “LETA: Tooth Alignment Prediction Based on Dual-branch Latent Encoding”
Published in IEEE TVCG, this paper introduces a new 3D tooth alignment method that breaks the traditional 
reliance on manual design

• “PX2Tooth: Reconstructing the 3D Point Cloud Teeth from a Single Panoramic X-ray”
Published in MICCAI 2024, this work offers a new solution to improve the quality of reconstructing 3D point 
cloud models of teeth from 2D X-ray
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• “Cross-Center Model Adaptive Tooth Segmentation”
Published in Medical Image Analysis, this study proposes a cross-center model adaptive tooth segmentation 
framework (UMAT) to solve data distribution and privacy issues

5. Building A Green Intelligent Manufacturing System

We endeavor to build a world-class intelligent manufacturing system that prioritizes user-centricity, 
environmental sustainability, and scalability. In 2024, we advanced initiatives in “green manufacturing” and 
“intelligent unmanned production” to significantly improve the efficiency and reliability of scale-up production.

In the 3D printing process, we focus on “intelligent” and “unmanned” manufacturing. In 2024, we significantly 
improved the efficiency of 3D printing by optimizing the printing layout and upgrading the equipment and post-
processing system. We introduced intelligent automated guided vehicles (AGV) to automate the receiving and 
dispatching of teeth molds. We also established an intelligent visual inspection and automatic distribution 
system to replace manual product defect checking and material distribution.

In the aligner trimming process, we have adopted laser technology to realize non-contact, noise-free and loss-
free trimming. The technology ensures that the aligners have a round trimming edge without secondary polishing 
or dust generation, which is more environmentally friendly. Moreover, it can restore the gingival margin shape for 
more complete coverage and optimal mechanical expression of aligners.

Outlook

Despite the uncertainties in the macro-environment, we are confident that the global clear aligner industry has 
potential for growth. In 2025, we will steadily implement the dual-engine strategy of digitalization and globalization. 
Key strategies include:

• Strengthen R&D capabilities and continue to innovate clear aligner treatment solutions
• Further digitalize our systems to increase operational efficiency
• Grow and optimize clinical services to enhance our user’s experience
• Increase production capacity and improve production efficiency
• Enlarge the sales network and reinforce brand recognition and academic influence
• Further expand into the non-China global markets, including building new manufacturing facility in the US, and 

scaling treatment plan supporting capability and manufacturing capacity in Brazil

We must navigate the challenges brought about by macro-economic uncertainties, including a slower-than-expected 
global economic recovery, geopolitical tensions, and waning consumer confidence. These factors could potentially 
reduce the number of orthodontic treatment cases or lower consumers’ discretionary spending on premium 
orthodontic solutions, thereby impacting our results. Therefore, it’s imperative that we continuously monitor these 
external factors and assess their impact on our business, results of operations and financial position. We will develop 
timely strategies to address these uncertainties and challenges and ensure sustainable business growth.

Financial Review

The following discussions are based on the financial information and notes set out in other sections of this annual 
report and should be read in conjunction with them.
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Revenue

Our revenue increased by 28.2% from approximately USD209.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
approximately USD268.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The following table sets forth a breakdown of 
our revenue, both in absolute amounts and as a percentage of total revenue, by business line for the years indicated.

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023

USD’000 % USD’000 %
(Restated)

Clear aligner treatment solutions 179,625 66.8 182,075 86.9
Sales of clear aligners 74,008 27.6 14,867 7.1
Sales of other products 12,729 4.7 10,124 4.8
Other services 2,425 0.9 2,550 1.2     
Total 268,787 100.0 209,616 100.0     

• Clear aligner treatment solutions. Revenue generated from clear aligner treatment solutions mainly represents 
the revenue generated from provision of clear aligner treatment solutions services to our clients in the China 
market. Our revenue generated from the provision of clear aligner treatment solutions slightly decreased by 
1.3% from approximately USD182.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately USD179.6 
million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to a decrease in the average selling price of our clear 
aligners as a result of the expansion into third- and fourth-tier cities in China. Our revenue is also affected by 
the frequency of delivery of clear aligners and the number of sets contained in each delivered batch, which are 
typically dependent on the product line involved and the complexity of the relevant treatment plan, subject to 
a number of factors, such as specific demand of our dental professionals and our production capacity in the 
Reporting Period.

• Sales of clear aligners. Revenue generated from sales of clear aligners mainly represents the revenue generated 
from sales of clear aligners to our clients in the non-China global markets. Our revenue generated from sales 
of clear aligners increased significantly by 397.8% from approximately USD14.9 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to approximately USD74.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2024 with the fast and 
solid expansion of our non-China global business.

• Sales of other products. Revenue generated from sales of other products mainly represents the revenue 
generated from the sales of MOOELI, oral consumer goods and other products. Our revenue generated from sales 
of other products increased by 25.7% from approximately USD10.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 
to approximately USD12.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the sales increase in 
oral consumer goods.

• Other services. Revenue generated from other services primarily represented service fees generated by our 
dental clinic for the provision of orthodontics and cosmetic dentistry services and other dental services to 
patients. Our revenue generated from other services decreased by 4.9% from approximately USD2.6 million in 
the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately USD2.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Cost of revenue

Our cost of revenue increased by 27.4% from approximately USD78.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 
to approximately USD100.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the cost increase incurred 
with the expansion of our non-China global business.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit increased by 28.7% from approximately USD130.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
approximately USD168.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2024. The gross profit margin for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 was 62.6%, as compared with 62.4% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Selling and marketing expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by 49.9% from approximately USD70.1 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to approximately USD105.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the 
increase in marketing expenses in relation to the expansion of our non-China global business.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by 16.2% from approximately USD39.8 million in the year ended December 31, 
2023 to approximately USD46.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2024. The lower growth rate of administrative 
expenses compared to that of our revenue in the year 2024 reflected the increased efficiency in our business 
operations.

Research and development expenses

Our research and development expenses were approximately USD21.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, 
as compared with approximately USD24.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 with the progression of our 
various R&D projects.

Other income

We recorded other income of approximately USD12.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared with 
approximately USD4.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the increase in interest on term 
deposits with initial terms over three months.

Other losses – net

We had other losses – net of approximately USD1.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared 
with other losses – net of approximately USD4.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the 
narrowed losses collected in equity investment recorded in FVPL. We have purchased and disposed some wealth 
management products during the Reporting Period, the profits of which were also recorded in other (losses)/gains 
– net. None of the purchase or sale of wealth management products during the Reporting Period is large enough to 
constitute notifiable transactions as defined under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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Finance income

Our finance income decreased by 48.5% from approximately USD13.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
approximately USD7.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the decrease in interest income 
on bank deposits as we purchased more term deposits products with initial terms over three months, the interests on 
which were recorded in other income.

Finance costs

Our finance costs increased by 34.2% from approximately USD1.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
approximately USD1.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to increase in interest expenses on 
bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

Profit before income tax

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded profit before tax of approximately USD11.7 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2024, compared to approximately USD8.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2023.

Income tax expenses

Our income tax expenses remained relatively stable at approximately USD1.7 million in the year ended December 31, 
2024, benefiting from the effective tax planning globally during the Reporting Period.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our net profit increased by 46.6% from approximately USD6.8 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to approximately USD10.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2024. The net profit margin for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 was 3.7%, as compared with 3.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Liquidity, capital resources and capital structure

In the year ended December 31, 2024, our primary use of cash was to fund our working capital requirements and other 
recurring expenses. We financed our capital expenditures and working capital requirements primarily through cash 
generated from our operating activities and the proceeds from the Global Offering.

We have continued to maintain a healthy and sound financial position and have followed a set of funding and 
treasury policies to manage our capital resources and mitigate potential risks involved. Our current assets reached 
approximately USD491.7 million as at December 31, 2024, as compared to approximately USD525.1 million as at 
December 31, 2023.
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Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits with initial terms over three months

Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consisted of cash at banks. Meanwhile, to enhance our treasury management 
efficiency while satisfying the needs of our daily operation, we purchased several term deposits products with initial 
terms over three months with higher yields during the Reporting Period. The total of our cash and cash equivalents 
and term deposits reached approximately USD339.1 million as at December 31, 2024 as compared to approximately 
USD379.7 million as at December 31, 2023 with the expansion of our business and the implementation of various 
investment activities.

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the years indicated.

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023

USD’000 USD’000
(Restated)

Net cash generated from operating activities 16,917 22,288
Net cash used in investing activities (138,825) (138,761)
Net cash used in financing activities (28,460) (26,312)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (150,368) (142,785)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 379,734 523,989
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents (2,263) (1,470)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 227,103 379,734

Exposure to exchange rate fluctuation

Our businesses are principally conducted in RMB, USD, EUR and Brazilian Real (“BRL”). The majority of our assets 
are denominated in USD and RMB. We are mainly subject to foreign exchange risks arising from translation exposure 
and commercial transactions made under foreign currencies. We do not have other significant exposure to foreign 
exchange risks.

We have not implemented any hedging arrangements during the Reporting Period based on our current exchange risk 
evaluation. We are managing our foreign exchange risks by closely monitoring the movements of the foreign currency 
rates, and will make certain arrangements to hedge the risks when necessary according to our treasury management 
strategy.

We recognized net foreign exchange losses of approximately USD2.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2024, 
as compared to net foreign exchange gains of approximately USD1.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2023. In 
addition, in the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded exchange differences on translation of the Company of 
approximately USD2.9 million as other comprehensive income, as compared with approximately USD2.4 million in the 
year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the exchange rate fluctuation.

Capital expenditure

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our total capital expenditure amounted to approximately USD28.3 million, 
which primarily consisted of the cash paid for the purchase of property, plant and equipment in Chuangmei Center.
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Capital commitments

Our capital commitments primarily consisted of acquisitions of property, plant and equipment. The following table 
sets forth a summary of our capital commitments as of the dates indicated.

As at December 31,

2024 2023 
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Property, plant and equipment 1,788 358
Intangible assets 521 –

Total 2,309 358

Contingent liabilities

As at December 31, 2024, we did not have any material contingent liability, guarantee or any litigation or claim of 
material importance, pending or threatened against any member of the Group.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, as at December 31, 2024, we did not have other 
substantial future plans for material investments and capital assets.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

On March 19, 2024, Angelalign Technology Pte. Ltd. (“Angelalign SG”), a wholly owned entity of the Company, 
CareCapital Aligner Tech L.P. (the “Partnership”) and CareCapital Orthodontics Development (“CC Orthodontics”) 
entered into a share purchase agreement, pursuant to which, Angelalign SG agreed to purchase, and the Partnership, 
as the sole shareholder of CC Orthodontics, agreed to transfer, 100% of the equity interests of CC Orthodontics at nil 
consideration, after which, CC Orthodontics will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Angelalign SG. For details, please 
refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 19, 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, in the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not have any other material 
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Significant investments and acquisition of capital assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, in the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not make any significant 
investments nor made any significant acquisition of capital assets.

Charge on group’s assets

As at December 31, 2024, we had pledged trade receivables, and property, plant and equipment that were attributable 
to the operations of Aditek with a net carrying value of BRL25.1 million, equivalent to approximately USD4.1 million.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, we had no other charges on our assets.
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Bank borrowings

As at December 31, 2024, our bank borrowings amounted to approximately USD3.3 million, all of which were made by 
Aditek in Brazil for its business operation.

Key financial indicators

The following table sets forth certain of our key financial ratios as of the dates and for the years indicated.

As at/for the year ended  December 31,

2024 2023

Profitability ratios
Gross profit margin(1) 62.6% 62.4%
Net profit margin(2) 3.7% 3.3%
Adjusted net profit margin(3) 10.0% 12.1%

Liquidity ratios
Current ratio(4) 3.8 4.2   

(1) The calculation of gross profit margin is based on gross profit divided by revenue for the year indicated and multiplied by 
100.0%.

(2) The calculation of net profit margin is based on net profit divided by revenue for the year indicated and multiplied by 100.0%.

(3) The calculation of adjusted net profit margin, a non-IFRS measure, is based on adjusted net profit divided by revenue for the 
year indicated and multiplied by 100.0%.

(4) The calculation of current ratio is based on current assets divided by current liabilities.
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To supplement our condensed consolidated financial statements which are presented in accordance with the IFRS, 
we use adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit as additional financial measures, which are not required by or 
presented in accordance with the IFRS. To help the users of the financial statements to have a better understanding 
on the operating results of the Company, we define: (1) adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA (which is profit before income 
tax plus depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets, and amortization of 
intangible assets, less interest income recorded as finance income) for the year with adjustments of certain items 
which are not closely related to major operations including share-based payments, unrealized fair value (losses)/
gains of investment in relation to unlisted equity investments and net foreign exchange gain, and (2) adjusted net 
profit as profit for the year adjusted by certain items, including share-based payments, amortization of intangible 
assets related to certain acquisitions, unrealized fair value (losses)/gains of investment in relation to unlisted equity 
investments and net foreign exchange gain. The yields from our treasury management are included in adjusted net 
profit.

We believe that these non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of operating performance from period to period and 
company to company by eliminating potential impacts of items that our management does not consider indicative of 
our operating performance.

The following table reconciles our adjusted segment profit for the years indicated.

Year ended 
December 31, 2024

Year ended 
December 31, 2023

Mainland 
China

Other 
countries 

and regions
Mainland 

China

Other 
countries 

and regions

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
(Restated) (Restated)

Segment profit/(loss) 26,846 (31,155) 26,992 (30,752)
Add:
Share-based payments 9,789 1,501 9,594 601

Adjusted segment profit/(loss) 36,635 (29,654) 36,586 (30,151)
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The following table reconciles our adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit for the years indicated.

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023

USD’000 USD’000
(Restated)

Profit for the year 10,016 6,833

Add:
Income tax expenses 1,651 1,743
Profit before income tax 11,667 8,576

Add:
(Finance income-net) (5,458) (12,437)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,859 7,366
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,661 2,676
Amortization of intangible assets 2,139 2,082
EBITDA 21,868 8,263

Add:
Share-based payments 11,290 10,195
(Unrealized fair value (losses)/gains recognized in profit or 
 loss in relation to unlisted equity investment) 1,663 9,413
(Net foreign exchange gains) 2,922 (1,614)

Adjusted EBITDA 37,743 26,257

Profit for the year 10,016 6,833
Add:
Share-based payments 11,290 10,195
(Unrealized fair value (losses)/gains recognized in profit or 
 loss in relation to unlisted equity investment) 1,663 9,413
Amortization in relation to acquisition 964 1,281
(Net foreign exchange gains) 2,922 (1,614)

Adjusted net profit 26,855 26,108
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Directors

Executive directors and non-executive director

Mr. FENG Dai (馮岱), aged 49, is our chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director, appointed in November 
2018, and is primarily responsible for overall strategy planning, corporate governance and business direction of our 
Group. Mr. Feng has been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee, effective from June 16, 2021. Mr. 
Feng joined our Group in May 2012.

Mr. Feng is the co-founder and managing director of CareCapital Advisors since March 2015. CareCapital is a 
leading investor in oral health with a broad portfolio of dental technology and service companies worldwide. He also 
serves as directors in the portfolio companies of CareCapital, including in the areas of orthodontics, implants and 
bone regeneration.  He also serves in a number of non-profit organizations devoted to dentistry, including as the 
co-chairman of the board of International Orthodontics Foundation Limited, a not-for-profit international research 
and education organization devoted to improving orthodontic care worldwide, and as a member of the Board of 
Fellows of Harvard School of Dental Medicine. Mr. Feng served as an independent director of Wuxi Apptec, a CRO 
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 02359) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603259), 
from December 2018 to January 2025. From December 2017 to August 2024, he served as an independent director 
of Sling Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 08285). From April 2004 to 
December 2014, he served various positions, including associate, principal and managing director at Warburg Pincus, 
a leading global private equity firm.

Mr. Feng graduated from Harvard University with a bachelor’s degree in engineering sciences in June 1997.

Mr. HU Jiezhang (胡杰章), aged 50, is our executive Director, chief executive officer and chief technology officer, and 
is primarily responsible for the overall strategic planning and daily operations of our Group, including promoting 
the development of our digital technology. Mr. Hu joined our Group and was appointed as a non-executive Director 
in December 2020, and was re-designated and appointed as an executive Director, a member of the Remuneration 
Committee and the chief executive officer with effect from July 2023.

Mr. Hu has served as a venture partner and managing director of CareCapital Advisors Limited, a leading investor in 
oral health with a broad portfolio of dental technology and service companies worldwide since January 2018. Mr. Hu 
currently serves as non-executive chairman of Shanghai CareCapital Dental Devices Co., Ltd., a leading distribution 
group of dental products based out of China. Prior to that, Mr. Hu was a vice president at Zoom Commerce Ltd. from 
June 2016 to January 2018. Mr. Hu also served as a vice president at Beyondsoft Corporation, a company listed on the 
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002649), from December 2012 to May 2016. Mr. Hu also worked for several 
other companies, including served as a vice president at Achievo Information Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. from 
May 2007 to November 2012, as a general manager at Guangzhou Jie’ao Computer Technology Co., Ltd. from February 
2003 to April 2007, and as a technical director at Zoom Commerce Ltd. from November 1999 to January 2003.

Mr. Hu graduated from Nanjing University with a bachelor’s degree in applied physics in July 1995.
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Mr. HUANG Kun (黃琨), aged 42, is our executive Director and the president of our non-China global business, and 
is primarily responsible for the non-China global business operation and expansion of our Group. Mr. Huang joined 
our Group in January 2015 and was appointed as a non-executive Director in November 2018 and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee in June 2021, and was re-designated and appointed as an executive Director and the 
president of our non-China global business with effect from September 2023.

Mr. Huang joined CareCapital Advisors in April 2015 as the co-founder and a managing director. CareCapital is a 
leading investor in oral health with a broad portfolio of dental technology and service companies worldwide. Mr. 
Huang is the co-chairman of the board of International Orthodontics Foundation Limited, a not-for-profit research 
and education organization devoted to improving orthodontic care worldwide, and a director of Purgo Biologics, a 
bone regenerative materials company based in Seoul. Prior to that, Mr. Huang served as a vice president of Warburg 
Pincus from July 2011 to March 2015 and as a senior investment manager of Orchid Asia Investment Consulting 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from June 2007 to June 2011.

Mr. Huang graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in finance in July 2005.

Mr. SONG Xin (宋鑫), aged 38, is our executive Director and chief operating officer, and is primarily responsible for the 
sales, marketing and treatment planning operation of our Group. Mr. Song joined our Group in August 2011, and has 
served as an executive Director since April 2021, a member of the Nomination Committee since June 16, 2021, and 
the chief operating officer since September 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Song had served as a regional manager at Guizhou Tongjitang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. 
from March 2009 to July 2011.

Mr. Song graduated from Henan University of Technology with his bachelor’s degree in bio-technology in July 2008, 
and graduated from Fudan University with an EMBA degree in July 2024.

Ms. DONG Li (董莉), aged 54, is our executive Director and chief financial officer, and is primarily responsible for 
all aspects of the Group’s financial operations, including accounting, financial planning, reporting and analysis, 
business decision support, tax, internal control, treasury and investor relations. Ms. Dong has been appointed as our 
independent non-executive Director since May 2021, and was re-designated as an executive Director and appointed 
as the chief financial officer with effect from April 2023. Ms. Dong has also served as a director of Aditek, a leading 
manufacturer of orthodontic products in Brazil, since April 2025.

Ms. Dong has been an independent non-executive director at Yixin Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 2858), since November 2017. She was also an independent non-executive director of Telink 
Semiconductor (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the 
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 688591), from January 2021 to December 2023, and an independent non-
executive director of 58.com Inc., a company previously listed on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker: WUBA), from 
April 2020 to September 2020. Prior to that, Ms. Dong served as a chief financial officer and executive director at RDA 
Microelectronics, Inc., a company previously listed on NASDAQ (ticker: RDA), from November 2007 to July 2015. Ms. 
Dong worked for Hewlett-Packard in China since 1992, and was the Finance Operations Manager of Hewlett-Packard 
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. when she left in 2005.

Ms. Dong graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in economics in July 
1992. She further obtained an MBA degree from China Europe International Business School in April 2004. She is an 
accountant recognized by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in October 1994.
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Independent non-executive directors

Mr. HAN Xiaojing (韓小京), aged 70, is our independent non-executive Director, and is primarily responsible for 
supervising and providing independent opinion to our Board. Mr. Han has been appointed as our independent non-
executive Director since May 2021. Mr. Han has been appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and 
a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, respectively, effective from June 16, 2021.

Mr. Han is the founding partner of Commerce & Finance Law Offices and has been an attorney there since May 1992. 
Mr. Han is admitted to practicing law in the PRC and has more than 30 years of experience in the legal profession. 
Mr. Han has also been an independent non-executive director at Sino-Ocean Group Holding Limited, a real estate 
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3377), Far East Horizon Limited, a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 3360) and Vital Mobile Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 
6133), since June 2007, March 2011 and June 2019, respectively. He has also served as a supervisor at Ping An Bank 
Company Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000001), since October 2020 
and served as one of its independent directors from February 2014 to October 2020. Prior to that, he served as an 
independent director of Beijing Haixin Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Beijing Sanju Environmental 
Protection & New Materials Company Limited), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 
300072), from April 2014 to September 2020, and as an outside director of China National Aviation Fuel Group 
Limited, a Chinese state-owned enterprise in 2016 Fortune Global 500 list, from December 2017 to January 2024.

Mr. Han graduated from Hubei Finance College (currently known as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law) with 
a bachelor’s degree in law in July 1982. He further obtained a master’s degree in law from China University of Political 
Science and Law in July 1985.

Mr. SHI Zi (石子), aged 55, is our independent non-executive Director, and is primarily responsible for supervising and 
providing independent opinion to our Board. Mr. Shi has been appointed as our independent non-executive Director 
since May 2021. Mr. Shi has been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and 
the Nomination Committee, respectively, effective from June 16, 2021.

Mr. Shi has been the executive director and general manager of Shenzhen Qianhai E-Cloud Technology Company 
Limited since January 2015. He also worked as a senior partner at Junsan Capital Management Company Limited 
from September 2009 to September 2014 and a vice president of the group at SF Express (Group) Company Limited 
from July 2007 to November 2009. Prior to that, Mr. Shi served as the director of the information technology 
department and the director of factory affairs at Hitachi Global Storage Technologies (Shenzhen) Company Limited 
(formerly known as Shenzhen IBM Technology Products Company Limited) from January 1999 to July 2007.

Mr. Shi graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering in July 1993. He further 
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from Tsinghua Shenzhen International Graduate School in July 
2006.

Mr. ZHOU Hao (周浩), aged 48, is our independent non-executive Director, and is primarily responsible for 
supervising and providing independent opinion to our Board. Mr. Zhou has been appointed as our independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and 
Remuneration Committee since April 2023.

Mr. Zhou has served as an independent non-executive director of WuXi XDC Cayman Inc., a company listed on the 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2268) since November 2023, an independent non-executive director of Bairong Inc., 
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6608) since March 2021, and an independent non-executive 
director of Meitu, Inc., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1357) since November 2016.
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From June 2011 to September 2019, Mr. Zhou was the chief financial officer of 58.com Inc., (NYSE: WUBA), a company 
that operates online marketplace serving local merchants and consumers in the PRC, and was subsequently re-
designated as the head of international business in September 2019 and the chief strategic officer in April 2020. In 
November 2020, he was redesignated as the chief strategy officer of Anjuke, the housing subsidiary of 58.com Inc. 
and served the role until March 2023. Prior to that, in September 2010, Mr. Zhou joined CITIC Pharmaceutical Co Ltd., 
a pharmaceutical service provider that supplies medicine and related consumables to hospitals as the chief financial 
officer. From May 2009 to September 2010, Mr. Zhou was the vice president of finance and the chief financial officer 
at Wuxi PharmaTech (Cayman) Inc., (NYSE: WX). Before then, in January 2007, Mr. Zhou joined General Electric (China) 
Co., Ltd. as a financial manager.

Mr. Zhou received his bachelor’s degree from Shanghai International Studies University in July 1998.

Senior Management

Mr. HU Jiezhang (胡杰章), aged 50, is our executive Director and chief executive officer. Please refer to “Directors and 
Senior Management – Directors” for his biographical details.

Mr. HUANG Kun (黃琨), aged 42, is our executive Director and the president of global business (ex-China). Please refer 
to “Directors and Senior Management – Directors” for his biographical details.

Mr. SONG Xin (宋鑫), aged 38, is our executive Director and chief operating officer. Please refer to “Directors and 
Senior Management – Directors” for his biographical details.

Ms. DONG Li (董莉), aged 54, is our executive Director and chief financial officer. Please refer to “Directors and Senior 
Management – Directors” for her biographical details.

Mr. Richard Hirschland, aged 63, is our senior vice president and global chief commercial officer, and is primarily 
responsible for commercial operations of our Group outside of China. Mr. Hirschland participated in our business 
operation as an advisor since January 2023, and joined our Group in August 2024. Mr. Hirschland has also served as a 
director of Aditek, a leading manufacturer of orthodontic products in Brazil, since April 2025.

Mr. Hirschland has more than 25 years of experience in global commercial operations in oral healthcare industries. 
Prior to joining our Group, from January 2019 to June 2020, Mr. Hirschland worked as vice-president and general 
manager, imaging business unit at Envista (NYSE: NVST), a company focusing on provision of oral healthcare related 
services and products, which spun off from Danaher Corporation (NYSE: DHR), a conglomerate with a focus on 
biotechnology, diagnostics, and life sciences businesses. From 2016 to 2019, and from 2020 to 2023 Mr. Hirschland 
served as a senior advisor to CareCapital and Carlyle, which are global private equity firms, working on oral healthcare 
related projects, respectively. From 2007 to 2015, Mr. Hirschland served as the president of the Carestream Dental 
Division of Carestream Health, Inc., a global business comprised of digital equipment, practice management software 
and consumables. Prior to that, from 1983 to 2007, Mr. Hirschland worked in a number of areas including the dental 
business for Eastman Kodak Company, with his last position being a corporate vice president.

Mr. Hirschland graduated from Cornell University with a bachelor’s degree in operations research in May 1983, and 
obtained a master’s degree in engineering from Cornell University in August 1993.
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Mr. ZHU Lingbo (朱凌波), aged 41, is our senior vice president, board secretary and company secretary, and is 
primarily responsible for financing, business development, investment and M&A, portfolio management, investor 
relations, capital market activities, and corporate governance related matters of our Group. Mr. Zhu joined our Group 
in October 2020, and has been our senior vice president and board secretary since then. Mr. Zhu has also served as 
senior vice president and board secretary of Wuxi EA since October 2020. From January 2023 to April 2025, Mr. Zhu 
served as a director of Aditek, a leading manufacturer of orthodontic products in Brazil.

Mr. Zhu has more than 15 years of experience in corporate finance and capital market practices. Prior to joining our 
Group, Mr. Zhu worked as an investment banker, serving as a vice president or executive director at J.P. Morgan from 
2019 to 2020 and at Goldman Sachs from 2013 to 2019. Prior to that, he worked as an investment analyst in Corporate 
Planning & Strategic Investment department at Sun Hung Kai Properties from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Zhu also worked at 
KPMG from 2006 to 2008.

Mr. Zhu graduated from Fudan University with a bachelor’s degree in management in 2006, and obtained an MBA 
degree from Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University in 2013. He was recognized as a Chartered 
Financial Analyst by CFA Institute in 2010 and was also accredited as a non-practicing certified public accountant by 
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2010.

Company Secretary

Mr. ZHU Lingbo (朱凌波) is our senior vice president, board secretary and company secretary. Please refer to  
“Directors and Senior Management – Senior Management” for his biographical details.
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ Report together with the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Principal Activities

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on November 29, 2018, as an exempted company with limited 
liability under the Cayman Companies Act. The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is a leading 
global clear aligner company, specializing in the research, design, and manufacturing of clear aligners. The business 
of the Group spans over 50 countries across Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA), Asia-Pacific, North America 
and South America. The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on June 16, 2021 with stock 
code 6699.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2024 
by principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and 
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s 
principal activities during the Reporting Period.

Business Review and Results and Future Development

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period is provided in the section headed “Management 
Discussion and Analysis – Business Overview” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance during 
the Reporting Period is provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis – Financial Review” of 
this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated financial statements in this annual 
report.

The future development in the Company’s business is provided in the sections headed “Management Discussion and 
Analysis – Business Overview” and “Management Discussion and Analysis – Outlook” of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Group

We are subject to market risks brought by, among others, uncertainties of the economic outlook, evolving regulations 
and policies. Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis – Outlook” for more 
information.

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the Reporting Period,

(i) the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 11.1% (2023: 6.4%) of its total purchases, and the five largest 
suppliers accounted for 35.0% of its total purchases (2023: 26.5%); and

(ii) the Group’s largest customer accounted for 2.5% (2023: 3.0%) of its total sales, and the five largest customers 
accounted for 11.1% of its total sales (2023: 13.5%).
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Save as one of our five largest customers, which is an entity controlled by CareCapital Group, none of the Directors 
or any of their close associates or any Shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, 
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and 
suppliers for 2024.

Key Relationships with its Employees, Customers and Suppliers

For details of relationship with the employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the “Major Customers and 
Suppliers” and “Employee, Training and Remuneration Policies” section in this annual report and 2024 Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report dated April 23, 2025.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in 
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

During the Reporting Period, the Company has issued Shares underlying the options and restricted share units 
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme III – Pool B and Post-IPO RSU Scheme of the Company. For details, 
please refer to the monthly returns of the Company on movements in securities for the month ended April 30, 2024, 
August 31, 2024 and December 31, 2024, next day disclosure returns of the Company dated April 25, 2024, August 1, 
2024 and December 12, 2024, and announcements of the Company dated March 20, 2024, March 21, 2024, April 30, 
2024 and July 18, 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has repurchased an aggregate of 19,400 Shares of the Company, all of 
which have subsequently cancelled. For details, please refer to the next day disclosure returns of the Company dated 
February 14, 2024 and May 16, 2024.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 21 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Debentures

The Company did not issue any debentures during the Reporting Period.

Distributable Reserves

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its Shareholders as of December 31, 2024 amounted to USD415.4 
million. Movement in the Company’s reserves for the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out in Note 39 to the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group included in this annual report.
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Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Award Schemes” below, no equity-linked agreements that will or may 
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result 
in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end 
of the Reporting Period.

Directors and Senior Management

The Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. HU Jiezhang
Mr. HUANG Kun
Mr. SONG Xin
Ms. DONG Li

Non-executive Director

Mr. FENG Dai (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. HAN Xiaojing
Mr. SHI Zi
Mr. ZHOU Hao

Senior management

Mr. HU Jiezhang
Mr. HUANG Kun
Mr. SONG Xin
Ms. DONG Li
Mr. Richard Hirschland
Mr. ZHU Lingbo

Biographical Details of Directors and senior management are set out in “Director and Senior Management” of this 
annual report.

From the date of the Company’s 2024 interim report on September 20, 2024 to the date of this annual report, there 
were no changes to information which are required to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) 
of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Our executive Directors, Mr. HU Jiezhang, Mr. HUANG Kun, Mr. SONG Xin and Ms. DONG Li, have entered into service 
contracts with our Company on July 31, 2023, September 1, 2023, March 19, 2024 and April 3, 2023, respectively. We 
have issued a letter of appointment to our non-executive Director, Mr. FENG Dai on March 19, 2024. We have issued 
letters of appointment to our independent non-executive Directors, Mr. ZHOU Hao, Mr. HAN Xiaojing and Mr. SHI Zhi, 
on April 11, 2023, March 19, 2024 and March 19, 2024, respectively. The service contracts with each of our executive 
Directors and the letters of appointment with each of our non-executive Director and independent non-executive 
Directors are for a fixed term of three years commencing from the date on which the service contract and/or letter of 
appointment was entered or issued. The service contracts and the letters of appointment are subject to termination 
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts and the letters of appointment may be renewed in 
accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service contract and/or the letter of appointment with members 
of the Group that is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than 
statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders – Non-competition 
Undertaking” in the Prospectus, none of the Directors were interested in any business which competes or is likely to 
compete with the businesses of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Significant Contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group included in this annual report, 
none of the Directors or their respective connected entities (as defined in the Listing Rules) had a material interest, 
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group 
subsisting during or at the end of the Reporting Period to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the section headed “Report of the Directors – Continuing Connected 
Transactions” in this annual report and the announcements of the Company dated March 19, 2024 and March 25, 
2024, the Group has not entered into any contract of significance with the controlling shareholders of the Company or 
any of their respective subsidiaries.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, the following 
transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules 
and are required to be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that for the related party transactions falling under the definition of “connected transaction” 
or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, it had complied with 
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. We set out below the information 
required to be disclosed in compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Clear aligners purchase and sales framework agreement

On October 24, 2023, Wuxi EA and CC Dental entered into a clear aligners purchase and sales framework agreement 
(the “2024-2026 Clear Aligners Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement”) for a term of three years commencing 
from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated October 24, 
2023 and the circular of the Company dated December 1, 2023 for details.

Fees charged by the Group with all the distributors (including independent distributors) for purchases of its clear 
aligners and oral care products and services shall be primarily determined based on the general guide on sales price 
of such goods as provided by the Group from time to time to the distributors (including independent distributors). The 
Group, on annual basis, will first determine the general guide sales price with the distributors (including independent 
distributors) based on arm’s length negotiations after taking into account of primarily (i) the estimated gross profit 
of its products and services for such year and the estimated market demand in such year; (ii) the total sales volume 
the counterparty agreed to purchase from the Group; and (iii) the estimated industry position and sales capacity 
of the Group. The Company then applies the same pricing policy and form of distributorship agreement for all its 
transactions with CC Dental Group as other distributors (including independent distributors). The Company may 
adjust the sales price to certain distributors (including independent distributors) based on the type of relevant 
end customers of such distributors to facilitate the marketing and promotion of the Company’s brand name and 
products. The sales prices with CC Dental Group are in line with the pricing policy and general guide sales price 
with other distributors, and the Company has not provided any special discount to CC Dental Group. The Group 
settled payment directly with CC Dental Group for the goods purchase price and CC Dental Group paid the Group 
on a monthly basis or instantly. Specific price and payment will be made according to the respective contracts as 
further entered into between CC Dental Group and the Group under the 2024-2026 Clear Aligners Purchase and Sales 
Framework Agreement, which shall be generally the same as the contracts between the Group and other independent 
distributors.

The annual caps for the transactions under the 2024-2026 Clear Aligners Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement 
shall be RMB222.0 million, RMB260.0 million and RMB291.0 million for the years of 2024, 2025 and 2026, 
respectively.

CC Dental Group is controlled by CareCapital Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. FENG Dai, the 
chairman and a non-executive Director of the Company, is the ultimate controlling person of CareCapital Group. 
Accordingly, CC Dental Group is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules and the 
transactions with CC Dental Group constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules.

The 2024 annual cap under the 2024-2026 Clear Aligners Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement was RMB222.0 
million. The actual aggregate transaction amount incurred in accordance with the 2024-2026 Clear Aligners Purchase 
and Sales Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB106.0 million.
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Annual review by independent non-executive Directors and the auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions mentioned above 
pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules and confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions:

(i) were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) were on normal commercial terms or better to the Group; and

(iii) were in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has been engaged to report on the continuing connected transactions of the Company in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other 
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter 
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their conclusions in respect of 
the aforesaid continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. In respect of the 
aforesaid continuing connected transactions, the auditor of the Company has confirmed that:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that cause them to believe that the aforesaid continuing connected 
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(ii) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to their attention 
that causes them to believe that such transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the aforesaid continuing connected 
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing the aforesaid continuing connected transactions; and

(iv) with respect to the aggregate actual transaction amount of each of the aforesaid continuing connected 
transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that such actual transaction 
amounts have exceeded the relevant annual caps.

Internal control measures

The Company has adopted the following internal control and corporate governance measures to closely monitor 
connected transactions and ensure future compliance with the Listing Rules:

(i) the Company has adopted and implemented a management system on connected transactions and the Board 
and various internal departments of the Company are responsible for the control and daily management in 
respect of the continuing connected transactions;

(ii) the Board and various internal departments of the Company are jointly responsible for evaluating the terms 
of the continuing connected transactions, in particular, the fairness of the pricing policies and annual caps (if 
applicable) under each transaction;
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(iii) the Board and various internal departments of the Company are regularly monitoring the connected transactions 
and the management of the Company will regularly review the pricing policies to ensure the connected 
transactions to be performed in accordance with the relevant agreements;

(iv) the Company has adopted and implemented a distributor management policy on managing all its distributors, 
which governs the entire process of engaging and changing distributors and relevant arrangements, pursuant to 
which, all the distributors are subject to the same requirements such as qualification, compliance, settlement, 
performance review process. The Company has also adopted internal policy managing the sales prices with the 
distributors (including distributors who are connected persons of the Company), which requires the Company 
to apply the same pricing policy and guide price to all its distributors and to determine its general sales guide 
on annual basis. The internal business department and chief operating officer are primarily responsible for 
determining the sales prices with all the distributors and monitoring the implementation of the distributor 
management and pricing policy;

(v) the Company has engaged independent auditor which will, and the independent non-executive Directors also 
will, conduct annual review on the connected transactions to ensure that the transactions contemplated 
thereunder have been conducted pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules and have fulfilled the 
relevant disclosure requirements; and

(vi) the Company will continue to comply with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for 
the continuing connected transactions, and comply with the conditions prescribed under the wavier submitted 
to the Stock Exchange in connection with the continuing connected transactions in this regard.

Other Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the Company made other connected transactions falling under the definition of 
“connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are required to be disclosed in this annual report in 
accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules as follows:

Acquisition of CareCapital Orthodontics Development

On March 19, 2024, Angelalign SG, a wholly owned entity of the Company, Partnership and CC Orthodontics entered 
into a share purchase agreement, pursuant to which, Angelalign SG agreed to purchase, and the Partnership, as 
the sole shareholder of CC Orthodontics, agreed to transfer, 100% of the equity interests of CC Orthodontics at nil 
consideration, after which, CC Orthodontics will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Angelalign SG.

CC Orthodontics and the Partnership are ultimately controlled by CareCapital Group, the controlling shareholder of 
the Company. Therefore, each of the Partnership and CC Orthodontics is a connected person of the Company.

The Partnership has been established to invest in innovative digital technologies and products globally across the 
digital orthodontic value chain. CC Orthodontics is the investment holding company established by the Partnership for 
investment in its portfolio companies. Having taken into account the business development and future strategy of the 
Company, the Directors considered that it will be in the best interests of the Company to directly hold and manage the 
investment in the portfolio companies of the Partnership, through which, the Company will be able to directly benefit 
from the synergy generated therein.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated March 19, 2024 and March 25, 2024.
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Termination of CareCapital Aligner Tech L.P.

On March 19, 2024, CC Founder Holdings LLC, as the general partner of the Partnership, resolved to voluntarily wind 
up and dissolve the Partnership pursuant to the terms of the limited partnership agreement, the supplemental 
agreement to the second amended and restated exempted limited partnership agreement entered into between the 
Company and CC Founder Holdings LLC on September 21, 2023. Immediately before the dissolution, the whole asset 
of the Partnership was CC Orthodontics, and there was no loan or payable owed by the Partnership to any third party. 
Based on the mutual agreements between the partners of the Partnership, CC Orthodontics was distributed to the 
Company via the acquisition of CC Orthodontics, and CC Founder Holdings LLC did not receive any asset nor payment 
as a result of the dissolution.

CC Founder Holdings LLC, CC Orthodontics and the Partnership, parties to the Transactions, are ultimately controlled 
by CareCapital Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, each of the Partnership, CC Founder 
Holdings LLC and CC Orthodontics is a connected person of the Company.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated March 19, 2024 and March 25, 2024.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 
the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

Remuneration of Directors and Five Individuals with Highest Emoluments

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals are set out in Notes 40 and 8 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the Group 
to any of the Directors or other individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for 
loss of office.

Employees, Training and Remuneration Policies

As of December 31, 2024, we had 3,576 employees. The staff costs including Directors’ emoluments and share-based 
payment expenses were approximately USD141.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2024.

Our employees’ compensation includes basic salary, performance-based cash bonuses, incentive shares and other 
incentives. We determine our employees’ compensation based on each employee’s performance, qualifications, 
position and seniority.

We recognize the importance of keeping the Directors updated with the latest information of duties and obligations of 
a director of a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and the general regulatory and environmental 
requirements for such listed company. To meet this goal, we are committed to the continuing education and 
development of our Directors and employees.
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The Directors and senior management receive remuneration from the Company in the form of fees, salaries, 
contributions to pension schemes, discretionary bonuses, allowances and other benefits in kind. The Board has 
established the Remuneration Committee to review and recommend the remuneration and compensation packages 
of the Directors and senior management of the Company, and the Board, with the advice from the Remuneration 
Committee, will review and determine the remuneration and compensation packages taking into account salaries 
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and senior management and 
performance of the Group.

In accordance with the labour laws and regulations in China and other countries we operated in, our local corporate 
entities have respectively established labour relationships with the local employees and, where applicable, entered 
into labour contracts with our employees covering matters such as wages, bonuses, employee benefits, workplace 
safety, confidentiality obligations, non-competition and grounds for termination. In compliance with applicable 
regulations, we participate in various employee social security plans that are organized by applicable local municipal 
and provincial governments, including housing, pension, medical, work-related injury and unemployment benefit 
plans.

To incentivize the employees and promote the long-term growth of the Company, we have also conditionally adopted 
the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes, the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU Scheme to provide 
equity incentive to our employees, Directors and senior management. Please refer to “Report of the Directors – Share 
Award Schemes” in this annual report for details.

We provide pre-employment and regular continuing management and technical training to our employees, which we 
believe are effective in equipping them with the skill set and work ethics that we require.

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our employees and we had not experienced any material 
labor disputes or any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations during the Reporting Period.

Environmental Policies and Performance

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable and environmental-friendly environment. We 
strive to minimize our environmental impact and to build our corporation in a sustainable way.

We are subject to environmental protection and occupational health and safety laws and regulations in China and 
other countries we operated in. In 2024, we complied with the relevant environmental and occupational health and 
safety laws and regulations in China and other countries we operated in all material aspects and we did not have any 
incidents or complaints that had a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial 
condition.

The Company has prepared an environmental, social and governance report in accordance with Appendix C2 of the 
Listing Rules. Please refer to our 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report dated April 23, 2025.

The Group’s Subsidiaries and Facilities

A summary of the corporate information and the particulars of our subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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As of December 31, 2024, we owned the land use rights of one parcel of land with a site area of approximately 69,000 
square meters. As of the same date, we operated our businesses through 6 owned properties with a total gross floor 
area of approximately 500 square meters, and 31 leased properties with a total gross floor area of approximately 
34,000 square meters. All such properties have been used for non-property activities as defined under Rule 5.01(2) of 
the Listing Rules and are primarily used as office premises, manufacturing facilities and research and development 
center for our business operations.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying 
Shares and Debentures

As of December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the interests and short positions of the Directors 
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (i) to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short 
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to Section 
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Director/Chief Executive Nature of Interest
Number of

Shares held(1)

Approximate 
percentage of 

Interest(1)

Mr. FENG Dai(2) Interest in controlled corporation 87,168,400(L) 51.27%
733,905(S) 0.43%

Mr. HUANG Kun(3) Interest in controlled corporation 717,200(L) 0.42%
500,000(S) 0.29%

Mr. SONG Xin(4) Interest in controlled corporation 1,415,300(L) 0.83%
Beneficial owner 525,375(L) 0.31%

Ms. DONG Li(5) Beneficial owner 1,689,406(L) 0.99%

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares and the letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the Shares.

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 170,025,325 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2024, without taking into 
account any Shares that may be issued under the Share Award Schemes.

(2) CareCapital Orthotech Limited is wholly-owned by CareCapital EA, Inc., which is in turn owned by CareCapital Dental Holdings 
Limited and CareCapital Moonstone Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CareCapital Dental Holdings Limited. 
CareCapital Dental Holdings Limited is controlled by CareCapital Management Group LLC, which is wholly-owned by Mr. FENG 
Dai, the ultimate controlling person of CareCapital Group. As such, Mr. Feng is deemed to be interested in all the shareholding 
of the Company held by CareCapital Orthotech Limited. Please refer to the disclosure of interest filings in respect of the 
Company’s securities by such person on April 22, 2024, May 20, 2024, June 26, 2024 and September 24, 2024 for details.

(3) Noble Affluent Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. HUANG Kun, and thus Mr. Huang is deemed to be interested in all the 
shareholding of the Company held by Noble Affluent Limited. Please refer to the disclosure of interest filings in respect of the 
Company’s securities by such person on May 13, 2024 and December 13, 2024 for details.

(4) Ascend Benefit Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. SONG Xin, and thus Mr. Song is deemed to be interested in all the shareholding 
of the Company held by Ascend Benefit Limited. Please refer to disclosure of interest filings in respect of the Company’s 
securities by such person on April 30, 2024 for details.

(5) Please refer to the disclosure of interest filings in respect of the Company’s securities by Ms. Dong on July 19, 2023 for details.
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was 
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or 
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would be required to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and 
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or which would be 
required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which would 
be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares 
(Other than Directors and Chief Executive)

As of December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons, other than Directors or 
chief executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be 
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

Name Capacity/Nature of interest
Number of

Shares

Approximate 
percentage of 

Interest(1)

CareCapital Orthotech Limited(2) Beneficial Owner 87,168,400 (L) 51.27%
733,905 (S) 0.43%

CareCapital EA, Inc.(2) Interest in controlled 
corporation

87,168,400 (L) 51.27%
733,905 (S) 0.43%

CareCapital Moonstone Holdings Limited(2) Interest in controlled 
corporation

87,168,400 (L) 51.27%
733,905 (S) 0.43%

CareCapital Dental Holdings Limited(2) Interest in controlled 
corporation

87,168,400 (L) 51.27%
733,905 (S) 0.43%

CareCapital Management Group LLC(2) Interest in controlled 
corporation

87,168,400 (L) 51.27%
733,905 (S) 0.43%

Ms. LI Huamin (3) Founder of a discretionary 
trust

21,472,300 (L) 12.63%
4,448,580 (S) 2.62%

Beneficial Owner 6,002 (L) 0.004%
Shore Lead Limited(3) Interest in controlled 

corporation
21,472,300 (L) 12.63%

4,448,580 (S) 2.62%
Sky Honour Enterprises Limited(3) Beneficial Owner 21,472,300 (L) 12.63%

4,448,580 (S) 2.62%
Mr. CHEN Kai(4) Interest in controlled 

corporation
9,228,531 (L) 5.43%
1,696,500 (S) 1.00%

Jovial Day Global Limited(4) Interest in controlled 
corporation

9,228,531 (L) 5.43%
1,696,500 (S) 1.00%

Vast Luck Global Limited(4) Beneficial Owner 9,228,531 (L) 5.43%
1,696,500 (S) 1.00%

JPMorgan Chase & Co. Interest in controlled 
corporation

16,118,298 (L) 9.48%
6,070,967 (S) 3.57%

Investment manager 5,000 (S) 0.003%
Approved lending agent 4,292,900 (P) 2.52%
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The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares; the letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the Shares; and 
the letter “P” denotes the Shares held by a lending agent on behalf of its clients that are available for lending.

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 170,025,325 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2024, without taking into 
account any Shares that may be issued under the Share Award Schemes.

(2) See “Corporate Governance and Other Information – Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the 
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this annual report for more information.

(3) Sky Honour Enterprises Limited is controlled by Shore Lead Limited, a company wholly-owned by Ms. LI Huamin. Ms. LI is the 
founder and settlor of her family trust. As such, Ms. Li is deemed to be interested in all the shareholding of the Company held 
by Sky Honour Enterprises Limited. Please refer to the disclosure of interest filings in respect of the Company’s securities by 
such persons on December 20, 2024 for details.

(4) Vast Luck Global Limited is controlled by Jovial Day Global Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. CHEN Kai. Mr. Chen is the 
founder and settlor of his family trust. As such, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in all the shareholding of the Company 
held by Vast Luck Global Limited. Please refer to the disclosure of interest filings in respect of the Company’s securities by 
such persons on March 13, 2023 for details.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company are not 
aware of any other person, other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had an interest or short 
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which would be required to be recorded in 
the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in this annual report during and at the end of the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any 
of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors or any of their respective spouses 
or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of the shares in, or debentures of, the 
Company or any other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities

During the Reporting Period, the Company has repurchased a total of 19,400 Shares on the Stock Exchange for an 
aggregate consideration of approximately HKD1.0 million after expenses. The repurchased Shares were subsequently 
cancelled on May 16, 2024. The Board considered that the share repurchases reflected the confidence of Directors 
and senior management of the Company in the long-term growth and market performance of the Company and were 
in the interest of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Details of the Shares repurchased during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Month of repurchase in 2024

Number of 
Shares 

repurchased
Highest 

price paid
Lowest 

price paid

Aggregate 
consideration 

paid
HKD HKD HKD

February 19,400 53.05 49.80 1,012,439.44

Total 19,400 1,012,439.44
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For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated July 4, 2023 and February 4, 2024, and the next 
day disclosure returns of the Company dated February 14, 2024 and May 16, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of 
the listed securities of the Company during the Reporting Period, including sale of treasury shares (as defined in the 
Listing Rules).

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company did not hold any treasury shares (including any treasury shares 
held or deposited in CCASS (as defined in the Listing Rules)).

Share Award Schemes

Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes

The Shareholders have adopted and approved the Share Award Scheme I, Share Award Scheme II and Share Award 
Scheme III on December 21, 2020, as amended.

Summary of major terms of the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes are as follows:

(i) Purposes of Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes is to, among others, motivate senior managers, core 
employees and other participants through the establishment of an incentive mechanism for sharing interests 
and risks among shareholders, senior managers and core employees, to provide such employees with the 
opportunity to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group, and to attract and retain talented 
personnel for the realization of the Group’s long-term development goals.

(ii) Participants of Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes

The participants of Share Award Scheme I are senior management and core employees of the Group, determined 
by a committee or person as authorized by the Board (the “ESOP Committee”) in its sole discretion with reference 
to the employee’s working performance, contribution to the Company and other factors.

The participants of Share Award Scheme II and Share Award Scheme III – Pool A shall be determined by the ESOP 
Committee and shall: (i) be a senior manager, director of a department or core employee of the Company or its 
subsidiaries; (ii) have positive contribution to the Company with outstanding working performance; and (iii) be 
currently working for the Company or its subsidiaries with a signed employment contract.

The participants of Share Award Scheme III – Pool B shall be determined by the Board and shall be employees, 
executives, officers or directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any of the 
subsidiaries of the Group, any advisors, consultants, agents, suppliers, customers, distributors or such other 
persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Group.
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(iii) Maximum number of Shares available for issue under the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes

The aggregate numbers of Shares for all the restricted share units (the “RSU”) as the awards (the “Awards”) 
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme I, Share Award Scheme II and Share Award Scheme III – Pool A are 
19,069,300 Shares, 4,706,400 Shares and 5,289,900 Shares, respectively.

Unless further approval of the Board, the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options (the “Options”) 
may be granted under the Share Award Scheme III-Pool B shall be the number of shares as determined and 
approved by the Board from time to time (the “Scheme Limit”). As at the date (the “Offer Date”) of offering any 
proposed Options, the maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted is such number 
of Shares less the aggregate of the following Shares as at that Offer Date: (a) the number of Shares which have 
been issued and allotted pursuant to the exercise of any Options; and (b) the number of cancelled Shares.

(iv) Limit for each participant

Under the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes, there is no specific limit on the maximum number of Awards and 
Options which may be granted to a single eligible participant.

(v) Remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes

Each of the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes shall be valid and effective for a period of ten (10) years commencing 
on the respective adoption date of each scheme and has a remaining life of approximately six years.

(vi) Exercise of Options

Under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool B, the Option may be exercisable during the period to be notified by the 
Board to the grantee provided that such period of time shall not exceed a period of ten years commencing on 
the date upon which such Option is deemed to be granted and accepted. The exercise price of such Options was 
US$1.2 per Share. Such exercise price was determined based on the grantee’s work experience, responsibilities, 
and remuneration package and the Company’s financial performance and potential growth.

(vii) Vesting condition

Under the Share Award Scheme I, the incentive Shares shall be subject to a lock-up period commencing from 
the date of grant of the Awards to the date that is the later of (i) expiry of the mandatory lock-up period under 
applicable laws and regulations or (ii) the date of initial public offering of the Shares. Upon and after expiry of the 
lock-up period, in compliance with relevant laws, regulations and regulatory documents, the disposal of Shares 
by each Participant shall be subject to certain further restrictions: (i) within one year, the number of disposed 
Shares shall not exceed 50% of the total number of incentive Shares held by him or her under the Share Award 
Scheme I; (ii) within two years, the number of disposed Shares shall not exceed 80% of the total number of 
incentive Shares held by him or her under the Share Award Scheme I; and (iii) after two years, all the incentive 
Shares held by him or her under the Share Award Scheme I are free to be disposed of.

The Awards under the Share Award Scheme II and the Share Award Scheme III – Pool A shall be subject to a 
vesting period of four (4) years starting from the date of grant.
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Under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool B, the Company granted Options for 300,000 Shares as underlying 
Shares on October 9, 2020 and such Options shall vest in the following schedule: (i) 20% upon the Listing and (ii) 
each 20% on the last day of each year commencing from October 1, 2020.

(viii) Subscription price

No consideration is paid for grant of the Awards under the Share Award Scheme I, Share Award Scheme II and the 
Share Award Scheme III – Pool A. Such purchase prices were determined with reference to, among other things, 
the contributions made by the grantees, the purpose of the share award schemes, and prevailing compensation 
and pre-IPO share award schemes of similar positions in the market. No consideration is paid for grant of the 
Options for 300,000 Shares as underlying Shares under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool B.

For more information on the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes, please refer to “Appendix IV Statutory and General 
Information – D. Share Award Schemes” in the Prospectus.

Details of Awards and Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes are set out below:

Share Award Scheme I and Share Award Scheme II

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has granted Awards for the purchase of a total of 19,069,300 Shares to 
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme I and Awards for the purchase of a total of 4,706,400 Shares to 
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme II. All the Awards had been granted and fully vested before the 
Listing and are fully vested under the Share Award Scheme I and Share Award Scheme II. No further Awards have 
been or will be granted under the Share Award Scheme I and Share Award Scheme II after the Listing.

Share Award Scheme III – Pool A

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has granted Awards for the purchase of a total of 5,289,900 Shares to eligible 
participants under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool A.

All the Awards had been granted before the Listing and are fully vested or lapsed under the Share Award Scheme III – 
Pool A. No further Awards have been or will be granted under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool A after the Listing.

Share Award Scheme III – Pool B

Under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool B, Options were granted to a senior management of the Company (who is 
not a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or their respective associates) with rights to 
subscribe for an aggregate of 300,000 new Shares upon exercise of such Options. No consideration is paid for grant of 
such Options.

No further Options have been or will be granted under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool B after the Listing.

As of the date of this annual report, all the Shares underlying the aforementioned Awards and Options have been 
issued. No further Awards and Options may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes after the Listing.
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Movements of the outstanding Options under the Share Award Scheme III – Pool B during the Reporting Period are set 
out below.

Category/
Name of Grantee Grant Date Vesting Period Exercise Period

Exercise 
price

Number of 
outstanding 

Options as of 
January 1, 

2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Vested 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Exercised 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Number of 
outstanding 

Options as of 
December 31, 

2024

Weighted 
average 
closing 

price of the 
Shares 
before 

exercise

A senior 
management 
(who is not a 
Director, chief 
executive or 
substantial 
shareholder of 
the Company, or 
their respective 
associates)

October 9, 
2020

All the Options 
were vested.

The exercise period 
shall not exceed a 
period of ten years 
commencing on the 
date upon which such 
Option is deemed 
to be granted and 
accepted.

US$1.2 per Share 120,000 – – 120,000 – – – HK$58.95

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and adopted by the Shareholders on May 20, 2021 
and amended on June 29, 2023 and June 28, 2024. The terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are subject to 
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Summary of major terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The purpose of this Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors and 
such other participant, and to provide a means of compensating them through the grant of options pursuant to 
the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Options”) for their contribution to the growth and profits of 
our Group, and to allow such employees, Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and profitability 
of our Group.

(ii) Participants of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Participants of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme included employees or directors of any member of the Group.
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(iii) Maximum number of Shares available for issue under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of Shares underlying all the Options that may be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option 
Scheme is 10,145,867 Shares (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme Limit”), representing 6.0% of the aggregate 
Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024. As of the date of this annual report, there are 10,145,867 Shares 
available for issue under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, representing 6.0% of the issued share capital of the 
Company as of the date of this annual report.

The Shares which may be issued in respect of all Options and Awards to be granted under the Post-IPO Share 
Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU Scheme of the Company (including Options or Awards have been cancelled 
but excluding those lapsed in accordance with the terms of the respective share schemes) shall not exceed 
13,527,822 Shares.

The Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the Post-IPO Share Option 
Scheme Limit every three years and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme Limit as refreshed shall not exceed 6% of 
the total number of Shares in issue as at May 23, 2024.

As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, there were 1,815,567 and 6,099,471 Shares available for future 
grant under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, respectively.

(iv) Limit for each participant

Where any grant of Options to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director or any of their 
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all Options and Awards 
granted to such person in the relevant period representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other percentage as 
may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in issue, such further grant of options 
and/or awards, as the case may be, must be approved by the Shareholders in such manner as required under the 
Listing Rules.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all the Options and Awards granted to an 
individual participant under all share schemes of the Group in any twelve months period up to and including the 
date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares of the Company from time to time (the “Individual 
Limit”). Any further grant to a participant which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued exceeding the 
Individual Limit shall be subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such participant and his or 
her close associates (or his or her associate if the Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

(v) Grant and acceptance of Options

The Board shall, subject to and in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, be 
entitled to, at any time on any business day during the period of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, grant an 
Option to any eligible participant whom the Board may in its absolute discretion select, based on such conditions 
as it may think fit, including, without limitation, any minimum period for which an Option must be held before it 
can be exercised and/or any performance targets which must be achieved before an Option can be exercised.
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(vi) Vesting of Options

Options may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the Board (or any duly authorized committee or 
person by the Board) in its absolute discretion. The periods over which the Options will vest shall not be less than 
12 months or such other minimum vesting periods prescribed from time to time by any laws, regulations or rules 
to which the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme may be subject, including the Listing Rules or regulations of any 
stock exchange on which the Shares may be listed and quoted. Furthermore, the Shares to be issued and allotted 
to a Grantee pursuant to the exercise of any Option under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme may or may not, at 
the discretion of the Board (or any duly authorized committee or person by the Board), be subject to any retention 
period.

The vesting period of Options granted to employee participants may, at the discretion of the Board (or any 
duly authorized committee or person by the Board), be shorter under the following circumstances: (i) grants 
of “make-whole” share options or awards to new joinders to replace the share awards they forfeited when 
leaving their previous employers, (ii) grant to a participant whose employment is terminated due to death or 
disability or occurrence of any out of control event; (iii) grants of options or awards with performance-based 
vesting conditions in lieu of time-based vesting criteria; (iv) grants that are made in batches during a year for 
administrative and compliance reason (may include share awards that should have been granted earlier but had 
to wait for a subsequent batch); (v) grant of options or awards with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule such 
as where the awards may vest evenly over a period of 12 months; and (vi) grants of options or awards with a total 
vesting and holding period of more than 12 months.

(vii) Exercise of Options

An Option may be exercised after vesting in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme 
at any time during the period to be determined by our Board at its absolute discretion and notified by our Board 
to each participant who was granted the Options and in any event, such period shall not be longer than ten 
years from the date upon which any particular Option is granted in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Option 
Scheme.

(viii) Exercise price of Options

The exercise price shall be such price as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the 
grant of the relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of the Option), but 
in any case the exercise price shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in 
the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the 
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) 
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

(ix) Remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on May 20, 
2021 and has a remaining life of approximately six years.
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For further information of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, please refer to the circular of the Company dated April 
23, 2024.

Details of Options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period are set out below:

Category/
Name of 
Grantee

Number 
of Options 

Granted Grant Date Vesting Period Exercise Period
Exercise 

Price
Performance 
Target

Fair Value 
of Options 
Granted(1)

Closing 
price of 

the Shares 
immediately 

before the 
grant date

Directors, chief executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their respective associates
Mr. SONG Xin 

(Executive 
Director and 
the chief 
operating 
officer)

375,375 April 30, 
 2024

• 33.3% shall vest on 
April 30, 2025;

• 33.3% shall vest on 
April 30, 2026; and

• the remaining 33.4% 
shall vest on April 30, 
2027.

Ten years from the 
date of grant of 
Options

HK$79.00 No performance 
target is required.

HK$29.7 
million

HK$78.27

Other employees
3 employees 452,375 April 30, 

 2024
• 33.3% shall vest on 

April 30, 2025;
• 33.3% shall vest on 

April 30, 2026; and
• the remaining 33.4% 

shall vest on April 30, 
2027.

Ten years from the 
date of grant of 
Options

HK$79.00 No performance 
target is required.

HK$35.7 
million

HK$78.27

1 employee 60,000 July 17, 
 2024

• 25% shall vest on 
April 30, 2025;

• 25% shall vest on 
April 30, 2026;

• 25% shall vest on 
April 30, 2027; and

• the remaining 25% 
shall vest on April 30, 
2028.

Ten years from the 
date of grant of 
Options

HK$58.75 The performance 
evaluation results 
of the grantee for 
the year before 
vesting shall be 
higher than a 
specific level as 
determined by 
the Board.

HK$3.4 
million

HK$56.80

         

(1) The fair value of the Options at the grant date is calculated based on the closing price of the Shares on the grant date, being 
HK$79.00 per Share and HK$56.45 per Share, respectively. For details of the accounting standard and policy adopted, please 
refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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No Options were granted to related entity participant or service provider.

Movements of the outstanding Options under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period are set 
out below:

Category/
Name of Grantee Grant Date Vesting Period Exercise period Exercise price

Number of 
unvested 

Options as of 
January 1, 

2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Vested 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Exercised 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Number of 
unvested 

Options as of 
December 31, 

2024

Weighted 
average 
closing 
price of 

the Shares 
before 

exercise

Directors, chief executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their respective associates
Mr. SONG Xin 

(Executive 
Director and the 
chief operating 
officer)

April 28, 
 2023

• 25% was 
vested on  
April 30, 2024;

• 25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2025;

• 25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2026; and

• the remaining 
25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2027.

Ten years from the 
grant date

HK$100.06 
per Share

600,000 – 150,000 – – 450,000 – –

April 30, 
 2024

• 33.3% shall 
vest on April 
30, 2025;

• 33.3% shall 
vest on April 
30, 2026; and

• the remaining 
33.4% shall 
vest on April 
30, 2027.

Ten years from the 
grant date

HK$79.00 
per Share

– 375,375 – – – – 375,375 –
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Category/
Name of Grantee Grant Date Vesting Period Exercise period Exercise price

Number of 
unvested 

Options as of 
January 1, 

2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Vested 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Exercised 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Number of 
unvested 

Options as of 
December 31, 

2024

Weighted 
average 
closing 
price of 

the Shares 
before 

exercise

Ms. DONG Li 
(Executive 
Director and the 
chief financial 
officer)

April 28, 
 2023

• 25% was 
vested on April 
3, 2024;

• 25% shall 
vest on April 3, 
2025;

• 20% shall 
vest on April 3, 
2026;

• 10% shall 
vest on April 3, 
2027;

• 10% shall 
vest on April 3, 
2028;

• 5% shall vest 
on April 3, 
2029; and

• the remaining 
5% shall vest 
on April 3, 
2030.

Ten years from the 
grant date

HK$100.06 
per Share

1,688,646 – 422,161 – – – 1,266,485 –

Other employees
4 employees April 28, 

 2023
• 25% was 

vested on April 
30, 2024;

• 25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2025;

• 25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2026; and

• the remaining 
25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2027.

Ten years from the 
grant date

HK$100.06 
per Share

870,000 – 217,500 – – 540,000 112,500 –
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Category/
Name of Grantee Grant Date Vesting Period Exercise period Exercise price

Number of 
unvested 

Options as of 
January 1, 

2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Vested 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Exercised 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Number of 
unvested 

Options as of 
December 31, 

2024

Weighted 
average 
closing 
price of 

the Shares 
before 

exercise

3 employees April 30, 
 2024

• 33.3% shall 
vest on April 
30, 2025;

• 33.3% shall 
vest on April 
30, 2026; and

• the remaining 
33.4% shall 
vest on April 
30, 2027.

Ten years from the 
grant date

HK$79.00 
per Share

– 452,375 – – – – 452,375 –

1 employee July 17, 
 2024

• 25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2025;

• 25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2026;

• 25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2027; and

• the remaining 
25% shall vest 
on April 30, 
2028.

Ten years from the 
grant date

HK$58.75 
per Share

– 60,000 – – – – 60,000 –

             

Post-IPO RSU Scheme

The Post-IPO RSU Scheme was conditionally approved and adopted by the Shareholders on May 20, 2021 and 
amended on June 29, 2023 and June 28, 2024. The terms of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme are subject to Chapter 17 of 
the Listing Rules.

Summary of major terms of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes of Post-IPO RSU Scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme is to recognize the contributions by grantees and to give incentives 
thereto in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group, and to attract suitable 
personnel for further development of the Group.
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(ii) Participants of Post-IPO RSU Scheme

Participants of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme included employees, directors or officers of any member of the Group.

(iii) Maximum number of Shares available for issue under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme

The maximum aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants of awards (the “Awards”) pursuant to the 
Post-IPO RSU Scheme will not exceed 3,381,955 Shares (the “Post-IPO RSU Scheme Limit”), representing 
approximately 2.0% of the total issued Shares of the Company as at December 31, 2024. The Company may seek 
separate approval by the Shareholders in general meeting for granting Awards beyond the Post-IPO RSU Scheme 
Limit (as refreshed) provided that the grantee(s) of such Awards must be specifically identified by the Company 
before such approval is sought.

The Shares which may be issued in respect of all Options and Awards to be granted under the Post-IPO Share 
Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU Scheme of the Company (including Options or Awards have been cancelled 
but excluding those lapsed in accordance with the terms of the respective share schemes) shall not exceed 
13,527,822 Shares.

The Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the Post-IPO RSU Scheme 
Limit every three years and the Post-IPO RSU Scheme Limit as refreshed shall not exceed 2% of the total number 
of Shares in issue as at May 23, 2024.

As of the date of this annual report, there are 1,325,130 Shares available for issue under the Post-IPO RSU 
Scheme, representing 0.8% of the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this annual report.

As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, there were 531,447 and 1,472,848 RSUs available for grant under 
the Post-IPO RSU Scheme respectively.

(iv) Limit for each participant

Where any grant of Options and/or Awards to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive 
Director or any of their respective associates, or any grant of Awards to a Director (other than an independent 
non-executive Director) or chief executive of the Company or any of their respective associates, which would 
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all Options and/or Awards granted to such person in 
the relevant period representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other percentage as may from time to time be 
specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in issue, such further grant of Options and/or Awards, as the case 
may be, must be approved by the Shareholders in such manner as required under the Listing Rules.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all the Options and Awards granted to an 
individual participant under all share schemes of the Group in any twelve months period up to and including the 
date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares of the Company from time to time (the “Individual 
Limit”). Any further grant to a participant which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued exceeding the 
Individual Limit shall be subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such participant and his or 
her close associates (or his or her associate if the Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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(v) Vesting period of Awards granted

The Board has the sole discretion to determine the vesting schedule and vesting criteria (if any) for any grant of 
Awards to any grantee, which may also be adjusted and re-determined by the Board from time to time.

The periods over which the Awards will vest shall not be less than 12 months or such other may exceed any 
minimum vesting periods prescribed from time to time by any laws, regulations or rules to which the Post-IPO 
RSU Scheme may be subject, including the Listing Rules or regulations of any stock exchange on which the 
Shares may be listed and quoted. Furthermore the Shares to be issued and allotted to a Grantee pursuant to the 
exercise of any Award under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme may or may not, at the discretion of the Board (or any duly 
authorized committee or person by the Board), be subject to any retention period.

The vesting period of Awards granted to employee participants may, at the discretion of the Board (or any 
duly authorized committee or person by the Board), be shorter under the following circumstances: (i) grants 
of “make-whole” share Options or Awards to new joinders to replace the share awards they forfeited when 
leaving their previous employers, (ii) grant to a participant whose employment is terminated due to death or 
disability or occurrence of any out of control event; (iii) grants of Options or Awards with performance-based 
vesting conditions, in lieu of time-based vesting criteria; (iv) grants that are made in batches during a year for 
administrative and compliance reason (may include share awards that should have been granted earlier but had 
to wait for a subsequent batch); (v) grant of Awards with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule such as where 
the Awards may vest evenly over a period of 12 months; and (vi) grants of Options or Awards with a total vesting 
and holding period of more than 12 months.

(vi) Exercise period of Awards granted

An Award may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme at any time during the 
period notified by our Board to each participant who was granted the Awards and in any event, such period shall 
not be longer than ten years from the date upon which any particular Award is granted in accordance with the 
Post-IPO RSU Scheme.

(vii) Purchase price of Awards granted

The grantee(s) shall not be required to bear or pay any price or fee for the grant of Awards.

(viii) Remaining life of Post-IPO RSU Scheme

Subject to the fulfillment of the conditions of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme and the termination clause, this Post-
IPO RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing on May 20, 2021 and has a 
remaining life of approximately six years.
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For further information of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, please refer to the circular of the Company dated April 23, 2024.

Details of RSUs granted under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme during the Reporting Period are set out below:

Category/
Name of Grantee

Number 
of RSUs 
Granted

Grant 
Date

Vesting 
Period

Purchase 
Price

Performance 
Targe

Fair 
Value of 

RSUs 
Granted(1)

Closing 
price of 

the Shares 
immediately 

before the 
grant date

15 employees 142,580 March 20, 2024 15,550 RSUs granted to 2 
Grantees shall vest in 4 
tranches of 30%, 30%, 20% 
and 20% on the second, the 
third, the fourth and the fifth 
anniversary of the hire date 
of the respective Grantee, 
respectively.

Nil No performance target is 
required.

HK$10.7 million HK$63.94

127,030 RSUs granted to 13 
Grantees shall vest in 3 
tranches of 50%, 25% and 
25% on the second, the third 
and the fourth anniversary of 
the hire date of the respective 
Grantee, respectively.

246 employees 684,361 July 17, 2024 680,456 RSUs granted shall vest 
in four tranches of 30%, 30%, 
20% and 20% on September 
30, 2024, September 30, 
2025, September 30, 2026 
and September 30, 2027, 
respectively.

Nil The vesting of 657,056 RSUs 
granted is subject to the 
achievement of certain 
performance target. There 
is no performance target 
attached to other RSUs 
granted.

HK$38.6 million HK$56.80

3,905 RSUs granted shall vest 
in three tranches of 50%, 
25% and 25% on the second, 
the third and the fourth 
anniversary of the hire date of 
the RSU Grantee, respectively.

        

(1) The fair value of the RSUs at the grant date is calculated based on the closing price of the Shares on the grant date, being 
HK$75.1 per Share and HK$56.45 per Share, respectively. For details of the accounting standard and policy adopted, please 
refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

No RSUs were granted to related entity participant or service provider.
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Movements of the unvested RSUs under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme during the Reporting Period are set out below:

Category/
Name of Grantee Grant Date

Purchase 
price Vesting Period

Number of 
unvested 

Awards as of 
January 1, 

2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Vested 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Number of 
unvested 

Awards 
as of 

December 31, 
2024

Weighted 
average 
closing 

price of the 
Shares 
before 

vesting

Directors, chief executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their respective associates
Ms. DONG Li  

(Executive Director 
and the chief financial 
officer)

July 19, 2023 Nil RSUs shall vest in seven 
tranches of 25%, 25%, 20%, 
10%, 10%, 5%, 5% on April 
3, 2024, April 3, 2025, April 3, 
2026, April 3, 2027, April 3, 
2028, April 3, 2029 and April 3, 
2030, respectively

760 – 190 – – 570 HK$75.38

Other employees
120 employees March 25, 2022 Nil 334,634 RSUs granted to the 

grantees shall vest as follows:
30%, 20% and 20% of the RSUs 

granted shall vest on the date 
of September 30 of, 2023, 
2024 and 2025, respectively.

105,601 – 51,757 1,945 – 51,899 HK$58.87

68,833 RSUs granted to the 
grantees shall vest as follows:

50%, 25% and 25% shall vest 
on the second, the third and 
the fourth anniversary of the 
employment date of each 
grantee respectively

32,993 – 16,493 9,103 – 7,397 HK$96.00

175 employees June 12, 2023 Nil 496,858 RSUs shall vest in 
four tranches of 30%, 30%, 
20% and 20% on September 
30, 2023, September 30, 
2024, September 30, 2025 
and September 30, 2026, 
respectively

338,876 – 141,324 8,989 – 188,563 HK$61.64
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Category/
Name of Grantee Grant Date

Purchase 
price Vesting Period

Number of 
unvested 

Awards as of 
January 1, 

2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Vested 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Number of 
unvested 

Awards 
as of 

December 31, 
2024

Weighted 
average 
closing 

price of the 
Shares 
before 

vesting

233,161 RSUs shall vest in three 
tranches of 50%, 25% and 
25% on the second, the third 
and the fourth anniversary 
of the employment date 
of the respective Grantee, 
respectively

165,127 – 70,873 2,461 – 91,793 HK$58.93

41,992 RSUs shall vest in four 
tranches of 30%, 30%, 
20% and 20% on the first, 
the second, the third and 
the fourth anniversary of 
the employment date of 
the respective Grantee, 
respectively

29,326 – 12,596 – – 16,800 HK$67.56

28,764 RSUs shall vest in four 
tranches of 30%, 30%, 20% 
and 20% on the second, 
the third, the fourth and 
the fifth anniversary of 
the employment date of 
the respective Grantee, 
respectively

28,764 – 8,629 – – 20,135 HK$58.93

13 employees July 19, 2023 Nil The RSUs shall vest in four 
tranches of 30%, 30%, 
20%, 20% on September 
30, 2023, September 30, 
2024, September 30, 2025 
and September 30, 2026, 
respectively.

38,360 – 13,440 7,800 – 17,120 HK$61.64

3 employees September 13, 
2023

Nil The RSUs shall vest in three 
tranches of 50%, 25% and 
25% on the second, the third 
and the fourth anniversary of 
the hire date of the respective 
Grantee, respectively

17,979 – 8,988 – – 8,991 HK$55.60
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Category/
Name of Grantee Grant Date

Purchase 
price Vesting Period

Number of 
unvested 

Awards as of 
January 1, 

2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Vested 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Number of 
unvested 

Awards 
as of 

December 31, 
2024

Weighted 
average 
closing 

price of the 
Shares 
before 

vesting

15 employees March 20, 2024 Nil 15,550 RSUs shall vest in 4 
tranches of 30%, 30%, 20% 
and 20% on the second, the 
third, the fourth and the fifth 
anniversary of the hire date 
of the respective grantee, 
respectively.

– 15,550 4,664 – – 10,886 HK$55.60

127,030 RSUs shall vest in 3 
tranches of 50%, 25% and 
25% on the second, the third 
and the fourth anniversary of 
the hire date of the respective 
grantee, respectively.

– 127,030 – 8,720 – 118,310 N/A

246 employees July 17, 2024 Nil 680,456 RSUs granted shall vest 
in four tranches of 30%, 30%, 
20% and 20% on September 
30, 2024, September 30, 
2025, September 30, 2026 
and September 30, 2027, 
respectively.

– 680,456 202,746 5,440 – 472,270 HK$75.50

3,905 RSUs granted shall 
vest in three tranches of 
50%, 25% and 25% on the 
second, the third and the 
fourth anniversary of the hire 
date of the RSU Grantee, 
respectively.

– 3,905 – – – 3,905 N/A

           

The Shares underlying the Awards granted during the Reporting Period are issued Shares held by the trustee of the 
Post-IPO RSU Scheme and will be transferred to the Grantees upon vesting. There were no Shares that may be issued 
in respect of the Awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during the Reporting Period.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of the Options and Awards granted under all share schemes of 
the Company during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares of the relevant class in 
issue for the Reporting Period was 2.54%.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period, we did not have any material acquisitions or 
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on June 16, 2021, whereby 
16,829,600 new Shares were issued at the offer price of HKD173.0 each by the Company. On July 8, 2021, the Joint 
Global Coordinators, on behalf of the International Underwriters, fully exercised the Over-allotment Option at the 
offer price of HKD173.0, pursuant to which the Company issued an addition of 2,524,400 Shares. The aggregate net 
proceeds from the Company’s Global Offering, including the net proceeds from the full exercise of the Over-allotment 
Option and after deduction of the underwriting fees and other related expenses, was approximately HKD3,139.0 
million. The net proceeds from the Global Offering (adjusted on a pro rata basis based on the actual net proceeds) 
have been and will be utilized in that same manner, proportion and the expected timeframe as set out in the 
Prospectus under the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”. The table below sets out the planned and 
actual applications of the net proceeds up to December 31, 2024.

Net proceeds from 
the Global Offering

Unutilized proceeds 
as of December 31, 

2023

Utilized proceeds 
during the Reporting 

Period

Utilized proceeds 
as of December 31, 

2024

Unutilized proceeds 
as of December 31, 

2024

(HK$ in millions)

Funding the construction of Chuangmei 
Center 1,252.5 785.6 118.7 585.6 666.9

Strengthening our research and 
development capabilities and funding 
our in-house and collaborative R&D 
initiatives 574.4 250.8 122.8 446.4 128.0

Developing a flexible and scalable 
intelligent information technology 
system 339.0 195.6 88.7 232.1 106.9

Expanding our in-house sales team and 
providing sales personnel with training 
sessions 329.6 – – 329.6 –

Funding marketing and branding 
activities 301.4 – – 301.4 –

Optimizing medical services 194.6 – – 194.6 –
Working capital and other general 

corporate purposes 147.5 – – 147.5 –

Total 3,139.0 1,232.0 330.2 2,237.2 901.8

To the extent that the net proceeds have not been immediately utilized, the balance has been placed with banks. 
There has been no change in the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus and the 
Group will apply the remaining net proceeds in the matter set out in the Prospectus. However, additional time will be 
required to utilize the remaining proceeds due to the impact of the macro-economy in the past few years. Considering 
the needs of future development of the Group, we expect the remaining proceeds would be used by the end of 2026.
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Litigation and Compliance

The Group is subject to various regulatory requirements and guidelines issued by regulatory authorities in China and 
other countries we operated in. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not commit any material non-compliance 
of the laws and regulations, and did not experience any non-compliance incident, which taken as a whole, in the 
opinion of the Directors, is likely to have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results 
of operations.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM will be held on Friday, May 23, 2025. A notice convening the AGM will be published on the website of the 
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (www.angelalign.com) in accordance with the 
requirements of the Listing Rules in due course.

Special Final Dividend

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a special final dividend of HKD0.38 per Share for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 to the Shareholders whose names appeared on the register of members of the Company 
on Monday, June 2, 2025, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM. Once the resolution in respect of 
payment of the special final dividend is passed at the AGM, the proposed special final dividend is expected to be paid 
on Friday, June 20, 2025.

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the 
Company will be closed from Tuesday, May 20, 2025 to Friday, May 23, 2025, both days inclusive, during which 
period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer 
documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share 
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road, Hong 
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, May 19, 2025.

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to receive the proposed special final dividend, the register of 
members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, May 29, 2025 to Monday, June 2, 2025, both days inclusive, 
during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. To qualify for the proposed special final dividend, all 
share transfer documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s 
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt 
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Wednesday, May 28, 2025.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the Cayman Companies Act which 
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
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Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding 
of the Company’s listed securities. If any of the Shareholders is unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, 
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, he or she is advised to consult 
an expert.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance policies for its Directors and senior management during 
the Reporting Period. Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every 
Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by 
him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given in his/her 
favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as 
of the date of this annual report, the Company has continued to comply with the minimum public float percentage 
prescribed in the conditions imposed in the waiver granted by the Stock Exchange from strict compliance with Rule 
8.08(1) of the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

As of the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, 
namely, Mr. ZHOU Hao, Mr. HAN Xiaojing and Mr. SHI Zi, and Mr. ZHOU Hao serves as the chairman of the Audit 
Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 
has recommended for the Board’s approval thereof. The Audit Committee has also reviewed together with 
the management the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 and discussed matters in relation to, among 
others, risk management, internal control and financial reporting of the Group with the management and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the independent auditor of the Company. Based on this review and discussions with the 
management and the independent auditor of the Company, the Audit Committee was satisfied that the annual results 
of the Group were prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and fairly present the Group’s 
financial position and results for the year ended December 31, 2024.



59Annual Report   2024

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the auditor during the Reporting Period. The consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. There 
is no change of auditor of the Company since the listing date of the Company.

A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditors of the Company will be proposed at 
the AGM.

Donation

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated approximately USD0.1 million.

Compliance with Non-Competition Undertakings

On May 20, 2021, Mr. FENG Dai, CareCapital Management Group LLC, CareCapital Dental Holdings Limited, 
CareCapital Moonstone Holdings Limited, CareCapital EA, Inc. and CareCapital Orthotech Limited (collectively, 
“CareCapital”) entered into the deed of non-competition in favor of our Company (the “Deed of Non-Competition”), 
pursuant to which they have each undertaken to our Company that they will not and will use their best reasonable 
efforts to procure their close associates (except any member of our Group) not to commence, engage in, participate 
in or acquire any business (“Restricted Business”) which competes with our core business of research and 
development, manufacture and marketing of clear aligners treatment solutions in China, subject to certain limited 
exceptions. For details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with 
Controlling Shareholders – Non-Competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from CareCapital in respect of the compliance by them and their 
close associates with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. CareCapital have confirmed that they have complied 
with the undertaking under the Deed of Non-Competition during the Reporting Period.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of Non-Competition and assessed whether 
CareCapital and their close associates have complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition, and were 
satisfied that CareCapital has complied with his/its undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition during the 
Reporting Period.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance practices. During the Reporting 
Period, the Company had complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to 
the Listing Rules. Detailed information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in 
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 61 to 78 of this annual report.



60 Angelalign Technology Inc.    

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Events After the Reporting Period

On January 17, 2025, the Company granted 34,590 Options to one grantee with the rights to subscribe for an 
aggregate of 34,590 Shares upon exercise of such Options in accordance with the terms of Post-IPO Share Option 
Scheme, subject to the acceptance of the grantee with an exercise price of HKD52.55 per Share. The Options granted 
shall vest in four tranches of 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% on September 30, 2025, September 30, 2026, September 30, 
2027 and September 30, 2028, respectively. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated January 17, 
2025 for details.

On February 19, 2025, Wuxi EA, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a product purchase 
cooperation framework agreement with Shanghai Maxflex Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (上海馬可菲斯醫療技術有限
公司) (“Shanghai Maxflex”), an associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of CareCapital Group, pursuant to which 
Wuxi EA shall purchase from Shanghai Maxflex certain raw materials for the production of clear aligners. The annual 
caps set for the purchases of products by the Group from Shanghai Maxflex as raw materials for the production of 
clear aligners for the years ending December 31, 2025, 2026 and 2027 are RMB30.0 million, RMB42.0 million and 
RMB58.8 million, respectively. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated February 19, 2025 for details.

As of the date of this annual report, save as disclosed above and in this annual report, there has been no significant 
event since the end of the Reporting Period that is required to be disclosed by the Company.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our sincere gratitude to dental professionals, patients and business 
partners for their trust in our Company, our staff and management team for their diligence, dedication, loyalty and 
integrity, and our Shareholders for their continuous support.

By order of the Board of Directors
Angelalign Technology Inc.

Mr. FENG Dai
Chairman

Hong Kong
March 20, 2025
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The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report contained in the Company’s annual report for the 
year ended December 31, 2024.

Cultures and Values

A healthy corporate culture across the Company is integral to attain its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to 
foster a corporate culture and to ensure that the Company’s vision and business strategies are aligned to it.

The Company strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and corporate governance across all its activities 
and operations. The Directors and management are all required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly. Trainings 
are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

The Company will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its business strategies and keep track of the changing 
market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken to respond to the changes and meet 
the market needs to achieve business objectives, while having due considerations from environment, social and 
governance aspects.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of 
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Board believes that good corporate governance 
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders 
and to enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and 
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the 
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed below, the Company had complied with all the applicable code 
provisions of the CG Code.

The Board

Responsibility

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors 
business and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management 
and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s 
affairs, the Board has established three Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee. The Board has delegated to these Board Committees responsibilities as set out in 
their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of liability arising from legal action against the 
Directors, and will conduct annual review on such insurance coverage.
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Board Composition and Diversity

The composition of the Board during the Reporting Period is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. HU Jiezhang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HUANG Kun
Mr. SONG Xin
Ms. DONG Li

Non-executive Director

Mr. FENG Dai (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. HAN Xiaojing
Mr. SHI Zi
Mr. ZHOU Hao

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this 
annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed their independence pursuant to the independence 
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules by written confirmation and the Company considers each of them 
to be independent.

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on our Board in order 
to enhance the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy provides that our Company should endeavor 
to ensure that our Board members have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives 
that are required to support the execution of its business strategy. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, we seek 
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional 
experiences, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and length of service. 
Our Board and Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued 
effectiveness and monitor and report annually in our corporate governance report about the implementation of the 
Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee and the Board has reviewed the diversity of the Board and the Board Diversity Policy for 
the Reporting Period. As of December 31, 2024, the diversity profile of the Board is analyzed as follows: The Directors 
have a balanced mix of experiences, including overall management, business development, information technology, 
legal, and finance experiences. The Board has also maintained a gender balance with one female Directors and 
seven male Directors. Furthermore, the age of the Directors ranges from 38 years old to 70 years old. The education 
background of the Directors includes bio-technology, finance, auditing, information technology and business 
administration to law, with degrees awarded by education institutions in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States.



63Annual Report   2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board is sufficiently diverse. The Board will consider 
setting measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time 
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain continuous compliance by the Company with the board diversity 
requirement under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior 
Management” of this annual report, none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial, business, 
family or other material/relevant relationship) with any other Directors or chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business 
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-
executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held 
in public companies or organizations and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved 
to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in the 
workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date of this annual report:

Female Male

Board 12.5% 87.5%
Senior management 16.7% 83.3%
Overall workforce 52.1% 47.9%
   

The Board was satisfied the gender ratio in the workforce of the Group.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company recognizes that Board independence is key to good corporate governance. The Company has in place 
effective mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that independent views are available.

The current composition of the Board, comprising more than one third of the Board being independent non-executive 
Directors, and the members of the Audit Committee are all independent non-executive Directors, exceeding the 
independence requirements under the Listing Rules. The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors are 
subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. 
The independence of each independent non-executive Director is assessed upon his appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in proposals or transactions to be 
considered by the Board at the Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate.
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The Company have established mechanism to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. The 
Board and the Board committees have the right to seek the service of independent professional institutions according 
to the needs of the exercise of authority, performance of duties or businesses, and the reasonable expenses incurred 
thereon shall be borne by the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have consistently demonstrated strong commitment and the ability to 
devote sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at the Board. The Company has also established channels 
through formal and informal means whereby independent non-executive Directors can express their views.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of the mechanisms in relation to the Board independence and considered 
it to be effective during the Reporting Period. The Board will continue to review the implementation and effectiveness 
of such mechanism on an annual basis.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

All newly appointed Directors would be provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that they have 
a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as their responsibilities under relevant 
statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular training to provide the Directors with 
updates on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements 
from time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and 
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

The Company encourages continuous professional development training for all the Directors to develop and refresh 
their knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the Company update and provide the Directors with written 
training materials in relation to their roles, functions and duties from time to time.

According to the information provided by the Directors, the training received by the Directors during the Reporting 
Period is summarized as follows:

Name of Directors

Nature of continuous 
professional 

development courses

Executive Directors
Mr. HU Jiezhang
Mr. HUANG Kun
Mr. SONG Xin
Ms. DONG Li

A
A
A
A

Non-executive Director
Mr. FENG Dai (Chairman) A

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. HAN Xiaojing
Mr. SHI Zi
Mr. ZHOU Hao

A
A
A

  

A: attending training provided by lawyers or training related to the Company’s business



65Annual Report   2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Our executive Directors, Mr. HU Jiezhang, Mr. HUANG Kun, Mr. SONG Xin and Ms. DONG Li, have entered into service 
contracts with our Company on July 31, 2023, September 30, 2023, March 19, 2024 and April 3, 2023, respectively. We 
have issued a letter of appointment to our non-executive Director, Mr. FENG Dai on March 19, 2024. We have issued 
letters of appointment to our independent non-executive Directors, Mr. HAN Xiaojing, Mr. SHI Zi and Mr. ZHOU Hao, 
on March 19, 2024, March 19, 2024 and April 11, 2023, respectively. The service contracts with each of our executive 
Directors and the letters of appointment with each of our non-executive Director and independent non-executive 
Directors are for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from the date on which the service contract and/
or letter of appointment was entered or issued. The service contracts and the letters of appointment are subject to 
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts and/or the letters of appointment may 
be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing Rules.

The Board shall have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill 
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until 
first annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that 
meeting, but shall not be taken into account in determining the number of Directors and which Directors are to retire 
by rotation at such meeting.

At every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is 
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third, shall retire from office by 
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by 
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he 
retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at which any Directors 
retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of 
Association. The Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities and authority for selection and nomination 
of Directors to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board’s 
composition, and for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-election and succession planning 
of Directors, and the Board will determine the relevant matters after taking into account of the recommendations.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which is contained in the terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee that sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to nomination of Directors and aims 
to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company 
and the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to 
the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience or diversity needed in the future, and, in the light of this evaluation, prepare a description of 
the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination 
Committee shall:

(i) use open advertising or the services of external advisors to facilitate the search;

(ii) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds; and
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(iii) consider candidates on merit and against objective criteria, taking care that appointees have enough time 
available to devote to the position.

During the Reporting Period, the retired and re-elected Director nominated by the Nomination Committee and 
recommended by the Board were subject to a stringent nomination process in accordance with the Director 
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, to ensure the Board possesses the necessary skills, experience and 
knowledge in alignment with the Company’s strategy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Nomination Procedures

Subject to the Articles of Association, the following nomination procedures should be followed:

(i) the Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and 
experience) and diversity (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, required expertise, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board 
at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment 
of Directors and succession plans for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer. The 
Nomination Committee shall make recommendations on appointment of Directors with due regard to the 
diversity policy of the Company and in accordance with the challenges and opportunities faced by the Company;

(iii) the Nomination Committee shall identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or 
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship. In identifying 
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider candidates on merit and against the objective 
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(iv) the Nomination Committee shall before making any appointment recommendations to the Board, evaluate the 
balance of Directors based on (including but not limited to) gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience or diversity needed in the future, and, in the light of this evaluation, prepare a description 
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment;

(v) the Board shall deliberate and decide on the appointment based on the recommendation of the Nomination 
Committee;

(vi) appointments of Directors should be confirmed by a letter of appointment or Director service agreement, as 
appropriate, setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of Directors;

(vii) pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, where shareholders are required to vote on electing or re-electing 
Directors, the circular accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting should include all information of 
the candidates required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules;
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(viii) a shareholder shall be entitled to serve a notice to the company secretary within the lodgment period of its 
intention to propose a resolution to elect a person as a Director, without recommendation of the Board or 
nomination of the Nomination Committee, other than those candidates set out in the shareholder circular. The 
particulars of the candidates proposed shall be sent to all shareholders for information by a supplementary 
circular;

(ix) a candidate shall be entitled to withdraw his/her candidature at any time before the general meeting by serving a 
notice, in writing, to the company secretary; and

(x) the Board shall have the final decision on matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for 
election at any general meeting.

Attendance Records at the Meetings of the Board and General Meeting

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately 
quarterly intervals. Notices of no less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all 
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given by the Company. 
The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched at least three days before the Board meetings or 
Board Committee meetings to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately 
prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be 
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to 
the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the joint company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors 
for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are recorded in sufficient detail on the matters 
considered by the Board and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the 
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments 
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for 
inspection by all Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held 7 Board meetings and 1 general meeting in total and the attendance 
of individual Director at the Board meetings and general meetings are set out in the table below:

Name of Directors

Number of Actual Attendance 
at Board Meetings/

Number of Required 
Attendance at Board Meetings

Number of Actual Attendance 
at General Meeting/
Number of Required 

Attendance at General Meeting

Mr. FENG Dai 7/7 1/1
Mr. HU Jiezhang 7/7 1/1
Mr. HUANG Kun 7/7 1/1
Mr. SONG Xin 7/7 1/1
Ms. DONG Li 7/7 1/1
Mr. HAN Xiaojing 7/7 1/1
Mr. SHI Zi 7/7 1/1
Mr. ZHOU Hao 7/7 1/1
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Compliance with the Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct 
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the 
Directors has confirmed that he or she has complied with the requirements as set out in the Model Code during the 
Reporting Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all 
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions 
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other 
significant financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice 
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense. Directors are encouraged to access and to consult with the 
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated to the senior management. The 
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the 
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board confirmed that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the Directors, which 
includes:

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 
management;

(iii) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and compliance manuals applicable to employees and the 
Directors;

(iv) to develop and review the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, make recommendations and 
report on related issues to the Board; and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Board Committees

Our Company has established three committees under the Board pursuant to the corporate governance practice 
requirements under the Listing Rules, including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee.
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Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Mr. HAN Xiaojing, Mr. SHI Zi and Mr. ZHOU Hao. Mr. ZHOU Hao, the chairman of the Audit Committee, is 
appropriately qualified as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. 
The Audit Committee’s duties and powers include, among others:

(i) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment, and/or removal of the external 
auditor, and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and consider any 
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

(ii) monitor the integrity of financial statements, annual reports and accounts, interim reports and, if prepared for 
publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

(iii) oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control procedures; and

(iv) perform the Company’s corporate governance functions, including reviewing and monitoring the Company’s 
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior management.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management the accounting principles and policies adopted 
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024. The 
Audit Committee considered that the annual results of the Group are in compliance with the applicable accounting 
standards, laws and regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings to discuss and consider the following: (i) reviewing 
the annual financial statements, annual results announcement and annual report of the Group for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, (ii) reviewing the interim financial statements, interim results announcement and interim report 
of the Group for the six months ended June 30, 2024; (iii) recommending to the Board on the appointment of the 
auditor of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 and reviewing the report on the 2024 audit plan; 
and (iv) reviewing the Company’s financial reporting process, risk management, internal control system and internal 
audit function.

During the Reporting Period, the attendance of the Audit Committee members at the meetings is set out in the table 
below:

Name of Audit Committee members
Number of attendance/required 

attendance

Mr. ZHOU Hao 4/4
Mr. HAN Xiaojing 4/4
Mr. SHI Zi 4/4
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Nomination Committee

As of the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises a non-executive Director, namely Mr. 
FENG Dai, an executive Director, namely Mr. SONG Xin, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. 
HAN Xiaojing, Mr. SHI Zi and Mr. ZHOU Hao. Mr. FENG Dai, chairman of the Board, is the chairman of the Nomination 
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company. The Nomination Committee’s duties and powers include, among others:

(i) review the structure, number and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the 
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s strategy;

(ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the 
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(iii) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(iv) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession 
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer;

(v) review the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as 
may be adopted by the Board from time to time and to review the progress on achieving the objectives; and

(vi) where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an independent non-executive Director at the 
general meeting, the reasons why the Board believe he/she should be elected and the reasons why the Board 
consider the individual to be independent should be set out in the circular to Shareholders and/or an explanatory 
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting.

The Nomination Committee assesses, selects, and recommends candidates for directors to the Board on criteria such 
as credibility, success, and experience in the Company’s industry, time available to be invested, benefits of sectors 
represented by the candidates, and the diversity the candidates will bring to the Board. The recommendations of the 
Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting to discuss and consider (i) the Directors 
nomination policy and the structure, number and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and 
diversity) of the Board; (ii) Board Diversity Policy; (iii) the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) 
the retiring and re-election of Directors, etc.

During the Reporting Period, the attendance of the Nomination Committee members at the meeting is set out in the 
table below:

Name of Nomination Committee members
Number of attendance/required 

 attendance

Mr. FENG Dai 1/1
Mr. SONG Xin 1/1
Mr. HAN Xiaojing 1/1
Mr. SHI Zi 1/1
Mr. ZHOU Hao 1/1
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Remuneration Committee

As of the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises two executive Directors, namely Mr. HU 
Jiezhang and Mr. HUANG Kun, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. HAN Xiaojing, Mr. SHI Zi 
and Mr. ZHOU Hao. Mr. HAN Xiaojing is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company. The Remuneration Committee’s duties and powers include, among others:

(i) make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior 
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy;

(ii) review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals 
and objectives;

(iii) determine, with delegated responsibility from the Board, the remuneration packages of individual executive 
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, 
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(iv) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

(v) consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment 
conditions elsewhere in the Group, assess performance of executive Directors, approve the terms of executive 
Directors and service contracts;

(vi) review and approve the compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or 
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair 
and not excessive;

(vii) review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to 
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

(viii) ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her 
own remuneration; and

(ix) review and approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings to discuss and consider the following: (i) 
reviewing and making recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and the remuneration packages of 
the Directors and senior management; (ii) reviewing and approving the grant of Awards and Options under the Post-
IPO RSU Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme; and (iii) reviewing and approving the amendments to the 
Post-IPO RSU Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, etc.
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During the Reporting Period, the attendance of the Remuneration Committee members at the meetings is set out in 
the table below:

Name of Remuneration Committee members
Number of attendance/required 

attendance

Mr. HAN Xiaojing 2/2
Mr. HU Jiezhang 2/2
Mr. HUANG Kun 2/2
Mr. SHI Zi 2/2
Mr. ZHOU Hao 2/2
  

Material Matters Relating to Share Award Schemes

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and/or approved certain material matters 
relating to the Share Award Schemes, including (i) the proposed amendments to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme and the 
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme; (ii) the grant and cancellation of Options and the grant of RSUs in 2024. Considering 
the purpose of the Share Award Schemes and the Group’s business is undergoing rapid expansion, the Remuneration 
Committee believed that the grant and cancellation of Options and the grant of RSUs in 2024 served as important 
incentives to motivate the key employees to bring a higher return to the Company, which is in line with the purpose 
of the Share Award Schemes. In addition, as the vesting period for part of the RSUs granted in 2024 is less than 12 
months, the Remuneration Committee is of the view that the shorter vesting period enables the Company to offer 
competitive remuneration and reward packages to the RSU Grantees, on an ad hoc basis, in such circumstances 
that would be justified and reasonable, which is also consistent with the Listing Rules and the former practice of the 
Company and peer companies in the Group’s industry. Accordingly, the shorter vesting period for part of the RSUs is 
considered appropriate and aligns with the purpose of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated March 21, 2024, April 30, 2024 and July 18, 2024 for further 
details.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period is set out in Note 40 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The remuneration of senior management of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 falls under the 
following bands: 

Band of remuneration Number of individuals

Below USD200,000 2
USD200,000 to USD500,000 2
Above USD500,000 2
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements for the Reporting 
Period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results 
and cash flows.

The management has provided the Board with such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board 
to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of 
the Directors, subject to the Listing Rules, and will depend upon, among others, the financial results, cash flow, 
business conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, 
any restrictions on payment of dividends, and other factors that the Directors may consider relevant. The Company 
in general meeting may from time to time by ordinary resolution declare dividends in any currency to be paid to the 
Shareholders but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board, provided always 
that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being unable to pay its debts as 
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not have a pre-determined dividend payout ratio 
and will continue to re-evaluate our dividend policy in light of our financial condition and the prevailing economic 
environment.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or 
declared in any specific periods.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their 
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing 
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective 
risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees risk management functions directly and also 
through the Audit Committee and the senior management, and will assess the effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems at least once a year.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management, monitoring and overseeing the risk management 
and internal control systems. The senior management is responsible for the overall implementation of risk 
management and internal control plans and policies determined by the Board and managing the risks in connection 
with all of the Company’s business operations. The senior management identifies, assess and take measures against 
any significant risks that the Company is facing, and reports to the Board on a periodical basis.
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The internal control department oversees and monitors the risk management and internal control systems. It 
identifies any material risks and makes recommendations on the improvement and rectification plans and measures 
with regard to the identified issues to ensure that the planned remedial measures have been duly implemented.

The internal audit department performs the independent review on the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control with a risk-based approach and reports the review results to the Audit Committee on periodical basis.

Risk management

The Company has established a risk management system which sets out the roles and responsibilities of each 
relevant party as well as the relevant risk management policies and processes. The Company, on a regular basis, 
identifies and assesses risk factors that may negatively affect the achievement of its objectives, and formulates 
appropriate response measures.

The Company has adopted the following dynamic risk management process in response to the ever-changing risk 
landscape:

(i) Business and functional departments identify, assess, respond to risks in the course of daily operation and 
establish control measures to mitigate risks in a systematic manner.

(ii) The internal control department establishes internal control framework, provides guidance and advisory, 
oversee, assess and monitor the internal control status, and escalate concerns and communicate results to the 
senior management.

(iii) The internal audit department performs the independent review of the effectiveness of the internal 
control with a risk-based approach, and communicates any findings to the relevant parties and the 
senior management to take proper action plan. All the review results are reported to the Audit Committee 
periodically.

(iv) The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, assesses and determines the nature and level of the risks that 
the Company is willing to take in order to achieve its business objectives and formulates appropriate response 
strategies which includes designating responsible departments for handling each significant risk. The Audit 
Committee provides guidance to the Company’s management to implement effective risk management system 
with supports from the internal audit department.

Internal control

The Company has always valued the importance of the internal control systems, and has complied with the 
requirements under the CG Code and Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules.

The management of the Company is responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of the effectiveness 
of the internal control systems. The Board, assisted by the Audit Committee, is responsible for monitoring and 
overseeing the performance of management over the internal control system to ensure that it is appropriate and 
effective.

The Company’s internal control systems clearly define the roles and responsibilities of each party as well as the 
authorizations and approvals required for key actions of the Company. Policies and procedures are put in place for 
the key business processes. This information is also clearly conveyed to employees of the Company in practice and 
plays an important role in the internal control systems. All employees must strictly follow the policies which cover, 
amongst other things, financial, legal and operational issues that set the control standards for the management of 
each business process.
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In addition, the internal control department supervises the establishment of the risk management and internal 
control systems set up by the management, ensures that management has implemented appropriate measures 
and reports its independent review of risk management and internal control of the Company to the Audit Committee 
periodically.

In 2024, the Group has established the process committee (the “Process Committee”), whose goals are: 

(i) to drive improvements with a problem-solving approach, enhancing operational efficiency while controlling the 
risks; and

(ii) to identify potential risks, ensuring the long-term sustainability of the Group.

The Process Committee aims to gradually achieve the goals to address the uncertainty of the environment by using 
rigorous processes and rules.

Review of risk management and internal control

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously reviews the risk management and internal control 
systems.

The review process comprises, among other things, of meetings with management of business and functional 
departments, internal control department, legal and compliance department, and the external auditors, reviewing the 
relevant work reports and information of key performance indicators, independent internal audit review and external 
auditors’ assessment on internal control and discussing the major risks with the senior management of the Company.

The Board is of the view that throughout the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control systems of 
the Group are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions have been performed 
by staff with appropriate qualifications and experience and that such staff receive appropriate and sufficient training 
and development. Based on the work report from the Audit Committee, the Board also believes that the Company’s 
internal control and internal audit functions are adequate with sufficient resources and budget. The relevant staff 
have appropriate qualifications and experience, and receive sufficient training and development, as well as those 
relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems for the Reporting Period.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the management report and the internal audit findings by 
the internal auditor, reviewed the risk management and internal control systems, including the financial, operational 
and compliance controls, for the Reporting Period, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The 
annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences 
and relevant resources, as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting.

Arrangements are put in place to facilitate employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.
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Inside Information

The Company has also implemented proper procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination 
of inside information, including, among others, establishing a policy on the disclosure of inside information to 
ensure that all current and prospective investors of the Company, market participants and the public are provided 
with appropriate information relating to the Group in a timely and simultaneous manner. The policy has been 
communicated to all relevant staff and related training has also been provided to them.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

A whistle-blowing mechanism has been set up to encourage and allow employees to raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting, compliance, and other malpractices at the earliest opportunity. The 
Audit Committee has the overall responsibility for the management of the mechanism and has delegated day-to-day 
responsibility of overseeing and implementing such policy to the management of the Group. If any employee believes 
reasonably and in good faith that malpractice exists in the workplace, he/she should report to the management or 
Audit Committee by email immediately. All reports are treated confidentially and the Group makes every effort to keep 
the employee’s identity confidential.

Anti-corruption Training

To strengthen understanding of relevant applicable laws and regulations, training regarding ethical business conduct 
covering topics such as integrity and discipline, confidentiality and conflict of interest is provided to our employees.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The auditor’s approximate remuneration in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided to the Company for 
the Reporting Period is as follows:

Amount

Type of services (USD’000)

Audit services 802
Non-audit services 296

Total 1,098
  



77Annual Report   2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Company Secretary

Mr. ZHU Lingbo, the company secretary, senior vice president and board secretary of the Company, is responsible for 
making recommendations to the Board on corporate governance matters, and ensuring compliance with the policies 
and procedures of the Board and applicable laws, rules and regulations.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong 
Kong laws, before July 17, 2024, the Company had also engaged Ms. HO Wing Tsz Wendy, representatives of Corporate 
Services of Tricor Services Limited (a corporate service provider), as a joint company secretary of the Company to 
assist Mr. Zhu in performing his duties as the company secretary of the Company. During the Reporting Period, the 
Stock Exchange has confirmed that Mr. Zhu is qualified to act as a company secretary of the Company under Rule 3.28 
of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, Ms. Ho has resigned as a joint company secretary of the Company with effect from 
July 17, 2024, and Mr. Zhu continues to serve as the sole company secretary of the Company with effect from July 17, 
2024 following the resignation of Ms. Ho.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated July 17, 2024.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Zhu had undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in 
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor Relationship

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor 
relations and understanding of the Group’s business, performance, and strategies. The Company also recognizes the 
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information on the Company for the Shareholders and investors 
to make informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting provide opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The 
chairman of the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the annual general 
meeting to answer Shareholders’ questions. The auditor will also attend the annual general meeting to answer 
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies, 
and auditor’s independence.

To promote effective communication and to build an inter-relationship and communication channel between the 
Company and the Shareholders, the Company adopts a Shareholders’ communication policy and maintains a website 
at www.angelalign.com, where the up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and developments, 
financial information, corporate governance practices, and other information are available for public access. The 
Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy and the results 
were satisfactory.
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Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will be proposed for each issue at general 
meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll 
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each general 
meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals

Any one or more Shareholder(s) of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of voting rights, on a one vote per share basis of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition deposited at the principal office of the Company in 
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company, 
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be convened by the Company for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition and add the resolutions to the meeting agenda; and such meeting shall be held within 
21 days after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene 
such meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) or any of them 
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may do so in the same manner provided 
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the 
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to 
convene such general meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company to the Board may send their enquiries 
to the Office of the Board at the Company’s headquarters through telephone at +86 (21) 5656 1919 and email at 
investors@angelalign.com.

Amendments to Constitutional Document

There has been no change in the Articles of Association of the Company during the Reporting Period and up to the 
date of this annual report.
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“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, May 23, 2025 or 
any adjournment thereof

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

“Board Committees” collectively, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee

“Board of Directors” or “Board” the board of directors of our Company

“CareCapital Group” Mr. FENG Dai and the entities controlled by him directly or indirectly for holding 
interests in the Company under the trade name of CareCapital, including 
CareCapital Management Group LLC, CareCapital Dental Holdings Limited, 
CareCapital Moonstone Holdings Limited, CareCapital EA, Inc. and CareCapital 
Orthotech Limited

“CareCapital Holdings” CareCapital Dental Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated 
under the laws of Cayman Islands on April 15, 2015 and a controlling shareholder

“Cayman Companies Act” the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands as amended, supplemented, 
or otherwise modified from time to time

“CC Dental” Shanghai CareCapital Dental Devices Co., Ltd. (上海松佰牙科器械有限公司)

“CC Dental Group” CC Dental and its subsidiaries and associates

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

“China,” “Mainland China” or 
 “PRC”

People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report and 
for geographical reference only and except where the context requires otherwise, 
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

“Company,” “our Company,” 
 “Angelalign,” “Group,” 
 “our Group,” “we” or “us”

Angelalign Technology Inc. (時代天使科技有限公司), an exempted company 
incorporated under the laws of Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 
29, 2018, and, except where the context indicated otherwise, all of its subsidiaries, 
or with respect to the period before our Company became the holding company of 
our current subsidiaries, the business operated by our present subsidiaries or their 
predecessors (as the case may be)

“controlling shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
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“Director(s)” the director(s) of our Company

“Global Offering” the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Company

“HKD” or “HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards

“IPO” initial public offering

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained 
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board

“Post-IPO RSU Scheme” the post-IPO RSU scheme as adopted by the Company on May 20, 2021, as 
amended from time to time

“Post-IPO Share Award 
 Schemes”

collectively, the post-IPO RSU scheme and the post-IPO share option scheme as 
adopted by the Company on May 20, 2021, as amended from time to time

“Post-IPO Share Option 
 Scheme”

the post-IPO Share Option Scheme as adopted by the Company on May 20, 2021, 
as amended from time to time

“Pre-IPO Share Award 
 Schemes”

collectively, the share award scheme I, the share award scheme II and the share 
award scheme III as adopted by the Company in December 2020, as amended from 
time to time

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated June 3, 2021

“R&D” research and development

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board
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“Reporting Period” the year ended December 31, 2024

“RMB” the lawful currency of the PRC

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as 
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Shanghai EA” Shanghai EA Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (上海時代天使醫療器械有限公
司), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 
September 5, 2011 and an wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a par value of US$0.0001 
each

“Share Award Schemes” the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes and the Post-IPO Share Award Schemes

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of our Share(s)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Substantial Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“United States” the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject 
to its jurisdiction

“USD” or “US$” US dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

“Wuxi EA” Wuxi EA Medical Instruments Technologies Limited (無錫時代天使醫療器械科技有
限公司), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 
February 10, 2010 and an wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
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To the shareholders of Angelalign Technology Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Angelalign Technology Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), 
which are set out on pages 89 to 184, comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other 
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at December 31, 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

• Measurement of revenue from rendering of clear aligner treatment solutions

• Allocation of contract prices to different performance obligations of revenue from sales of clear aligners

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Measurement of revenue from rendering of clear aligner 
treatment solutions

Refer to Note 2.2.9(a), 4(a) and Note 5 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue of the 
Group from rendering of clear aligner treatment solutions 
amounted to USD179,625,000 representing approximately 
67% of the Group’s total revenue.

Revenue from rendering of clear aligner treatment 
solutions is recognized over time by reference to the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of respective 
performance obligations during the reporting period. 
The progress towards complete satisfaction of the 
performance obligation is measured using output method 
by reference to the value of deliverables transferred (i.e. 
treatment planning service provided and clear aligners 
delivered) to customers to date relative to the remaining 
value of deliverables promised under each contract.

To address this key audit matter, we performed audit 
procedures as follows:

(i) Understood, evaluated and tested on sample basis 
the key internal controls over the recognition of 
revenue from rendering of clear aligner treatment 
solutions and assessed the inherent risk of 
material misstatement by considering the degree 
of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk 
factors.

(ii) Assessed the reasonableness of management’s 
judgements and estimates used to determine the 
value of deliverables transferred to customer and 
the estimated total number of clear aligners applied 
in the output method with reference to the terms 
of contracts with customers, standalone contract 
prices of treatment planning service and clear 
aligners in each contract, historical experience 
and actual number of clear aligners delivered for 
completed cases.

(iii) Tested the actual number of clear aligners delivered 
for the completed cases on sample basis by tracing 
to the sales contracts and delivery notes to test the 
reliability of historical data used.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Measurement of revenue from rendering of clear 
aligner treatment solutions (Continued)

The value of deliverables is determined with reference 
to the standalone contract price of treatment planning 
service and clear aligners and the estimated total 
number of clear aligners to be provided under each 
contract, which is estimated based on the historical 
number of clear aligners delivered for completed cases.

S i g n i f i c a n t  m a n a g e m e n t ’ s  j u d g e m e n t s  a n d 
estimation are required in determining the accuracy 
of the progress towards complete satisfaction of 
the performance obligation of each contract at 
the reporting date, including value of deliverables 
transferred to customer and estimated total number 
of clear aligners promised in each contract, which 
are subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty. 
Therefore, measurement of revenue from rendering of 
clear aligner treatment solutions is considered a key 
audit matter.

(iv) Compared the total number of clear aligners 
actually delivered for completed cases against 
management’s prior estimations to assess the 
reasonableness of management’s historical 
estimation on the estimated total number of clear 
aligners to be delivered.

(v) Tested, on sample basis, the treatment planning 
service provided and number of clear aligners 
delivered to customers in the year by tracing to 
the supporting documents, such as the sales 
contracts, customers’ acceptance records and 
delivery notes.

(vi) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculation of the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Based on the results of the work performed above, 
we found management’s judgements and estimates 
involved in measurement of revenue from rendering 
of clear aligner treatment solutions were supported 
by available evidences.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Allocation of contract prices to different performance 
obligations of revenue from sales of clear aligners

Refer to Note 2.2.9(b), 4(a) and Note 5 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue of the 
Group from sales of clear aligners with multiple distinct 
performance obligations amounted to USD74,008,000 
representing approximately 28% of the Group’s total 
revenue.

The Group enters into sales contracts that consist of 
multiple distinct performance obligations: initial aligners 
and the options of additional aligners. Certain performance 
obligations of the sales contract are not delivered in 
one reporting period. The management determines the 
allocation of contract prices to individual performance 
obligation with reference to the terms of contracts with 
customers, the historical exercise of options and number 
of clear aligners delivered in each performance obligation.

To address this key audit matter, we performed audit 
procedures as follows:

(i) Understood, evaluated and tested on sample basis 
the key internal controls over the recognition of 
revenue from sales of clear aligners with multiple 
distinct performance obligations and assessed 
the inherent risk of material misstatement by 
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and 
other inherent risk factors.

(ii) Assessed the reasonableness of management’s 
judgements and estimates used to determine 
the allocation of contract prices to individual 
performance obligations with reference to the terms 
of contracts with customers, the historical exercise 
of options and number of clear aligners delivered in 
each performance obligation.

(iii) Tested the historical exercise of options and 
actual number of clear aligners delivered in each 
performance obligation on sample basis by tracing 
to the sales contracts and delivery notes to test the 
reliability of historical data used.

(iv) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculation of the allocation of contract prices to 
different performance obligations. 

(v) Compared the allocation of contract prices to 
individual performance obligations against 
management’s prior estimations to assess the 
reasonableness of management’s historical 
estimation on the allocation.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Allocation of contract prices to different performance 
obligations of revenue from sales of clear aligners 
(Continued)

Significant management’s judgements and estimation 
are required in determining the accuracy of allocation of 
contract prices to each distinct performance obligation 
including significant assumptions related to exercise of 
options and estimated number of clear aligners in each 
performance obligation, which are subject to high degree 
of estimation uncertainty. Therefore, allocation of contract 
prices to different performance obligations of revenue 
from sales of clear aligners is considered a key audit 
matter.

Based on the results of the work performed above, we 
found management’s judgements and estimates involved 
in allocation of contract prices to different performance 
obligations of revenue from sales of clear aligners were 
supported by available evidences.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of 
the information included in Angelalign Technology Inc. 2024 annual report (the “annual report”) other than the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some of the other information 
including the results highlights, management discussion and analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The 
remaining other information, including the corporate information, chairman’s letter, chief executive officer’s letter, 
directors and senior management, report of the directors, corporate governance report and the other sections to be 
included in the annual report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.
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Other Information (Continued)

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the annual report, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take appropriate 
action considering our legal rights and obligations.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work 
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chan Hong Wing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, March 20, 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
Note USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Revenue 5 268,787 209,616
Cost of revenue 7 (100,559) (78,908)

Gross profit 168,228 130,708
Selling and marketing expenses 7 (105,004) (70,068)
Administrative expenses 7 (46,210) (39,755)
Research and development expenses 7 (21,323) (24,645)
Net impairment losses on financial assets 3.1 (b) (150) (651)
Other income 6 12,451 4,798
Other expenses 6 (143) –
Other losses – net 6 (1,568) (4,313)

Operating profit/(loss) 6,281 (3,926)

Finance income 9 7,000 13,586
Finance costs 9 (1,542) (1,149)

Finance income – net 9 5,458 12,437
Share of results of investments accounted for using the equity 
 method 20 (72) 65

Profit before income tax 11,667 8,576
Income tax expense 10 (1,651) (1,743)

Profit for the year 10,016 6,833

Profit attributable to
– Owners of the Company 12,114 7,530
– Non-controlling interests (2,098) (697)

10,016 6,833
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of the Company 
 and of subsidiaries  attributable non-controlling interests 1,101 2,981

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of subsidiaries (7,170) (5,608)

(6,069) (2,627)

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,947 4,206

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
– Owners of the Company 7,866 4,309
– Non-controlling interests (3,919) (103)

3,947 4,206

Earnings per share for profit attributable to owners of the 
 Company (expressed in USD per share)
– Basic 11 0.07 0.04

– Diluted 11 0.07 0.04

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.



90 Angelalign Technology Inc.    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at As at As at
December 31, December 31, January 1,

2024 2023 2023
Note USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

(Restated) (Restated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 75,295 60,548 49,868
Right-of-use assets 13 17,924 14,011 11,769
Intangible assets 14 18,365 22,539 2,327
Investments accounted for using the 
 equity method 20 5,237 2,721 2,074
Deferred tax assets 31 7,491 5,329 2,742
Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss 19 38,615 35,534 17,406
Term deposits with initial terms 
 over three months 19 14,345 – –
Trade and other receivables and 
 prepayments 16 9,167 5,850 2,175

186,439 146,532 88,361

Current assets
Inventories 18 18,360 13,454 16,247
Trade and other receivables and 
 prepayments 16 36,384 25,977 15,546
Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss 19 97,778 105,904 –
Restricted cash 17 99 – –
Term deposits with initial terms over 
 three months 17 111,948 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 17 227,103 379,734 523,989

491,672 525,069 555,782

Total assets 678,111 671,601 644,143

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of 
 the Company
Share capital 21 17 17 17
Share premium 21 415,426 439,086 458,460
Shares held for employee share scheme 21 * * (158)
Other reserves 22 (17,835) (35,577) (4,266)
Retained earnings 24 76,495 67,546 63,847

474,103 471,072 517,900

Non-controlling interests 6,139 10,058 (685)

Total equity 480,242 481,130 517,215

*  The balance represents an amount less than USD1,000.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

As at As at As at
December 31, December 31, January 1,

2024 2023 2023
Note USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

(Restated) (Restated)

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities 28 21,168 10,087 8,000
Lease liabilities 29 6,959 4,284 2,133
Deferred income 30 4,240 4,766 4,481
Deferred tax liabilities 31 2,553 3,850 105
Bank borrowings 26 488 886 –
Other non-current liabilities 27 34,368 42,479 –

69,776 66,352 14,719

Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 26 2,860 1,564 –
Trade and other payables 25 63,432 52,976 52,496
Contract liabilities 28 56,672 63,619 51,641
Current income tax liabilities 953 3,477 5,832
Lease liabilities 29 4,176 2,483 1,916
Deferred income 30 – – 324

128,093 124,119 112,209

Total liabilities 197,869 190,471 126,928

Total equity and liabilities 678,111 671,601 644,143

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 89 to 184 were approved by the Board of Directors on March 20, 2025 and were 
signed on its behalf.

  
Mr. Hu Jiezhang Ms. Dong Li

Director Director



92 Angelalign Technology Inc.    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share 
capital

Share
 premium

Shares 
held for 

employee 
share 

scheme
Other

reserves
Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total 

equity
Note USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

        

Balance at January 1, 2024  (Restated) 17 439,086 * (35,577) 67,546 471,072 10,058 481,130
        

Comprehensive income
 Profit for the year – – – – 12,114 12,114 (2,098) 10,016
 Other comprehensive income
   – Currency translation differences – – – (4,248) – (4,248) (1,821) (6,069)

        

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year – – – (4, 248) 12,114 7,866 (3,919) 3,947

        

Transactions with owners in their 
 capacity as owners
 Changes in put option liabilities in 
  respect of non-controlling interests 27 – – – 7,698 – 7,698 – 7,698
 New shares issued for options
   exercised 21(a)(i) * 307 – (163) – 144 – 144
 Repurchase and cancellation of shares 21(a)(iv) * (130) – – – (130) – (130)
 Shares issued for restricted share 
  award scheme 21(a)(ii) – – * – – * – * 
 Equity-settled share-based payment 
  transactions 23 – – – 11,290 – 11,290 – 11,290
 Appropriation to statutory reserves 22 – – – 3,165 (3,165) – – –
 Dividends declared 21(a)(iii) – (23,837) – – – (23,837) – (23,837)

        

Total transactions with owners in 
 their capacity as owners * (23,660) * 21,990 (3,165) (4,835) – (4,835)

        

Balance at December 31, 2024 17 415,426 * (17,835) 76,495 474,103 6,139 480,242
        

* The balance represents an amount less than USD1,000.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Attributable to owners of the Company 

 Share 
capital

Share
 premium

Shares 
held for 

employee 
share 

scheme
Other

reserves
Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total 

equity
Note USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000        

Balance at January 1, 2023 (Restated) 17 458,460 (158) (4,266) 63,847 517,900 (685) 517,215

Comprehensive income
 Profit for the year – – – – 7,530 7,530 (697) 6,833
 Other comprehensive income
  – Currency translation differences – – – (3,221) – (3,221) 594 (2,627)

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year – – – (3,221) 7,530 4,309 (103) 4,206

Transactions with owners in their 
 capacity as owners
 Non-controlling interests arising from 
  acquisition of a subsidiary – – – – – – 10,846 10,846
 Recognition of put option liabilities 
  arising from business combinations – – – (33,162) – (33,162) – (33,162)
 Changes in put option liabilities in 
  respect of non-controlling interests – – – (8,551) – (8,551) – (8,551)
 New shares issued for options
   exercised * 461 – (245) – 216 – 216
 Repurchase and cancellation of shares * (5,004) – – – (5,004) – (5,004)
 Transfer of shares held for employee 
  share scheme upon vesting – – 158 (158) – – – –
 Shares issued for restricted share 
  award scheme – – * – – * – *
 Equity-settled share-based payment 
  transactions 23 – – – 10,195 – 10,195 – 10,195
 Appropriation to statutory reserves 22 – – – 3,831 (3,831) – – –
 Dividends declared – (14,831) – – – (14,831) – (14,831)

Total transactions with owners in 
 their capacity as owners * (19,374) 158 (28,090) (3,831) (51,137) 10,846 (40,291)

Balance at December 31, 2023 (Restated) 17 439,086 * (35,577) 67,546 471,072 10,058 481,130          

* The balance represents an amount less than USD1,000.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
Note USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 34(a) 24,175 29,108
Income tax paid (7,258) (6,820)

Net cash generated from operating activities 16,917 22,288

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (27,436) (13,390)
Purchases of intangible assets (855) (2,359)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 34(a) 589 568
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 (602,921) (849,128)
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss 19 607,895 719,784
Purchase of term deposit with initial terms over three months (383,802) (70,000)
Proceeds from term deposit with initial terms over three months 258,757 70,000
Consideration paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries, net of 
 cash acquired (514) (3,753)
Investment in an associate 20 (706) –
Investment in a joint venture 20 (2,111) –
Proceeds from disposal of  a joint venture 21 –
Consideration paid for the derivative financial asset 19 – (870)
Loans provided to third parties (3,891) –
Loans provided to employees – (14,490)
Proceeds of loans repaid by employees 964 10,200
Interest received 15,185 14,677

Net cash used in investing activities (138,825) (138,761)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from new shares issued for options exercised 144 216
Payments for shares bought back 21(a) (130) (5,004)
Dividend paid (23,837) (14,831)
Proceeds from a bank borrowing 49,888 –
Repayments of bank borrowings (48,422) (3,223)
Borrowing interest paid (746) (771)
Principal elements of lease payments (4,698) (2,321)
Interest paid of lease liabilities (659) (378)

Net cash used in financing activities (28,460) (26,312)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (150,368) (142,785)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 379,734 523,989
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents (2,263) (1,470)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 227,103 379,734

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General information

Angelalign Technology Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on November 29, 2018 as an 
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and 
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Maples Corporate Services Limited, P.O. 
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) 
are principally engaged in the clear aligner treatment solutions and sales of aligners. CareCapital Group is the 
ultimate holder of the Company which controls the business of the Group through CareCapital Orthotech Limited 
(“CareCapital Orthotech”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Company completed its Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) and listed its shares on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”) on June 16, 2021.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 were presented in United States 
Dollar (“USD”) and rounded to the nearest thousand dollar, unless otherwise stated, and were approved for issue 
by the Board of Directors on March 20, 2025.

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information

This note provides the basis of preparation and accounting policy information adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622 (“HKCO”)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRS 
Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the HKCO.

(b) During the year December 31, 2024, the Group changed the presentation currency for the financial statements 
of the Group from Renminbi (“RMB”) to United States Dollar (“USD”). To align with the Group’s globalization 
strategy, the directors of the Group considered that the change of presentation currency of the financial 
statements to USD would enable the shareholders and potential investors of the Company to have a more direct 
and clearer picture of the Group’s results, financial positions and cash flows in its financial statements. For the 
purpose of presenting the Group’s consolidated financial statements in USD, all the assets and liabilities for the 
consolidated balance sheet have been translated from their functional currency into USD at the relevant closing 
rates of exchange at the end of the reporting period. Items in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and the consolidated statement of cash flows are translated at the average exchange rates for the 
financial period. The share capital and reserves are translated at historical rates prevailing at the dates of 
transactions. 

The change in the presentation currency have been applied retrospectively with comparative figures restated. 
The Group presents an additional consolidated balance sheet as at January 1, 2023 due to the change of 
presentation currency in accordance with IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(c) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (financial assets at “FVPL”), which is measured at fair value.

(d) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting 
period commencing January 1, 2024:

Effective for 
annual periods 

beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or 
 non-current

January 1, 2024

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants January 1, 2024
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback January 1, 2024
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier finance arrangements January 1, 2024

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods and are not 
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

(e) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards have been published that are not 
mandatory for December 31, 2024 reporting period and have not been early adopted by the Group. As at the date 
of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group is still in the process of assessing the effects 
of adopting these new standards and amendments to standards and has not identified any significant effect on 
its financial statements, except for IFRS 18 which will have pervasive impact on presentation and disclosure in 
the financial statements, in particularly those related to the statement of financial performance. The Group will 
continue to assess the effects of these new and amended standards.

Effective for 
 accounting periods 
beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability January 1, 2025
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Standards January 1, 2026
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 

 Statements
January 1, 2027

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2 Material accounting policy information
2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The Group controls 
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date 
when control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combination by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statements of financial position 
respectively.

Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is 
generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. The Group’s investments 
in associates in the form of ordinary shares with significant influence are accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting, after initially being recognized at cost. All investments in associates in the form of convertible 
redeemable preferred instruments or ordinary shares with preferential rights are financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or loss (Note 2.2.5).

Joint arrangements
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. The classification 
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint 
arrangement. The Group has joint ventures only.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being recognized at cost in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter 
to recognize the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the 
Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of the investee in OCI. Dividends received 
or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the 
investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, 
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)

Equity method (Continued)
Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy 
described in Note 2.2.4.

Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or 
received is recognized in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Group.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, joint 
control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the 
change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for 
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial 
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity 
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This might mean that 
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is 
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of 
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and 
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 
investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend 
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying 
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.2.2 Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost 
to their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Estimated 
 useful lives

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Transportation equipment 5-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10 years
  

See Note 2.3.3 for the other potentially material accounting policies relevant to property, plant and equipment.

2.2.3 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized but it is 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might 
be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an 
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is 
made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the 
goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes.

(b) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets mainly include customer relationship, brand, and technology. They are initially recognized 
and measured at cost or estimated fair value of intangible assets acquired through business combinations. Other 
intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives (generally 5 to 10 years) using the straight-line 
method which reflects the pattern in which the intangible assets’ future economic benefits are expected to be 
consumed.

Estimated 
useful lives

Customer relationship 6 years
Brand 10 years
Technology 10 years
  

See Note 2.3.4 for the other potentially material accounting policies relevant to intangible assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.2.4 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount might not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of goodwill impairment assessment, management 
considered each of the acquired companies as a separate group of CGU and goodwill has been allocated to each 
of the acquired companies accordingly. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of the year.

2.2.5 Investments and other financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI), or through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be recorded either in profit or loss or in OCI. For 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made 
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to present subsequent changes in fair value in other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, being the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.2.5 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction 
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their 
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset 
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group 
classifies its debt instruments:

• Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in “Other (losses)/gains – net” 
together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or 
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When 
the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss and recognized in “Other (losses)/gains – net”. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in “Finance income” using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses are presented in “Other (losses)/gains – net”, and impairment expenses are presented as 
separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income.

• FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss 
on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and presented 
net within “Other (losses)/gains – net” in the period in which it arises.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments 
carried at amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(b) details how the Group determines whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e., the present value of all cash 
shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.2.5 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. The provision matrix is determined 
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the contract assets and trade receivables 
with similar credit risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date the 
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Impairment on other receivables from third parties, related parties and non-controlling interests are measured 
as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a 
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.

2.2.6 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services provided in the ordinary course of business. If 
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle if longer), 
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless 
they contain significant financing components, in which case they are recognized at fair value. The Group holds 
the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them 
subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. See Note 16 for further information about 
the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.2.7 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based 
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
end of the year in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will 
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances based on either the most likely 
amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the 
uncertainty.
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2.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.2.7 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, 
deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income 
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss 
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilize 
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in Group’s entities where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in 
OCI or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in OCI or directly in equity, respectively.

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets 
or in relation to qualifying expenditure (e.g., the Research and Development Tax Incentive regime in the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”) or other investment allowances). The Group accounts for such allowances as tax 
credits, which means that the allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax expense.

2.2.8 Share-based payments
The Group operates share incentive plan, under which it receives services from employees as consideration for 
equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the 
equity instruments (including share options) is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity.

In terms of the shares, equity instruments awarded to employees, the total amount to be expensed is determined 
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted:

• including any market performance conditions (for example, the entity’s share price)

• excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, 
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period), and
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2.2.8 Share-based payments (Continued)

• including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save or 
holdings shares for a specific period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of equity 
instruments that are expected to vest.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting 
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options 
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. The Group recognizes the 
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of the grant date and therefore 
the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes of recognizing the expense during the period between 
service commencement period and grant date.

The grant by the Company of equity instruments over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiaries 
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by 
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognized over the vesting period as an increase to investments in 
subsidiaries, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

When the share options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital and share premium.

Where there is any modification of terms and conditions which increases the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted, the Group includes the incremental fair value granted in the measurement of the amount recognized 
for the services received over the remainder of the vesting period. The incremental fair value is the difference 
between the fair value of the modified equity instrument and that of the original equity instrument, both 
estimated as at the date of the modification. An expense based on the incremental fair value is recognized over 
the period from the modification date to the date when the modified equity instruments vest in addition to any 
amount in respect of the original instrument, which should continue to be recognized over the remainder of the 
original vesting period. Furthermore, if the entity modifies the terms or conditions of the equity instruments 
granted in a manner that reduces the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is not 
otherwise beneficial to the employee, the entity shall nevertheless continue to account for the services received 
as consideration for the equity instruments granted as if that modification had not occurred (other than a 
cancellation of some or all the equity instruments granted).

2.2.9 Revenue recognition
The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the goods or services to a customer. Depending on 
the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods and services may be 
transferred over time or at point in time.
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2.2.9 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(a) Revenue from rendering clear aligner treatment solutions

The Group’s clear aligner treatment solutions provided in Mainland China typically comprise deliverables 
including treatment planning service and clear aligners which were transferred to the Group’s customers 
by batches. The above deliverables as a whole in each solution service contract represent one performance 
obligation to the Group’s customers. Since the Group’s clear aligner treatment solutions do not create an 
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date, revenue in respect of clear aligner treatment solutions is recognized over time during the 
period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of respective performance 
obligations. The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured by reference 
to the value of deliverables transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining deliverables promised 
under each contract, which best depicts the Group’s performance in satisfying the performance obligation.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, 
before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, the Group presents the contract as a contract 
liability when the payment is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the 
Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or 
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A right to consideration is 
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

In addition to direct sales, the Group’s clear aligner treatment solutions are also distributed to public hospitals 
and private dental clinics through third-party distributors. These distributors possess the requisite business 
licenses and permits to sell medical devices in Mainland China and have established relationships with public 
hospitals and private dental clinics within their regions, therefore they are treated as the vendors of public 
hospitals and private dental clinics. The Group recognized its revenue from rendering clear aligner treatment 
solutions based on the wholesale prices as agreed with distributors.

As the delivery of the performance obligations are at the customer’s discretion, management of the Group 
concludes that no significant financing component exists although the Group collects most consideration 
upfront.

(b) Revenue from sales of clear aligners with multiple distinct performance obligations
The Group’s sales contracts of aligners with multiple distinct performance obligations comprise the following 
performance obligations that also represent distinct deliverables: initial aligners and the options of additional 
aligners.

The Group identify a performance obligation as distinct if both of the following criteria are met: the customer can 
benefit from the good either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer 
and the Group’s promise to transfer the good to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in 
the contract. Determining the allocation of contract prices to different performance obligations of revenue from 
sales of clear aligners at the inception of the contract is the result of various factors with reference to the terms 
of contracts with customers, the historical exercise of options and number of clear aligners delivered in each 
performance obligation.
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2.2.9 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(b) Revenue from sales of clear aligners with multiple distinct performance obligations (Continued)

The Group recognizes the revenue at point in time when control of the products has been transferred, being when 
the products are accepted by the customers. As the delivery of the performance obligations are at the customer’s 
discretion, management of the Group concludes that no significant financing component exists although the 
Group collects most consideration upfront.

(c) Revenue from sales of other products
The Group’s revenue from sales of products mainly represents revenue from sales of intraoral scanners, 
brackets, and other products to hospitals, dental clinics and distributors.

Revenue from sales of intraoral scanners, brackets and other products is recognized at point in time when 
control of the products has been transferred, being when the products are accepted by the customers.

The rights to receive consideration for products which have been transferred to and accepted by the customer 
(and such rights depend on factors other than the passage of time) are recognized as contract assets. 

There is no significant financing component as most consideration is collected upfront and related contracts are 
expected to be completed within one year.

(d) Revenue from rendering other services
The Group’s revenue from rendering other services mainly represents revenue from clinic services provided 
by the dental clinics. The patient normally receives out-patient treatment which contains various treatment 
components. Dental clinic services include (i) rendering of orthodontic and cosmetic dentistry services and (ii) 
rendering of other dental services. The Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation on 
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Revenue from rendering of orthodontic and cosmetic dentistry services is recognized over time as the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s services. The progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured by reference to the value of deliverables 
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining deliverables promised under each contract, which 
best depicts the Group’s performance in satisfying the performance obligation.

Revenue from rendering other dental services is recognized when the services have been rendered. Such dental 
services are generally completed within a very short period and the Group recognized revenue when the Group 
has satisfied its performance obligation and has present right to receive related consideration.

There is no significant financing component as most consideration is collected upfront and related contracts are 
expected to be completed within one year.

(e) Volume discounts
The Group offers volume discounts to distributors and estimates the volume discounts on a quarterly basis based on its best 
estimate to the extent that it is highly probable that there will not be a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognised.
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2.2.10 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations which are not under common 
control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for 
the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

• fair values of the assets transferred

• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

• equity interests issued by the Group

• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and

• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, 
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognizes any 
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. The Group elected 
to recognize the non-controlling interests at its proportionate share of the acquired net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

• consideration transferred

• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less 
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognized directly 
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase, the difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted 
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing 
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under 
comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising 
from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss.
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2.2.11 Put option arrangement on non-controlling interest

Put option on non-controlling interest of the Group are financial instruments granted by the Group which permit 
the holders to put back to the Group their shares in certain non wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group for cash 
or other financial instruments when certain conditions are met. If the Group does not have the unconditional 
right to avoid delivering cash or other financial instruments under the put option, a financial liability is initially 
recognized under “Other financial liabilities” in the consolidated financial statements at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows on exercise under the put option. Subsequently, if the Group revises its estimates 
of payments, the Group will adjust the carrying amount of the financial liability to reflect actual and revised 
estimated cash outflows. The Group will recalculate the carrying amount based on the present value of revised 
estimated future cash outflows at the financial instrument’s original effective interest rate and the adjustment 
will be recognized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. In the event that the put option expires 
unexercised, the liability is derecognized with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The put option liabilities are current liabilities unless the put option first becomes exercisable 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period.

2.3 Other potentially material accounting policy information
2.3.1 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources, assessing 
performance of the operating segments, and has been identified as the executive directors of the Company that 
make strategic decisions.

2.3.2 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The 
functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”) and the functional currency of the Group’s 
primary subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
USD.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and 
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange 
rates, are generally recognized in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash 
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign 
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income on a net basis within “Other (losses)/gains – net”.
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2.3 Other potentially material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.3.2 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at 
fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary 
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss as 
part of the fair value gain or loss, and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified 
as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in other comprehensive income.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of Group’s entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for the statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the date of that statement of financial position

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange 
rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transaction), and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognized in OCI.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of 
the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of 
the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

2.3.3 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, net of any impairment 
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost 
might also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency 
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate 
asset is derecognized when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

The leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lease term.
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2.3 Other potentially material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.3.3 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Construction-in-progress (“CIP”) represents plant and machinery and leasehold improvements under 
construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of 
construction and acquisition and capitalized borrowing costs. No provision for depreciation is made on CIP 
until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets concerned 
are available for use, the cost are transferred to relevant categories of property, plant and equipment and 
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amounts. These are 
included in profit or loss.

2.3.4 Intangible assets
(a) Software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. These costs are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives from 5 to 25 years, which are the shorter of their expected economic benefit life and their contractual 
periods. Costs associated with maintenance of software programme is recognized as expenses as incurred.

(b) Patents
Expenditure on acquired patents is capitalized at historical cost upon acquisition. These costs are amortized 
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 20 years, which are the shorter of their 
expected economic benefit life and their contractual periods.
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2.3.4 Intangible assets (Continued)
(c) Research and development

Research expenditure is recognized as expenses as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable 
to the design and testing of identifiable and unique intangible asset controlled by the Group are recognized as 
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use

• management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it

• there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset

• it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 
intangible asset are available, and

• the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet those criteria are recognized as expenses as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognized as expenses are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.

Capitalized development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortized from the point at which the 
asset is ready for use. During the year, there were no development costs meeting these criteria and capitalized 
as intangible assets.

2.3.5 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of financial position 
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally 
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of 
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity or the counterparty.
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2.3.6 Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date when a derivative contract is entered into, and 
they are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for 
subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, 
if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group have no derivative is designated as a hedging instrument. 
Changes in the fair value of derivative instrument are recognized immediately in profit or loss and are included in 
“Other (losses)/gains – net”.

2.3.7 Inventories
Inventories comprise of raw materials, work in progress and finished goods, which are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable 
and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Cost is 
determined using the weighted average method. Costs of purchased inventories are determined after deducting 
rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.3.8 Contract assets and contract liabilities
Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the 
customer and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the customer. The 
combination of those rights and performance obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on 
the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance obligations. The contract is an asset and 
recognized as contract assets if the measure of the remaining rights exceeds the measure of the remaining 
performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability and recognized as contract liabilities if the 
measure of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining rights.

2.3.9 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash on hand, demand deposits held with financial institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less hat are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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2.3.10 Share capital and shares held for employee share scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity instruments, for example as the result of a share 
buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental 
costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the Company as treasury 
shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any 
consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax 
effects, is included in equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

The consideration paid by the Company for repurchasing its shares from shareholders for employee share 
scheme purpose, including any directly attributable incremental cost, is presented as “shares held for employee 
share scheme” and deducted from total equity.

2.3.11 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the 
grants will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in the profit or loss over the period necessary 
to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. For government grants related to income, 
where the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses to be incurred in the subsequent periods, the 
grant is recognized as deferred income, and recognized in the profit or loss over the periods in which the related 
costs are incurred; where the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses already incurred by the 
Group, the grant is recognized in the profit or loss.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current 
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of 
the related assets.

2.3.12 Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial 
period which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured. Trade and other payables are presented as current 
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognized initially at 
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be approximate to their fair values, due to 
their short-term nature.
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2.3.13 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down 
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the 
fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it 
relates.

Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognized in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of at the end of the reporting period, the Group 
has a right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before the end of the reporting period, are considered 
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required 
to comply with after the reporting period do not affect the classification at the reporting date.

2.3.14 Borrowings costs
General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset 
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings, pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets, is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. Other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

2.3.15 Employee benefits
(a) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave 
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related services are recognized in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the year and are measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current 
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated statements of financial position.
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.3 Other potentially material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.3.15 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Employment obligations

Pension obligations
The Group only operates defined contribution pension plans. In accordance with the rules and regulations in 
Mainland China, Hong Kong and other jurisdictions, employees of the Group participate in various defined 
contribution retirement benefit plans organized by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in these 
jurisdictions under which the Group are required to make monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a 
percentage of the employees’ salaries. The relevant municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume 
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees’ payable under the plans described 
above. Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement 
and other post-retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are held separately from those of 
the Group in independently administrated funds managed by the governments.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement scheme are expensed as incurred.

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances
Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various government-supervised housing funds, 
medical insurance and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these 
funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s 
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions payable in each year. Contributions to the housing 
funds, medical insurances and other social insurances are expensed as incurred.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement 
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group 
recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw 
the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope 
of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the 
offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the year are discounted to their present value.

(c) Bonus plan
The expected cost of bonuses is recognized as a liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation for payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within one year and are measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

2.3.16 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has 
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of 
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.3 Other potentially material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.3.16 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditures expected 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the year. The discount rate used to determine the present 
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the liability. The increase in the provisions due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

2.3.17 Earnings per share
(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

• the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary 
shares

• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account:

• the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, and

• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.3.18 Interest income
Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective interest method is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash 
management purposes. Interest income from other financial assets is presented as other income. 

2.3.19 Leases
The Group leases various properties for operation. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 
1 to 8 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants.

Leases are recognized as right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.3 Other potentially material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.3.19 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include 
the net present value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 
the commencement date,

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees,

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option,

• lease payments to be made under an extension option if the group is reasonably certain to exercise the 
option, and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have 
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

• where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, 
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by 
the Group, which does not have recent third party financing, and

• makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortizing loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through recent financing or 
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting 
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

• any initial direct costs, and

• restoration costs.
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policy information (Continued)

2.3 Other potentially material accounting policy information (Continued)
2.3.19 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on 
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line 
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liabilities are presented as cash flows from financing 
activities and cash payments for the interest portion are consistent with presentation of interest payments.

2.3.20 Dividend distribution
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorized and no longer at the 
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the year but not distributed at the end of the year.

3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s 
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the senior management of the Group.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets and liabilities are 
denominated in a currency that is not the group entities’ functional currency. The Group’s businesses are 
principally conducted in RMB, USD, Brazilian Real (“BRL”) and European Dollar (“EUR”). Since the Group operates 
its business in different countries/regions, i.e Mainland China, Europe, United States, etc., the functional 
currency of its subsidiaries varies. The Group is subject to foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial 
transactions and recognized assets and liabilities which are denominated in foreign currencies and net 
investment in foreign operations.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates. 
Cash repatriation from the PRC are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated 
by the PRC government. The Group did not have other significant exposure to foreign exchange risk.



119Annual Report   2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities that are not denominated in the 
functional currencies of respective group entities at the respective dates of consolidated statements of financial 
position are as follows:

As at 
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Assets
USD 249,193 280,698
EUR 8,576 11,270
Others 735 1,207

258,504 293,175

Liabilities
USD 1,365 1,108
EUR 157 327
Others 2,720 -

4,242 1,435
   

Since the HKD/USD exchange rate is pegged, the Group is primarily exposed to changes in RMB/USD and USD/
EUR exchange rates.

As at December 31, 2024, for the PRC subsidiaries with functional currency as RMB, if USD had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables held constant, the pre-tax profit would have been 
approximately USD2,485,000 higher/lower for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023 (restated): USD1,193,000 
higher/lower).

For the other countries subsidiaries with functional currency as USD, if EUR had strengthened/weakened 
by 5% against USD with all other variables held constant, the pre-tax profit would have been approximately 
USD422,000 higher/lower for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023 (restated): USD564,000 higher/lower).

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets except for loans receivables, details of which have 
been disclosed in Note 16, cash and cash equivalents, term deposits with initial terms over three months and 
restricted cash, details of which have been disclosed in Note 17 and wealth management products, details of 
which have been disclosed in Note 19. The directors of the Company do not anticipate that there is any significant 
impact to interest-bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest rates, because the interest rates of 
interest-bearing assets are not expected to change significantly.

The Group has exposure to the risk of change in market interest rate in relation to its interest-bearing bank loans. 
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The interest rates and the 
terms of repayment of borrowings and disclosed in Note 26.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group closely monitors trend of interest rate and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk exposure. The 
Group currently has not used any interest rate swap arrangements.

(iii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly arising from investments held by the Group that are classified 
FVPL. To manage its price risk arising from the investments, the Group diversify its investment portfolio. 
The investments are made either for strategic purposes, or for the purpose of achieving investment yield 
and balancing the Group’s liquidity level simultaneously. Each investment is managed by management on a 
case-by-case basis.

Sensitivity analysis is performed by management to assess the exposure of the Group’s financial results to equity 
price risk of FVPL at the end of each reporting period.

(b) Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade and other receivables and cash deposits at banks. The 
carrying amounts of each class of the above financial assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk in relation to the corresponding class of financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with cash deposits at banks since they are 
substantially deposited at state-owned banks and other medium or large size listed banks. Management does 
not expect that there will be any significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group’s trade receivables are mainly from providing clear aligner treatment solutions and sales from 
aligners to hospitals, clinics and distributors. The Group implemented policies to ensure that sales are made to 
customers with an appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of down payments. The Group also 
has other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, 
the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivables to ensure that adequate 
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit 
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers, without any single customer 
contributing material revenue.

For other financial assets at amortized cost, management makes periodic collective assessments as well as 
individual assessment on the recoverability of such receivables based on historical settlement records and past 
experience.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the year. To assess whether there is a 
significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the 
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and 
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

• internal credit rating

• external credit rating

• actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations

• actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor, and

• significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the debtor, including changes in the 
payment status of debtors in the Group and changes in the operating results of the debtor.

(i) Trade receivables
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which 
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit 
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before the end 
of the reporting period and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within these periods. The 
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance provision is determined as follows. The expected credit losses below also incorporate forward 
looking information.

Within 
a year

1 to 2
 years

2 to 3 
years

Over 3 
years Total

Trade receivables
At December 31, 2024
Provision on collective basis
Expected loss rate 2.89% 12.52% 54.01% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (USD’000) 13,257 1,933 237 2,392 17,819
Loss allowance provision (USD’000) (383) (242) (128) (2,392) (3,145)

     

At December 31, 2023 (Restated)
Provision on collective basis
Expected loss rate 0.22% 15.93% 76.81% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (USD’000) 15,308 1,572 808 2,822 20,510
Loss allowance provision (USD’000) (221) (250) (620) (2,822) (3,913)

The Group takes into account the changes in its customers’ operating performance and future recoverability of 
trade receivables. The Group makes individual assessment on receivables when the counterparty fails to make 
repayment plan with the Group or becomes insolvency.

Trade receivables subjected to individual provision

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Gross carrying amount 693 691
Loss allowance provision (693) (691)
Expected loss rate 100% 100%
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance provision for trade receivables as at December 31, 2024 reconciles to the opening loss 
allowance for that provision as follows:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

At the beginning of the year 4,604 3,935
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 121
(Reversal)/provision for loss allowance recognized in profit or loss (594) 616
Currency translation differences (172) (68)

At the end of the year 3,838 4,604
   

(ii) Other financial assets at amortized cost
Other financial assets at amortized cost are other receivables which mainly include deposits receivables, loans 
to third parties and loans provided to employees. Management manages the loans by category, makes periodic 
assessments as well as individual assessments on the recoverability of other receivables based on historical 
settlement records and past experience.

As at December 31, 2024, the internal credit rating of such receivables was performing. The Group has assessed 
that there is no significant increase of credit risk for other receivables. Thus, the Group used the 12 months 
expected credit losses model to assess credit loss of other receivables. If a significant increase in credit risk of a 
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.

The loss allowance provision for other receivables (excluding prepayments) as at December 31, 2024 reconciles 
to the opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
   

At the beginning of the year 77 43
Provision for loss allowance recognized in profit or loss 744 35
Currency translation differences (1) (1)

At the end of the year 820 77
   

During the year, the provision for loss allowances was recognized in profit or loss in “net impairment losses on 
financial assets” in relation to the impaired trade and other receivables.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (comprising 
undrawn banking facilities) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flow. The Group expects 
to fund the future cash flow needs through internally generated cash flows from operations.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the statement of financial position dates to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less
than 1 year

Between
1 and 2 years

Between
2 and 5 years

Over
5 years Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

As at December 31, 2024
Lease liabilities 4,632 3,647 3,205 621 12,105
Trade and other payables 
 excluding non-financial liabilities 25,809 – – – 25,809
Bank borrowings 3,015 563 – – 3,578
Other non-current financial 
 liabilities – – 63,540 – 63,540

     

Total 33,456 4,210 66,745 621 105,032
     

As at December 31, 2023  
(Restated)
Lease liabilities 2,771 2,631 1,408 641 7,451
Trade and other payables 
 excluding non-financial liabilities 23,587 – – – 23,587
Bank borrowings 1,645 716 274 – 2,635
Other non-current financial 
 liabilities – – 94,610 – 94,610

Total 28,003 3,347 96,292 641 128,283

3.2 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This ratio 
is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and cash 
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statements of financial position.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group maintained at a net cash position (2023: same).
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value as at December 31, 2024 by level 
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels 
within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2), and

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 
(level 3).

(a) Fair value hierarchy
As at December 31, 2024, the financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the above three 
levels were analysed below:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

As at December 31, 2024
Assets:
Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss
  – Wealth management products with 
  variable return – 97,778 – 97,778
  – Associate – – 2,287 2,287
  – Other investees – – 35,645 35,645
  – Derivative financial asset – – 683 683

    

– 97,778 38,615 136,393
    

As at December 31, 2023
(Restated)
Assets:
Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss
  – Wealth management products with 
  variable return – 106,018 – 106,018
  – Other investee 34,206 34,206
  – Derivative financial asset – – 1,214 1,214

– 106,018 35,420 141,438

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is determined with reference to quoted market 
prices at the end of the reporting period. These instruments are included in level 1.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques that maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included 
in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in 
level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

• Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments

• Black-Scholes Model and unobservable inputs mainly including assumptions of expected volatility

• The latest round financing, i.e. the prior transaction price or the third-party pricing information, and

• A combination of observable and unobservable inputs, mainly including expected volatility, risk-free interest 
rate, market multiples, etc.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments during the year:

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Derivative financial asset
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,214 –
Additions – 870
Unrealized fair value (losses)/gains recognized in profit or loss (322) 286
Currency translation differences (209) 58

Balance at the end of the year 683 1,214

Other investees
Balance at the beginning of the year 34,206 17,364
Additions 3,408 25,870
Unrealized fair value losses recognized in profit or loss (1,865) (8,818)
Currency translation differences (104) (210)

Balance at the end of the year 35,645 34,206

Associate
Balance at the beginning of the year – –
Additions 2,112 –
Unrealized fair value gains recognized in profit or loss 202 –
Currency translation differences (27) –

Balance at the end of the year 2,287 –
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Valuation processes inputs and relationships to fair value

The Group has a team that manages the valuation of level 2 and level 3 instruments for financial reporting 
purposes. The team manages the valuation exercise of the investments on a case-by-case basis. Every half 
year, the team would use valuation techniques to determine the fair value of the Group’s level 2 and level 3 
instruments. External valuation experts will be involved when necessary.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group purchased wealth management products with variable 
return based on forward exchange rates or gold prices at certain dates. The Group classified these wealth 
management products into level 2 financial instruments as the inputs included were observable. The fair value of 
financial instruments in level 2 is determined using valuation techniques with the use of observable market data 
such as the future cash flows based on forward exchange rates or gold price and observable yield curve.

The components of the level 3 instruments include investments in unlisted companies classified as FVPL and 
derivative financial asset. As these investments and instruments are not traded in an active market, the majority 
of their fair values have been determined using applicable valuation techniques including comparable companies 
approach, comparable transactions approach and other option pricing approach. These valuation approaches 
require significant judgments, assumptions and inputs, including risk-free rates, expected volatility, relevant 
underlying financial projections, and market information of recent transactions (such as recent fund-raising 
transactions undertaken by the investees) and other exposure, etc.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are derived and evaluated as follows:

• Expected volatility for investments in unlisted companies and derivative financial asset are estimated based 
on average volatility for similar types of companies.

• Risk-free interest rate for investments in unlisted companies and derivative financial asset are derived from 
interest rates on treasury bonds over the same period.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Valuation processes inputs and relationships to fair value (Continued)

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in 
level 3 fair value measurements:

Description
Fair value at December 31,

Unobservable inputs
Range of inputs Relationship of unobservable 

inputs to fair value2024 2023 2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
  

Other investees 35,645 34,206 Expected volatility 41.1%-59.8% 43.16%-48.71% Increased/decreased expected volatility by 100 
 basis points (bps), the fair value for 
 investments in unlisted equity investments 
 would have been approximately 
 USD153,000 lower/USD 107,000 higher
 (2023 (restated): USD116,000 lower/
 USD 183,000 higher). 

Risk-free interest rate 1.08%-5.38% 1.93%-3.95% Increased/decreased risk-free 
 interest rate by 100 bps, the fair 
 value for investments in unlisted equity 
 investments would have been approximately 
 USD405,000 lower/USD414,000 higher
 (2023 (restated): USD752,000 
 lower/USD776,000 higher).

Associate 2,287 – Expected volatility 51.9%-53.9% NA Increased/decreased expected volatility 
 by 100 bps, the fair value would have been 
 approximately USD4,000 lower/
 USD182,000 higher.

Derivative financial asset 683 1,214 Expected volatility 42.2% 48.71% Increased/decreased expected volatility 
 by 100 bps, the fair value would have been 
 approximately USD10,000 higher/lower
 (2023 (restated): USD21,000 higher/lower).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, trade 
and other receivables (excluding non-financial assets) less allowance for impairment, trade and other payables 
(excluding non-financial liabilities), lease liabilities, bank borrowings and other non-current financial liabilities 
approximated their fair value.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(a) Revenue recognition
– Sales from rendering clear aligner treatment solutions

Revenue from rendering clear aligner treatment solutions is recognized over time when the Group’s performance 
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed up to date. The Group cannot change or substitute the deliverables in each solution 
contract or redirect the deliverables in each solution contract for another use as the deliverables in each solution 
contract are designed and custom-made for each specific patient based on his or her own orthodontic needs 
and teeth position and thus the deliverables in each solution contract do not have an alternative use to the 
Group. However, whether there is an enforceable right to payment depends on the terms of sales contract and 
the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to the contract. Such determination requires significant 
judgements. In assessing whether the Group has an enforceable right to payment for its revenue contracts, 
the Group has obtained legal counsel’s opinion regarding the enforceability of the right to payment, including 
an assessment on the contractual terms as well as any legislation that could supplement or override those 
contractual terms, and conducted an evaluation of any existence of circumstances that could restrict the Group 
to enforce its right to payment for specific performance. Management uses judgements, based on legal counsel’s 
opinion, to classify whether sales contracts into those with right to payment. Management will reassess their 
judgements on a regular basis to identify and evaluate the existence of any circumstances that could affect the 
Group’s enforceable right to payment and the implication of accounting for solution contracts.

The Group recognizes revenue from rendering clear aligner treatment solutions over time by reference to the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation at the reporting date. The progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured using output method by reference 
to the value of deliverables transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining deliverables promised 
under each contract. Significant judgements and estimations are required in determining the accuracy of 
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation of each contract at the reporting date, 
including value of deliverables transferred to the customer and remaining number of deliverables promised in 
each contract. Changing in value estimates in future periods can have effect on the Group’s revenue recognized. 
In making the estimation of value transferred to the customer, the Group relies on generally accepted prices 
negotiated with its customers; while the Group estimates the remaining number of deliverables which are 
expected to be transferred for each solution case based upon its historical experience and actual number of 
clear aligners delivered for completed cases.

– Revenue from sales of aligners with multiple distinct performance obligations
The Group enter into sales contracts that may consist of multiple distinct performance obligations: initial 
aligners and the options of additional aligners. Certain performance obligations of the sales contract are not 
delivered in one reporting period.

Determining the allocation of contract prices to different performance obligations of revenue from sales of clear 
aligners at the inception of the contract is the result of various factors, which involves significant estimation and 
judgments and impacts the timing of revenue recognition. The Group considers a variety of factors to allocate 
contract prices to each performance obligation, with reference to the terms of contracts with customers, the 
historical exercise of options and number of clear aligners delivered in each performance obligation.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(b) Recognition and estimation of redemption liability
As mentioned in Note 27, the Group has redemption liability arising from a symmetrical put and call options 
arrangements with non-controlling shareholders of Aditek do Brasil S.A. (“Aditek”). The redemption liability is 
initially recognized under “Other non-current financial liabilities” in the consolidated financial statements at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows on exercise under the symmetrical put and call options. The 
carrying amount of the financial liability is adjusted subsequently to reflect actual and revised estimated cash 
outflows, which will be recognized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the estimation of which 
involves the use of significant accounting estimates and judgments.

(c) Estimation of the fair value of certain financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and assumptions that are mainly based 
on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions used and 
the impact of changes to these assumptions, see Note 3.3.

(d) Expected credit loss for trade and other receivables
The loss allowances for receivables are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The 
Group used judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, 
based on the Group’s past experience, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end 
of the year. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b).

(e) Current tax and deferred tax
The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and other jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and calculations for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

For temporary differences which give rise to deferred tax assets, the Group assesses the likelihood that the 
deferred tax assets may be recovered. Deferred tax assets are recognized based on the Group’s estimates 
and assumptions that they will be recovered from taxable income arising from continuing operations in the 
foreseeable future.

(f) Assessment of impairment of goodwill
The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in Note 2.2.3. The recoverable amounts of CGUs was determined based on value-in-use 
calculations prepared on the basis of management’s assumptions and estimates (Note 14). These calculations 
require the use of estimates.
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5 Revenue and segment information

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Revenue from external customers is recognized over time and 
 is derived from the rendering of:
 – Clear aligner treatment solutions 179,625 182,075
 – Other services 2,425 2,550

 

Revenue from external customers is recognized at 
 a point in time and is derived from:
 – Sales of clear aligners 74,008 14,867
 – Sales of other products 12,729 10,124

 

Total revenue 268,787 209,616
   

The CODM identifies operating segments based on the internal organization structure, management 
requirements and internal reporting system, and discloses segment information of reportable segments which is 
determined on the basis of operating segments. An operating segment is a component of the Group that satisfies 
all of the following conditions: (1) the component is able to earn revenues and incur expenses from its ordinary 
activities; (2) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s management to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and (3) for which the information 
on financial position, operating results and cash flows is available to the Group. 

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on the reportable segment profit, which is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that 
other unallocated income, gains and losses, net impairment losses on financial assets, finance income-net, and 
share of results of investments accounted for using the equity method are excluded from such measurement.
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

Segment revenue and results
As a result of this evaluation, the Group has the following reportable segments for year ended December 31, 2024:

Year ended December 31, 2024

Mainland 
China

Other 
countries 

and regions Consolidated
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

   

Revenue 188,238 80,549 268,787
Cost of sales (69,043) (31,516) (100,559)
Gross profit 119,195 49,033 168,228

   

Segment profit/(loss) 26,846 (31,155) (4,309)
   

Other unallocated income, gains and losses 10,740
Net impairment losses on financial assets (150)
Finance income – net 5,458
Share of results of investments accounted for using the 
 equity method (72)

   

Profit before tax 11,667
Income tax expense (1,651)

   

Profit for the year 10,016
   

Other item
Depreciation and amortization 12,176 3,483 15,659
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
As a result of this evaluation, the Group has the following reportable segments for year ended December 31, 2023:

Year ended December 31, 2023
(Restated)

Mainland 
China

Other 
countries 

and regions Consolidated
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Revenue 188,986 20,630 209,616
Cost of sales (68,545) (10,363) (78,908)
Gross profit 120,441 10,267 130,708

Segment profit/(loss) 26,992 (30,752) (3,760)

Other unallocated income, gains and losses 485
Net impairment losses on financial assets (651)
Finance income – net 12,437
Share of results of investments accounted for 
 using the equity method 65

Profit before tax 8,576
Income tax expense (1,743)

Profit for the year 6,833

Other item
Depreciation and amortization 9,234 2,890 12,124

Geographical information
Information about the Group’s non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets is 
presented based on the geographical locations of the assets.

As at 
December 31,

As at 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Mainland China 87,280 66,437
Other countries and regions 29,541 33,382

116,821 99,819
   

Information about major customers
Since none of the Group’s provision of services to a single customer amounting to 10% or more of the Group’s total 
revenue for the year, no major customer information is presented in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

Information about major customers (Continued)
(a) Unsatisfied long-term contracts

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term contracts of 
clear aligner treatment solutions and sales of clear aligners:

As at 
December 31,

As at 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Mainland China
– Within 1 year 45,599 69,569
– Over 1 year 30,291 8,672

75,890 78,241

Other countries and regions
– Within 1 year 39,734 2,955
– Over 1 year 18,263 887

57,997 3,842
133,887 82,083

   

Management expects that unsatisfied performance obligations of approximately USD85,333,000 as at December 
31, 2024 will be recognized as revenue within 1 year. The remaining unsatisfied performance obligations of 
approximately USD48,554,000 will be mainly recognized in 1 to 3 years.

All other contracts of products and services are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the 
transaction prices allocated to these unsatisfied contracts are not disclosed.

6 Other income, other expenses and other losses – net

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Other income
Government grants (i) 3,805 2,170
Interest income on term deposits with initial terms over three months 8,252 2,628
Others 394 –

12,451 4,798

Other expenses
Donations (143) –

Other losses – net
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (2,922) 1,614
Realized and unrealized gains/(losses) on financial assets at FVPL – net 1,436 (5,458)
Losses on disposals of a joint venture (25) –
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (58) (137)
Others 1 (332)

(1,568) (4,313)
   

(i) These represented government grants received with no unfulfilled conditions..
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7 Expenses by nature

Expenses included in cost of revenue, selling and marketing expenses, administrative expenses and research and 
development expenses are analysed below:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (1,061) (1,634)
Raw materials and consumables used and other inventories 36,124 34,346
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) 141,537 107,531
Advertising and promotion expenses 23,806 16,298
Depreciation and amortization 15,659 12,124
Professional service and consulting fees 11,930 10,529
Outsourcing costs 6,204 6,356
Travelling expenses 7,556 5,748
Delivery costs 14,173 7,135
Office expenses 3,361 2,609
Utility costs 2,908 2,273
Taxes and surcharges 2,354 1,426
Entertainment expenses 1,859 1,597
Short-term lease and variable lease expenses 129 1,442
Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit services 802 877
– Non-audit services 296 227
Recruitment expenses 879 464
Others 4,580 4,028

273,096 213,376
   

8 Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments)

(a) Employee benefit expenses are analysed as follows:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Salaries, wages and bonuses 102,640 77,996
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 23) 11,290 10,195
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 8,769 7,085
Other social security costs, housing benefits and 
 other employee benefits 18,838 12,255

141,537 107,531
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8 Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 
included two (2023: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 40(a). The 
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2023: three) individuals during the year ended December 31, 2024 
are as follows:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Salaries and wages 851 707
Bonuses 493 264
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 47 20
Other social security costs, housing benefits and 
 other employee benefits 223 283
Share-based compensation expenses 542 580

2,156 1,854
   

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023

Emolument bands
HKD3,000,001 – HKD3,500,000 – 1
HKD3,500,001 – HKD4,000,000 2 1
HKD7,500,001 – HKD8,000,000 – 1
HKD8,000,000 – HKD9,000,000 1 –

3 3

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid 
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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9 Finance income – net

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Finance income:
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 7,000 13,586

Finance costs:
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 29) (659) (378)
Interest expense on borrowings (883) (771)

(1,542) (1,149)

Finance income – net 5,458 12,437
   

10 Income tax expense

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Current income tax
 – Mainland China corporate income tax 4,891 4,779
 – Hong Kong profits tax 4 6
 – Other countries and regions taxes 1 26

4,896 4,811

Deferred income tax (Note 31)
 – Mainland China corporate income tax (1,498) (1,873)
 – Other countries and regions taxes (1,747) (1,195)

(3,245) (3,068)

1,651 1,743
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10 Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
standard tax rate applicable to profit to the respective companies of the Group as follows:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Profit before income tax 11,667 8,576

Tax calculated at respective statutory tax rates 2,661 2,038
Tax effects of:
 – Preferential income tax rates applicable to subsidiaries (3,219) (3,358)
 – Effect of change in the tax rates on deferred tax of prior years 266 699
 – Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 1,431 2,803
 – Tax losses and temporary differences not recognized for 
  deferred income tax 5,285 6,549
 – Super deduction for research and development expenditures (2,594) (3,539)
 – Income not subject to tax (1,952) (2,141)
 – Share of results of investments accounted for using the equity method 2 (5)
 – Recognition of tax losses and temporary differences not recognized for 
  deferred income tax in prior years (266) (1,263)
 – Final settlement differences 37 (40)

1,651 1,743
   

(a) Cayman Islands income tax
Under the prevailing laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on income or capital 
gains. In addition, no Cayman Islands withholding tax is payable on dividend payments by the Company to its 
shareholders.

(b) Mainland China corporate income tax (“CIT”)
CIT provision was made on the estimated assessable profits of entities within the Group incorporated in 
Mainland China and was calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations of the PRC after considering the 
available tax benefits from refunds and allowance. The general Mainland China CIT rate is 25% during the year 
ended December 31, 2024.

The Company’s subsidiary, Wuxi EA Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (無錫時代天使醫療器械有限公司, “Wuxi EA”), 
was approved as High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) under the relevant tax rules and regulations of 
the PRC in 2014 and it has renewed the qualification of HNTE in 2017, 2020 and 2023, and accordingly, is subject 
to a reduced preferential CIT rate of 15% during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company’s subsidiary, Shanghai EA Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (上海時代天使醫療器械有限公司, 
“Shanghai EA”), was approved as HNTE under the relevant tax rules and regulations of the PRC in 2019 and it has 
renewed the qualification of HNTE in 2022, and accordingly, is subject to a reduced preferential CIT rate of 15% 
for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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10 Income tax expense (Continued)

(b) Mainland China corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Continued)
The Company’s subsidiary, Wuxi EA Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. (無錫時代天使生物科技有限公司), was approved as 
HNTE under the relevant tax rules and regulations of the PRC in 2023 and accordingly, is subject to a reduced 
preferential CIT rate of 15% for the year ended December 31, 2024.

According to the CIT laws and Detailed Implementation Rules, an enterprise is allowed to claim research and 
development expenses incurred for the development of new technologies, new products and new craftsmanship 
from 2008 onwards. From 2022, according to Cai Shui [2022] No. 16 (財稅[2022]16號), an extra 100% of the 
amount of research and development expenses can be deducted before tax.

(c) Hong Kong profit tax
The Hong Kong profits tax rate of the subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in Hong Kong is 16.5%.

(d) Profit/income tax rate in other jurisdictions as shown below:

Countries

At December 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023

Income/profits tax rate

United States 27.67%-29.84%
Singapore 17%
Brazil 15% and 34%
Germany Corporation tax standard rate: 15.83%

Trade tax standard rate: 16.63%
Netherlands 25%
France 25%
Spain 25%
Australia 30%

(e) Withholding tax
According to the relevant regulations of the CIT laws of Mainland China, when a foreign investment enterprise in 
Mainland China distributes dividends out of the profits earned from January 1, 2008 onwards to its investors in 
other countries and regions, such dividends are subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%.

As at December 31, 2024, the retained earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China not yet remitted to 
holding companies incorporated outside Mainland China, for which no deferred tax liability had been provided, 
were approximately USD125,841,000 (2023 (restated): USD100,344,000). Such earnings are expected to be 
retained by the subsidiaries in Mainland China for reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted to their 
holding companies outside Mainland China in the foreseeable future based on management’s best estimates of 
the Group’s funding requirements in other countries and regions.
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11 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
(Restated)

 

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (USD’000) 12,114 7,530
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 168,238,930 168,094,354

Basic earnings per share (in USD) 0.07 0.04

(b) Diluted earnings per share
The Group has three categories of potential ordinary shares for the year ended December 31, 2024 which were 
the restricted shares and share options granted before IPO (“the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes) (Note 23(a)), the 
restricted shares granted after IPO (“the Post-IPO RSU Schemes) (Note 23(b)) and the share options granted after 
IPO (“the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme) (Note 23(c)). Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential shares (collectively 
forming the denominator for computing the diluted EPS), which is determined under the treasury stock method.

Some share options and restricted shares have been excluded from the computation of weighted average 
number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share as their inclusion is anti-dilutive. No adjustments is 
made to earnings (numerator).

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
(Restated)

 

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (USD’000) 12,114 7,530
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 168,238,930 168,094,354
Adjustments for share options and awarded shares 804,379 625,543
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings 
 per share 169,043,309 168,719,897

Diluted earnings per share (in USD) 0.07 0.04
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12 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings
Plant and 

machinery
Transportation

equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements CIP Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

At January 1,2023
 (Restated)
Cost 27,240 26,559 257 2,125 9,068 417 65,666
Accumulated depreciation (1,323) (7,501) (185) (791) (5,998) – (15,798)

Closing net book amount 25,917 19,058 72 1,334 3,070 417 49,868

Year ended December 31, 2023 
 (Restated)
Opening net book amount 25,917 19,058 72 1,334 3,070 417 49,868
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 1,839 99 34 – 2,886 4,858
Additions 1,250 1,717 140 96 282 10,994 14,479
Transfers 37 5,749 – 360 1,307 (7,453) –
Disposals – (611) (3) (91) – – (705)
Depreciation (1,302) (3,705) (154) (502) (1,703) – (7,366)
Currency translation 
 differences (432) (166) 5 (23) (41) 71 (586)

Closing net book amount 25,470 23,881 159 1,208 2,915 6,915 60,548

At December 31, 2023
 (Restated)
Cost 28,066 36,509 513 2,319 8,781 6,915 83,103
Accumulated depreciation (2,596) (12,628) (354) (1,111) (5,866) – (22,555)

Closing net book amount 25,470 23,881 159 1,208 2,915 6,915 60,548
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12 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings
Plant and 

machinery
Transportation

equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements CIP Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

       

Year ended December 31, 2024
Opening net book amount 25,470 23,881 159 1,208 2,915 6,915 60,548
Additions 112 5,925 318 771 491 19,891 27,508
Transfers 831 12,721 – – 725 (14,277) –
Disposals (30) (575) – (11) (31) – (647)
Depreciation (1,358) (5,330) (70) (464) (1,637) – (8,859)
Currency translation differences (371) (1,419) (9) (54) (50) (1,352) (3,255)

       

Closing net book amount 24,654 35,203 398 1,450 2,413 11,177 75,295
       

At December 31, 2024
Cost 28,556 51,714 739 2,937 7,321 11,177 102,444
Accumulated depreciation (3,902) (16,511) (341) (1,487) (4,908) – (27,149)

       

Closing net book amount 24,654 35,203 398 1,450 2,413 11,177 75,295
       

As at December 31, 2024, the Group has pledged certain property, plants and equipment including CIP and plant 
and machinery in Brazil with a net carrying amount of BRL11,377,000 (equivalent to approximately USD1,871,000) 
(2023 (restated): BRL31,517,000 (equivalent to approximately USD6,521,000)) for the banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary of the Group to finance the subsidiary’s daily working capital and capital expenditure plans (Note 26).

Depreciation expenses were charged to the following categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Cost of revenue 4,498 3,521
Selling and marketing expenses 1,234 888
Administrative expenses 2,664 2,483
Research and development expenses 463 474

8,859 7,366
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13 Right-of-use assets

Office  premises
Plant and 

machinery
Plant and 

machinery Land use rights
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

At January 1, 2023 (Restated)
Cost 8,828 – 8,531 17,359
Accumulated depreciation (4,936) – (654) (5,590)

Net book amount 3,892 – 7,877 11,769

Year ended December 31, 2023 
(Restated)
Opening net book amount 3,892 – 7,877 11,769
Additions 5,219 – – 5,219
Early termination of lease 
 contracts (188) – – (188)
Depreciation (2,507) – (169) (2,676)
Currency translation differences 18 – (131) (113)

Closing net book amount 6,434 – 7,577 14,011

At December 31, 2023 
(Restated)
Cost 9,789 – 8,389 18,178
Accumulated depreciation (3,355) – (812) (4,167)

Net book amount 6,434 – 7,577 14,011

Year ended December 31, 2024
Opening net book amount 6,434 – 7,577 14,011
Additions 4,333 4,771 – 9,104
Early termination of lease 
 contracts (11) – – (11)
Depreciation (2,904) (1,590) (167) (4,661)
Currency translation differences (375) (34) (110) (519)

    

Closing net book amount 7,477 3,147 7,300 17,924
    

At December 31, 2024
Cost 11,524 4,721 8,265 24,510
Accumulated depreciation (4,047) (1,574) (965) (6,586)

    

Net book amount 7,477 3,147 7,300 17,924
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13 Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Depreciation expenses were charged to the following categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Cost of revenue 2,679 819
Selling and marketing expenses 782 185
Administrative expenses 914 1,438
Research and development expenses 286 234

4,661 2,676
   

14 Intangible assets

Goodwill Software Patents
Customer

 relationship Brand Technology Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

At January 1, 2023 (Restated)
Cost 426 2,853 943 351 – – 4,573
Accumulated amortization – (1,927) (319) – – – (2,246)

Net book amount 426 926 624 351 – – 2,327

Year ended December 31, 2023
 (Restated)
Opening net book amount 426 926 624 351 – – 2,327
Acquisition of a subsidiary 7,418 100 – 2,963 1,082 7,057 18,620
Additions – 2,499 193 – – – 2,692
Amortization – (482) (103) (550) (222) (725) (2,082)
Currency translation differences 423 (29) (10) 155 55 388 982

Closing net book amount 8,267 3,014 704 2,919 915 6,720 22,539

At December 31, 2023 (Restated)
Cost 8,267 5,388 1,120 3,458 1,132 7,427 26,792
Accumulated amortization – (2,374) (416) (539) (217) (707) (4,253)

Net book amount 8,267 3,014 704 2,919 915 6,720 22,539
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14 Intangible assets (Continued)

Goodwill Software Patents
Customer 

relationship Brand Technology Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Note (a)

       

Year ended December 31, 2024
Opening net book amount 8,267 3,014 704 2,919 915 6,720 22,539
Acquisition of a subsidiary 281 – – – 548 – 829
Additions – 855 – – – – 855
Amortization – (628) (108) (517) (208) (678) (2,139)
Currency translation differences (1,647) (84) (20) (499) (168) (1,301) (3,719)

       

Closing net book amount 6,901 3,157 576 1,903 1,087 4,741 18,365
       

At December 31, 2024
Cost 6,901 6,182 1,088 2,813 1,450 5,926 24,360
Accumulated amortization – (3,025) (512) (910) (363) (1,185) (5,995)

       

Net book amount 6,901 3,157 576 1,903 1,087 4,741 18,365
       

Amortization expenses were charged to the following categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Cost of revenue 11 24
Selling and marketing expenses 141 186
Administrative expenses 1,819 1,726
Research and development expenses 168 146

2,139 2,082
   

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations
Goodwill of USD6,901,000 arising from business combinations has been allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs 
of subsidiaries acquired for impairment testing. Management performed an impairment assessment on the 
goodwill as at December 31, 2024. The goodwill (net book amount) is allocated in CGUs as follows:

Year ended 
 December 31,

Year ended 
 December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Aditek 6,229 7,837
Others 672 430

6,901 8,267
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14 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations (Continued)
The recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The calculation of 
goodwill on the CGUs uses cash flow projections based on financial estimates made by the Directors, with 
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Forecast period is determined based on the business model and 
the current stage of individual CGUs. 

Based on management’s assessment results, there was no impairment of goodwill as at December 31, 2024 and 
any reasonable change to the key assumptions would not lead to an impairment.

The following table sets out the key assumptions of the calculation on the Aditek CGU:

Forecast period 5 years
Revenue growth rate 9.7%-57.8%
Gross profit margins 51.2%-55.8%
Terminal growth rate 3.0%
Pre-tax discount rate 24.2%

The expected revenue growth rates are following the business plan approved by the Group. The budgeted 
gross profit margin used in the goodwill impairment testing are determined by the management based on past 
performance and its expectation for market development. Pre-tax discount rates reflect market assessments of 
the time value and the specific risks relating to the industry.

15 Financial instruments by category

As at 
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash and cash equivalents 227,103 379,734
Restricted cash 99 –
Term deposits with initial terms over three months 126,293 –
Trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets 26,448 24,558

379,943 404,292

Financial assets at FVPL 136,393 141,438

516,336 545,730

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Other non-current financial liabilities 34,015 41,713
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 25,809 23,587
Lease liabilities 11,135 6,767
Bank borrowings 3,348 2,450

74,307 74,517
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16 Trade and other receivables and prepayments

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Included in current assets
Trade receivables (Note (a))
 – Due from third parties 17,979 20,530
 – Due from related parties (Note 36(e)) 282 220

18,261 20,750
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (3,823) (4,591)

14,438 16,159

Other receivables (Note (b))
 – Receivables from payment platforms 590 484
 – Interest receivables – 1,537
 – Deposits receivables 1,787 1,289
 – Loans to third parties 4,706 –
 – Others 1,967 354

9,050 3,664
Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables (788) (38)

8,262 3,626

Prepayments for
 – Taxes 5,405 1,567
 – Suppliers 8,279 4,625

13,684 6,192

36,384 25,977

Included in non-current assets
Trade receivables (Note (a))
 – Due from third parties 251 451

Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (15) (13)

236 438

Other receivables (Note (b))
 – Loans provided to employees 3,544 4,374

Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables (32) (39)
3,512 4,335

Prepayments for
 – Suppliers 4,799 –
 – Property, plant and equipment 620 1,018
 – Taxes – 59

5,419 1,077

9,167 5,850
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16 Trade and other receivables and prepayments (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables mainly arise from rendering of clear aligner treatment solutions. The Group generally received 
advances prior to the rendering of services or sales, while certain customers are mainly given a credit term of 30 
to 60 days.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables presented based on invoice date:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Within a year 13,284 15,362
1 to 2 years 2,037 1,642
2 to 3 years 289 939
Over 3 years 2,902 3,258

18,512 21,201
   

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9. Movements 
in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies.

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

RMB 9,484 11,856
BRL 3,698 2,809
Australian Dollar (“AUD”) 2,275 900
USD 901 1,596
JPY 739 –
Swiss Franc 546 604
Great Britain Pound 466 469
New Zealand Dollar 202 114
HKD 128 –
EUR 73 2,853

18,512 21,201
   



149Annual Report   2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 Trade and other receivables and prepayments (Continued)

As at December 31, 2024, the Group has pledged certain trade receivables in Brazil with a carrying amount 
of BRL13,734,000 (equivalent to approximately USD2,259,000) (2023 (restated): BRL3,189,000 (equivalent to 
approximately USD660,000)) for the banking facilities granted to the subsidiary of the Group to finance the 
subsidiary’s daily working capital and capital expenditure plans (Note 26).

(b) All other receivables excluding loans receivables were unsecured, interest-free and collectable on demand.

Other receivables are denominated in the following currencies.

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

RMB 5,100 5,771
USD 3,635 1,588
EUR 710 251
BRL 112 302
Others 3,037 126

 

12,594 8,038
   

17 Cash and cash equivalents, term deposits and restricted cash

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Included in current assets 
Cash at banks 227,102 379,732
Cash on hand 1 2

Cash and cash equivalents 227,103 379,734

Term deposits with initial terms over three months 111,948 –

Restricted cash 99 –

Included in non-current assets 
Term deposits with initial terms over three months 14,345 –
   

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of cash and cash 
equivalents out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control promulgated by the 
PRC government.



150 Angelalign Technology Inc.    

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 Cash and cash equivalents, term deposits and restricted cash (Continued)

(a) Cash and cash equivalents, term deposits and restricted cash were denominated in the following currencies:

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

RMB 75,839 67,753
USD 251,037 292,194
Others 26,619 19,787

353,495 379,734
   

18 Inventories

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

At cost:
Raw materials 15,908 10,675
Work in progress 429 1,124
Finished goods 2,262 1,821

18,599 13,620
Less: Provision for impairment loss (239) (166)

18,360 13,454
   

The costs of inventories recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income are disclosed in Note 7.

19 Financial assets at FVPL

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Wealth management products with variable return (Note a) 97,778 106,018
Associate (Note b) 2,287 –
Other investees (Note c) 35,645 34,206
Derivative financial asset – Call option in a subsidiary (Note d) 683 1,214

136,393 141,438
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19 Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

(a) Wealth management products with variable return

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Balance at the beginning of the year 106,018 –
Additions (Note i) 597,401 823,258
Realized fair value gains recognized in profit or loss 3,421 3,090
Disposals (607,895) (719,784)
Currency translation differences (1,167) (546)

Balance at the end of the year 97,778 106,018

– Included in current assets 97,778 105,904
– Included in non-current assets – 114
   

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group subscribed several wealth management products 
from eight commercial banks from time to time with outstanding balance of each bank no more than 
RMB230,000,000.

(b) Associates

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Balance at the beginning of the year – –
Addition 2,112 –
Unrealized fair value gains recognized in profit or loss 202 –
Currency translation differences (27) –

 

Balance at the end of the year 2,287 –
 

– Included in non-current assets 2,287 –
   

All investments in associates measured at fair value through profit or loss are in the form of convertible 
redeemable preferred instruments or ordinary shares with preferential rights.
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19 Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

(c) Other investees

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Balance at the beginning of the year 34,206 17,364
Additions 3,408 25,870
Unrealized fair value losses recognized in profit or loss (1,865) (9,413)
Currency translation differences (104) 385

Balance at the end of the year 35,645 34,206
 

– Included in non-current assets 35,645 34,206
   

(d) Derivative financial asset – Call option in a subsidiary

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,214 –
Additions – 870
Unrealized fair value (losses)/gains recognized in profit or loss (322) 286
Currency translation differences (209) 58

Balance at the end of the year 683 1,214
 

– Included in non-current assets 683 1,214
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20 Investments accounted for using the equity method

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Joint ventures (Note a) 3,773 1,924
Associate (Note b) 1,464 797

5,237 2,721
   

(a) Investments in joint ventures

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,924 1,225
Additions 2,111 584
Share of results of the joint ventures (55) 103
Disposals (46) –
Currency translation differences (161) 12

At the end of the year 3,773 1,924
   

(b) Investment in an associate

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Balance at the beginning of the year 797 849
Additions 706 –
Share of results of an associate (17) (38)
Currency translation differences (22) (14)

1,464 797
   

All investments in the form of ordinary shares with significant influence are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting, after initially being recognized at cost.
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20 Investments accounted for using the equity method (Continued)

(c) There were no individually material joint venture and associate that are accounted for using the equity method 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The joint ventures and associates have share capital consisting solely of 
ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group and the Group’s proportion of ownership interest is the 
same as the proportion of voting rights held by the Group. There were no contingent liabilities relating to the 
Group’s interest in the joint ventures and associate as at December 31, 2024.

21 Share capital and premium and shares held for employee share scheme

(a) Share capital and premium

Number of 
ordinary

shares

Nominal 
value  of

 ordinary 
shares

Share
 capital

Share 
premium

USD USD’000 USD’000

At January 1, 2023 (Restated) 168,760,609 16,876 17 458,460

New shares issued for options exercised 180,000 18 * 461
Shares issued for restricted share award scheme 800,775 80 – –
Dividends – – – (14,831)
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (643,600) (64) * (5,004)

At December 31, 2023 (Restated) 169,097,784 16,910 17 439,086

At January 1, 2024 169,097,784 16,910 17 439,086
    

New shares issued for options exercised (i) 120,000 12 * 307
Shares issued for restricted share award scheme (ii) 826,941 83 – –
Dividends (iii) – – – (23,837)
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (iv) (19,400) (2) * (130)

    

At December 31, 2024 170,025,325 17,003 17 415,426
    

* The balance represents an amount less than USD1,000.

(i) On December 12, 2024, 120,000 shares of the Company were issued for the exercise of a senior management’s option 
with exercise price of USD1.2 per share. The consideration received amounting to USD144,000 and share-based 
compensation expenses recorded in other reserves during the vesting period were transferred to share capital and share 
premium.

(ii) On March 20, 2024, the Company issued and allotted 142,580 shares to Cultivate Happiness Limited (the “Trustee”), an 
entity held by a trustee entrusted by the Group for the purpose of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme (Note 23(b)(v)). On July 18, 
2024, the Company issued and allotted 684,361 shares (Note 23(b)(vi)).
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21 Share capital and premium and shares held for employee share scheme (Continued)

(a) Share capital and premium (Continued)
(iii) On March 19 2024, the Board recommended the payment of a special final dividend of HKD1.1 per share (equivalent 

to approximately USD23,837,000) for the year ended December 31, 2023 out of the share premium account of the 
Company, which was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on June 28, 2024 
and paid on July 29, 2024.

(iv) In February 2024, the Company repurchased 19,400 shares with consideration of USD130,000 and which were cancelled 
in May 2024.

(b) Shares held for employee share scheme

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Balance at the beginning of the year * 158
Shares issued for restricted share award scheme (Note 23(b)) * * 
Transfer of shares held for employee share scheme upon 
 vesting (Note 23(a)) – (158)

Balance at the end of the year * *
   

* The balance represents an amount less than USD1,000.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company held 1,221,549 shares (2023: 926,308 shares) for the share award 
schemes.
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22 Other reserves

Capital 
reserves

Statutory 
reserves

Share-based 
payment 
reserves

Currency 
translation 

reserves
Put option 

liabilities Others Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

(Note (a)) (Note 23)

Balance at January 1, 2023 
 (Restated) (29,563) 11,365 22,724 (8,840) – 48 (4,266)
Currency translation differences – – – (3,221) – – (3,221)
Recognition of put option liabilities 
 arising from business 
 combinations – – – – (33,162) – (33,162)
Changes in put option liabilities in 
 respect of non-controlling 
 interests – – – – (8,551) – (8,551)
New shares issued for options 
 exercised – – (245) – – – (245)
Transfer of shares held for employee 
 share scheme upon vesting – – (158) – – – (158)
Share-based payments (Note 23) – – 10,195 – – – 10,195
Appropriation to statutory reserves 
 (Note (a)) – 3,831 – – – – 3,831

Balance at December 31, 2023 
 (Restated) (29,563) 15,196 32,516 (12,061) (41,713) 48 (35,577)

Balance at January 1, 2024 (29,563) 15,196 32,516 (12,061) (41,713) 48 (35,577)
Currency translation differences – – – (4,248) – – (4,248)
Changes in put option liabilities in 
 respect of non-controlling 
 interests – – – – 7,698 – 7,698
New shares issued for options 
 exercised – – (163) – – – (163)
Share-based payments (Note 23) – – 11,290 – – – 11,290
Appropriation to statutory reserves 
 (Note (a)) – 3,165 – – – – 3,165

       

Balance at December 31, 2024 (29,563) 18,361 43,643 (16,309) (34,015) 48 (17,835)
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22 Other reserves (Continued)

(a) In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of association of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, 
the PRC subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of their profits after tax, as determined in accordance 
with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and other applicable regulations, to the statutory 
surplus reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. The appropriation to the reserve 
must be made before any distribution of dividends to shareholders of the PRC subsidiaries. Apart from the 
statutory surplus reserve, discretionary surplus reserve can be appropriated according to the resolution of 
shareholders’ meeting. The surplus reserve can be used to offset previous years’ losses, if any, and part of 
the statutory surplus reserve can be capitalized as the PRC subsidiaries’ capital provided that the amount 
of surplus reserve remaining after the capitalization shall not be less than 25% of its capital.

23 Share-based payments

(a) The Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes
On October 9, 2020, the Company granted 3,000 share options to a senior management, with exercise price of 
USD120 per share. Such options shall be vested in the following schedule: (i) 20% when IPO completed and (ii) 
each 20% on the last day of each year commencing from October 1, 2020. Effective from May 20, 2021, these 
share options were subdivided into 300,000 shares with exercise price of USD1.2 per share. As at December 31, 
2024, all 300,000 shares options were vested and exercised.

(b) The Post-IPO RSU Schemes
(i) The Post-IPO RSU Scheme was conditionally approved and adopted by the Shareholders on May 20, 2021 

and amended on June 29, 2023 and June 28, 2024. On March 25, 2022, the Company granted 403,467 award 
shares to 133 eligible participants and 25,642 award shares to Ms. Li Huamin, a then executive director 
under the scheme at nil consideration, respectively. The granted shares to Ms. Li Huamin were approved on 
the annual general meeting on May 26, 2022.

Pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, 429,109 new shares were issued and allotted to the Trustee. The 
Trustee will hold such shares on behalf of the relevant eligible participants on trust, until such shares are 
vested. The Trustee is controlled and consolidated by the Group as a structured entity and the above new 
shares issued are recorded as shares held for employee share scheme.

The restricted share units granted to the eligible participants will be vested based on the following schedule 
for the relevant financial year: (i) For 68,833 granted shares, 50%, 25% and 25% of the shares will be vested 
on the second, third and fourth anniversary of the employment date of each grantee. (ii) For 360,276 granted 
shares (including the shares granted to Ms. Li Huamin), 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% will be vested on the date 
of September 30, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively. As at December 31, 2024, 259,748 shares of the 
Company were vested, 110,065 shares of the Company were lapsed.
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23 Share-based payments (Continued)

(b) The Post-IPO RSU Schemes (Continued)
(ii) Pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, 800,775 shares were further granted to 175 eligible participants 

on June 12, 2023. The restricted share units will be vested based on the following schedule for the relevant 
financial year: (i) For 233,161 granted shares, 50%, 25% and 25% of the shares will be vested on the second, 
third and fourth anniversary of the employment date of each grantee. (ii) For 41,992 granted shares, 30%, 
30%, 20% and 20% of the shares will be vested on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the 
employment date of each grantee. (iii) For 28,764 granted shares, 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% of the shares 
will be vested on the second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the employment date of each grantee. (iv) 
For 496,858 granted shares, 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% will be vested on the dates of September 30, 2023, 
2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively. As at December 31, 2024, 394,252 shares of the Company were vested, 
89,232 shares of the Company were lapsed.

(iii) Pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, 55,560 shares were further granted to 14 eligible participants on 
July 19, 2023. The restricted share units will be vested based on the following schedule for the relevant 
financial year: (i) For 760 granted shares, 25%, 25%, 20%, 10%, 10%, 5% and 5% of the shares will be 
vested on the date of April 3, 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029 and 2030, respectively. (ii) For 54,800 
granted shares, 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% will be vested on the dates of September 30, 2023, 2024, 2025 
and 2026, respectively. As at December 31, 2024, 30,070 shares of the Company were vested, 7,800 shares 
of the Company were lapsed.

(iv) Pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, 17,979 shares were further granted to 3 eligible participants on 
September 13, 2023. The restricted share units will be vested based on the following schedule for the 
relevant financial year: (i) For 17,979 granted shares, 50%, 25% and 25% of the shares will be vested on the 
second, third and fourth anniversary of the employment date of each grantee. As at December 31, 2024, 
8,988 shares of the Company were vested, no share of the Company were lapsed.

(v) Pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, 142,580 shares were further granted to 15 eligible participants on 
March 20, 2024. The restricted share units will be vested based on the following schedule for the relevant 
financial year: (i) For 15,550 granted shares, 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% of the shares will be vested on the 
second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the employment date of each grantee. (ii) For 127,030 granted 
shares, 50%, 25%, and 25% of the shares will be vested on the second, third and fourth anniversary of the 
employment date of each grantee. As at December 31, 2024, 4,664 shares of the Company were vested, 8,720 
shares of the Company were lapsed.

(vi) Pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, 684,361 shares were further granted to 246 eligible participants 
on July 17, 2024. The restricted share units will be vested based on the following schedule for the relevant 
financial year. (i) For 680,456 granted shares, 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% shall vest on the dates of September 
30, 2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027, respectively. (ii) 3,905 RSUs granted shall vest in three tranches of 50%, 
25% and 25% on the second, the third and the fourth anniversary of the hire date of the RSU Granted, 
respectively. As at December 31, 2024, 202,746 shares of the Company were vested, 5,440 shares of the 
Company were lapsed.

The fair value of the restricted shares at grant date was determined with reference to the market price of the 
Company’s shares on the respective grant dates.



159Annual Report   2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 Share-based payments (Continued)

(b) The Post-IPO RSU Schemes (Continued)
The Group has to estimate the expected percentage of eligible participants that will stay within the Group 
(the “Expected Retention Rate”) of the restricted share award scheme in order to determine the amount of 
share-based payment expenses charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. As at 
December 31, 2024, the Expected Retention Rate was assessed to be 92% (2023: 92%).

(c) The Post-IPO Share Option Schemes
(i) The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and adopted by the Shareholders on May 

20, 2021 and amended on June 29, 2023 and January 28, 2024. On April 28, 2023, 3,378,646 options, to 
subscribe for a total of 3,378,646 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company, 
were granted to two directors and five employees of the Group with exercise price of HKD100.06 per share. 
Such options shall be vested in the following schedule: (i) for 1,688,646 options granted to one director, 
25%, 25%, 20%, 10%, 10%, 5% and 5% of the options will be vested on each date of April 3 from 2024 to 
2030, and (ii) for 1,690,000 options granted to another director and five employees, 25%, 25%, 25% and 
25% of the shares will be vested on each date of April 30 from 2024 to 2027. The exercise period shall be ten 
years from the date of grant of relevant options.

The above transaction was considered as equity-settled share-based payment to employees in exchange 
for their services. The Group uses the binomial option pricing model in determining the estimated fair value 
of the options granted. The fair value of the options on the grand day was USD17,256,477.

(ii) On April 30, 2024, (the “Modification Date”), the Board announced that after taking into consideration of the 
market conditions and to further incentivize and retain the relevant grantees to continuously contribute to 
the development of the Company, the Board resolved to cancel 990,000 unvested options granted on April 
28, 2023 (Note 23(c)(i)) (the “Old Options”) and re-grant to them 827,750 new options (the “New Options”) in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Cancellation and Re-
Grant”).

The above transaction was considered as modification of share-based payment. The Group accounts for the 
incremental fair value of the New Options (compared with the Old Options) at the date of modification and it 
would spread this amount over the remaining vesting period of the New Options which is same with that of the 
Old Options. The Group uses the binomial option pricing model in determining the estimated fair value of the New 
Options and Old Options. The incremental fair value was USD481,906. The significant inputs into the binomial 
valuation model were listed as below:

As at Modification Date

Closing price of ordinary share HKD79.00
Exercise price of New Options/Old Options HKD79.00/HKD100.06
Expected exercise multiple 2.8
Expected volatility 40.18%-45.29%
Risk-free interest rates 3.68%-3.89%
Expected dividend yield 1.00%
Contractual lives 4-10 years
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23 Share-based payments (Continued)

(c) The Post-IPO Share Option Schemes (Continued)
(iii) On July 17, 2024, the board announces that to provide long-term motivation to key employees, the Company 

granted 60,000 options to one grantee with rights to subscribe for an aggregate of 60,000 shares upon 
exercise of such options in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, subject to 
acceptance of the option grantee.

As at Granted Date

Closing price of ordinary share HKD56.45
Exercise price of Options HKD58.75
Expected exercise multiple 2.8
Expected volatility 40%
Risk-free interest rates 3.27%
Expected dividend yield 1.00%
Contractual lives 10.0 years

The total share-based compensation expenses recognized are as follows:

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Expenses arising from equity-settled share-based 
 payment transactions 11,290 10,195
   

24 Retained earnings

Year ended
 December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

At the beginning of the year 67,546 63,847
Profit for the year 12,114 7,530
Appropriation to statutory reserves (3,165) (3,831)

At the end of the year 76,495 67,546
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25 Trade and other payables

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Employee benefits payable 26,919 21,777
Trade payables (Note (a)) 11,425 9,888
Other taxes payable 9,944 6,983
Accrued expenses payable 4,585 5,154
Payables in relation with acquisition of non-current assets 3,574 3,417
Deposits payable 3,078 2,047
Professional service fees payable 1,220 1,462
Advertising and promotion expenses payable 958 926
Provision for contingencies 760 629
Others 969 693

63,432 52,976
   

(a) The credit period granted by suppliers mainly ranges from 30 to 60 days. The following is an aging analysis of 
trade payables presented based on the invoice date:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Within a year 10,911 9,741
Over 1 year 514 147

11,425 9,888
   

 The carrying amount of the Group’s trade payables is denominated in the following currencies:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

RMB 7,804 8,401
EUR 43 375
Others 3,578 1,112

11,425 9,888
   

(b) As at December 31, 2024, trade and other payables of the Group were interest-free.
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26 Bank borrowings

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Included in current liabilities:
Bank borrowing, secured 2,860 1,564

Included in non-current liabilities:
Bank borrowing, secured 488 886

3,348 2,450
   

Assets pledged as security
The bank borrowings are secured by the Group’s trade receivables and property, plants and equipment in Brazil. The 
carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings were as follows:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Current
– Trade receivables 2,259 660

Non-current
– Property, plant and equipment 1,871 6,521

Total assets pledged as security 4,130 7,181
   

At December 31, 2024, the Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Within 1 year 2,860 1,564
Between 1 and 2 years 488 631
Between 2 and 5 years – 255

3,348 2,450

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings bear interests at fixed interest rates ranging from 6% to 9% 
(2023: 6% to 9%) per annum.

The Group has complied with all loan covenants (including financial and non-financial) throughout the reporting 
period.
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27 Other non-current liabilities

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

 – Redemption liability (Note (a)) 34,015 41,713
 – Taxes payable 353 766

 

34,368 42,479
   

(a) It mainly comprised redemption liability arising from put option arrangements with non-controlling shareholders of Aditek of 
approximately USD34,015,000 (2023 (restated): USD41,713,000).

28 Contract liabilities

The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Included in current liabilities
Clear aligner treatment solutions 42,291 52,092
Sales of clear aligners 14,273 11,409
Other services 108 118

56,672 63,619

Included in non-current liabilities
Clear aligner treatment solutions 21,168 10,087
   

(a) Significant changes in contract liabilities
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from the advance payments made by customers while the 
underlying goods or services are yet to be provided. During the year, the contract liabilities increased due to 
increase in number of new contracts entered with customers compared with the year 2023, which resulted in 
increase in advanced payments received.
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28 Contract liabilities (Continued)

(b) Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognized during the year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Revenue recognized that was included in the contract liabilities 
 balance at the beginning of the year
 – Clear aligner treatment solutions 52,092 51,520
 – Sales of clear aligners 11,409 –
 – Other services 118 121

63,619 51,641
   

29 Lease liabilities

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Minimum lease payments due
 – Within 1 year 4,632 2,771
 – Between 1 and 2 years 3,647 2,631
 – Between 2 and 5 years 3,205 1,408
 – Over 5 years 621 641

12,105 7,451
Less: future finance charges (970) (684)

Present value of lease liabilities 11,135 6,767

Within 1 year 4,176 2,483
Between 1 and 2 years 3,397 2,474
Between 2 and 5 years 2,965 1,217
Over 5 years 597 593

11,135 6,767
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29 Lease liabilities (Continued)

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Interest expense (included in finance costs-net) 659 378

Variable terms lease expenditure for equipment – 1,172
Short-term lease expenditure for office premises, dormitories 
 and equipment 110 270

110 1,442

Cash outflow for lease payments 5,357 2,699
Cash outflow for short-term lease and variable terms lease 129 793

5,486 3,492
   

The Group leases various properties and equipment to operate its businesses and these lease liabilities were 
measured at net present value of the lease payments during the lease terms that are not yet paid. No extension 
options are included in such property and equipment leases across the Group.

30 Deferred income

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Included in non-current liabilities
Government grants
 – To be realized within 12 months 451 460
 – To be realized after more than 12 months 3,789 4,306

4,240 4,766
   

The Group’s deferred income mainly represents government grants received from governmental authorities in 
relation to the construction of Chuangmei Center in Wuxi City and certain plant and equipment which is credited to 
profit or loss over the estimated useful lives of the related assets to match the depreciation expense of assets. Other 
government grants in relation to income, which are to compensate the related expenses or losses to be incurred in the 
subsequent periods, are recognized in the profit or loss over the periods in which the related costs are incurred.
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31 Deferred income tax

(a) Deferred tax assets
The analysis of deferred tax assets is as follows:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Unused tax losses 4,021 3,478
Accrued expenses 1,699 –
Lease liabilities 1,550 1,131
Deferred income 636 683
Impairment on financial assets 384 675
Employee benefits 42 –
Others 719 485

 

Total deferred tax assets 9,051 6,452
 

Total deferred tax assets
– to be recovered within 12 months 2,386 480
– to be recovered after more than 12 months 6,665 5,972

 

9,051 6,452
Offsetting against deferred tax liabilities (i) (1,560) (1,123)

 

Net deferred tax assets 7,491 5,329
   

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right of offsetting and when the deferred 
income taxes relate to the same authority.

The movement in deferred tax assets is as follows:

Unused 
tax losses

Accrued
expenses

Lease 
liabilities

Deferred 
income

Impairment 
on financial 

assets
Employee 

benefits Others Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

As at January 1, 2023 (Restated) 755 – 628 1,071 785 – 103 3,342
Acquisition of a subsidiary – – – – – – 96 96
Credited/(charged) to the 
 consolidated statements of 
 comprehensive income 2,720 – 504 (371) (98) – 273 3,028
Currency translation differences 3 – (1) (17) (12) – 13 (14)

As at December 31, 2023 (Restated) 3,478 – 1,131 683 675 – 485 6,452

As at January 1, 2024 3,478 – 1,131 683 675 – 485 6,452
Credited/(charged) to the 
 consolidated statements of 
 comprehensive income 874 1,717 459 (37) (284) 42 358 3,129
Currency translation differences (331) (18) (40) (10) (7) – (124) (530)

        

As at December 31, 2024 4,021 1,699 1,550 636 384 42 719 9,051
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31 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(a) Deferred tax assets (Continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax losses carry-forward to the extent that the realization of the related 
tax benefits through the future taxable profits is probable. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group 
did not recognize deferred tax assets in respect of losses amounting to USD23,753,000 (2023 (Restated): 
USD27,625,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

The expiry of the deductible tax losses that are not recognized as deferred tax assets is analysed below:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Indefinite 56,429 32,676
   

(b) Deferred tax liabilities
The analysis of deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Intangible assets 2,434 3,572
Right of use assets 1,522 1,131
Property, plant and equipment 119 170
Fair value changes on financial assets at FVPL 38 100

Total deferred tax liabilities 4,113 4,973

Total deferred tax liabilities
– to be recovered within 12 months 776 979
– to be recovered after more than 12 months 3,337 3,994

 

4,113 4,973
Offsetting against deferred tax assets (i) (1,560) (1,123)

Net deferred tax liabilities 2,553 3,850
   

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right of offsetting and when the deferred 
income taxes relate to the same authority.
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31 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)
The movement in deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Intangible 
assets

Right-of 
use assets

Property, 
plant and 

equipment

Fair value 
changes on 

financial 
assets at 

FVPL Inventories Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

As at January 1, 2023 (Restated) 105 598 – – – 703
Acquisition of a subsidiary 3,775 – 180 – 137 4,092
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated 
 statements of comprehensive income (507) 531 (20) 97 (141) (40)
Currency translation differences 199 2 10 3 4 218

As at December 31, 2023 (Restated) 3,572 1,131 170 100 – 4,973

As at January 1, 2024 (Restated) 3,572 1,131 170 100 – 4,973
Acquisition of a subsidiary – – – – – –
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated 
 statements of comprehensive income (475) 431 (19) (53) – (116)
Currency translation differences (663) (40) (32) (9) – (744)

      

As at December 31, 2024 2,434 1,522 119 38 – 4,113
      

32 Business combination

(a) Prior period
On January 16, 2023, Angelalign Brasil S.A. (“Angelalign Brazil”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
acquired 51% of the total enlarged share capital of Aditek at a consideration of approximately USD19,576,000. 
Aditek became an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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32 Business combination (Continued)

(a) Prior period (Continued)
Details of the purchase consideration, the  fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill as 
at the date of the acquisition are set out as follows:

Fair value
USD’000 

Intangible assets – Customer relationship 2,963 
Intangible assets – Brand 1,082 
Intangible assets – Technology 7,057 
Other intangible assets 100 
Property, plant and equipment 4,858 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 584 
Inventories 2,905 
Trade and other receivables 2,641 
Cash and cash equivalents (ii) 13,168

35,358
Deferred tax liabilities (4,092)
Taxes payables (1,015)
Bank borrowings (5,457)
Trade and other payables (2,660)

(13,224)
Fair value of net identifiable assets 22,134
Less: non-controlling interests (10,846)

Net assets acquired 11,288

Purchase consideration for acquisition of Aditek 18,706 
Net assets acquired (11,288)

Goodwill 7,418 

The goodwill is attributable to the selling network and the high market share of the acquired business in Brazil. 
None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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32 Business combination (Continued)

(a) Prior period (Continued)
(i) According to the Share Purchase Agreement, Angelalign Brasil S.A. has a call option to acquire further up to 9% of 

shares held by the original shareholders of Aditek in the period between the date of issuance of Aditek’s audited 
financial statements for fiscal year of 2025 and the sixtieth day after such issuance. The option was recognized 
as derivative financial asset at the acquisition date with a fair value of USD870,000 (restated). As at December 
31, 2024, the fair value of the option were approximately USD683,000 (2023 (restated): USD1,214,000).

(ii) Acquisition related cost
Acquisition-related costs of USD336,000 (restated) are included in administrative expenses in profit or loss for 
the year ended December 31, 2023.

(iii) Revenue and loss contribution
The acquired business contributed revenues of USD9,394,000 (restated) and net loss of USD106,000 (restated): 
to the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(iv) Redemption liability arising from put option arrangements with non-controlling shareholders
According to the Share Purchase Agreement, Angelalign Brasil S.A. and the original shareholders of Aditek have 
a symmetrical put and call options to acquire/sell further up to 49% of shares held by the original shareholders 
of Aditek at any time after the fifth anniversary of the acquisition for a price per share calculated based on the 
formula agreed upon reflecting audited financial statements of Aditek for the year immediately prior to the date 
of receipt of the option exercise notice. The symmetrical put and call options was recognized at the present value 
of the expected redemption amount at the acquisition date and classified as non-current liabilities as it becomes 
exercisable 12 months after the end of the reporting period (Note 27).

Subsequently, if the Group revises its estimates of future payments, the Group will adjust the carrying amount 
of the redemption liabilities to reflect actual and revised estimated cash outflows. Such adjustment will 
be recognized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. In the event that the put option expires 
unexercised, the liability is derecognized with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

(b) Current period
(i) Acquisition of 100% interest in Beijing Jolly Oralcare Technology Ltd (“Jolly Oralcare”).

In 2024, the Group entered into a share purchase agreement to acquire the entire equity interest in Jolly Oralcare 
for a cash consideration of the RMB3,700,000 (equivalent of USD520,000). The acquisition was completed on 
December 31, 2024, and after the acquisition, Jolly Oralcare became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company. Goodwill of USD281,000, being the excess of considerations transferred in the acquirees over the fair 
value of identified net assets acquired, was recognized.

33 Dividends
The Board has recommended the payment of a special final dividend of HKD0.38 per share for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 which is subject to the approval by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the 
Company on May 23, 2025 (2023: a special final dividend of HKD1.1 per share).
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34 Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from operations:

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Profit before income tax 11,667 8,576

Adjustments for:
 Interest income (Note 9) (7,000) (13,586)
 Interest on term deposits with initial terms over three months 
  (Note 6) (8,252) (2,628)
 Interest on loans to employees (137) (85)
 Interest expense (Note 9) 1,542 1,149
 (Gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value through 
  profit or loss (Note 6) (1,436) 5,458
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 8,859 7,366
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) 4,661 2,676
 Amortization of intangible assets (Note 14) 2,139 2,082
 Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 58 137
 Losses on disposals of joint venture (Note 6) 25 –
 Net impairment losses on financial assets (Note 3.1(b)) 150 651
 Share-based compensation expenses (Note 23) 11,290 10,195
 Share of results of investments accounted for using 
  the equity method (Note 20) 72 (65)

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 23,638 21,926

Changes in working capital (excluding the effects of 
 business combination):
 Inventories (4,892) (112)
 Trade and other receivables and prepayments (8,149) (5,246)
 Trade and other payables 9,444 (1,525)
 Contract liabilities 4,134 14,065

Cash generated from operations 24,175 29,108
   

In the consolidated statements of cash flows, proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 
comprise:

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Net book amount (Note 12) 647 705
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) (58) (137)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 589 568
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34 Cash flow information (Continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in the debt for each of the year presented.

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Lease liabilities 11,135 6,767
Bank borrowings 3,348 2,450

Net cash 14,483 9,217
   

Liabilities from financing activities

Lease 
liabilities

Bank 
borrowings Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

Net debt as at January 1, 2023 (Restated) 4,049 – 4,049
Cash flows (2,699) (3,994) (6,693)
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 5,457 5,457
Acquisition of new lease contracts 5,219 – 5,219
Early termination of lease contracts (188) – (188)
Interest accrued 378 771 1,149
Currency translation differences 8 216 224

Net debt as at December 31, 2023 (Restated) 6,767 2,450 9,217

Net debt as at January 1, 2024 (Restated) 6,767 2,450 9,217
   

Cash flows (5,357) 720 (4,637)
Acquisition of new lease contracts 9,104 – 9,104
Early termination of lease contracts (11) – (11)
Interest accrued 659 883 1,542
Currency translation differences (27) (705) (732)

   

Net debt as at December 31, 2024 11,135 3,348 14,483
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35 Commitments

(a) Commitments relating to short-term leases
The Group has recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases, except for short-term leases, 
see Note 13 and Note 29 for further information.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable short-term leases contracted for at the 
end of the year but not recognized as liabilities, are as follows:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

No later than 1 year 321 671
   

(b) Capital commitments
The Group’s capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet incurred is as follows:

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Property, plant and equipment 1,788 358
Intangible assets 521 –

2,309 358
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36 Related party transactions

(a) Names and relationships with related parties
Below is the summary of the Group’s related parties during the year ended December 2024:

Name of the related party Relationship with the Group

CareCapital Group The ultimate holder of the Company
Astro Science do Brasil Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento S. A. (“Astro Science”) Joint venture held by the Group
Shanghai Songbai Xingqi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., LTD 
 (“Songbai Xingqi”)

An entity controlled by CareCapital Group

Huizhou Dental Hospital An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Guiyang Jinxin Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Guiyang Jinxin”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Zhengzhou Smile Songbai Industrial Co., Ltd. (“Zhengzhou Smile”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Changsha Minjian Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (“Changsha Minjian”) An entity significantly influenced by CareCapital Group
Henan Red Sun Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Henan Red Sun”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Taiyuan Yishunkang Medical Device Co., Ltd. (“Yishunkang”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Guangzhou Yilu Precision Medical Devices Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Yilu”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Luoyang Smile Songbai Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (“Luoyang Smile”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Songbai Leye Medical Equipment (Ningbo) Co., Ltd. (“Songbai Leye”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Zhenjiang Wenjie Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (“Zhenjiang Wenjie”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Songbai Maishi (Shaanxi) Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Songbai Maishi”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Songbai Oukang (Liaoning) Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Songbai Oukang”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Shanghai Qimei Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Qimei”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Songbaiqihai (Qingdao) Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Songbai Qihai”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Songbai Zhongman (Fujian) Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. 
 (“Songbai Zhongman”)

An entity controlled by CareCapital Group

Songbai Huaren (Shaanxi) Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. 
 (“Songbai Huaren”)

An entity controlled by CareCapital Group

Chengdu YaFei Dental Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Yafei”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Shanghai Maxflex Medical Technology Co., Ltd. 
 (“Shanghai Maxflex”)

An entity significantly influenced by CareCapital Group 
 (After July 28, 2023)

Hunan Songbei Medical Technology Co., Ltd (“Hunan Songbei”) An entity controlled by CareCapital Group
Nogueira & Lopes Holding Ltda. (“Nogueira”) An entity controlled by Aditek’s minority shareholders
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36 Related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties
During the year ended December 31, 2024, save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the following is a summary 
of the significant transactions carried out between the Group and its related parties.

Year ended
 December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Sales of clear aligner treatment solutions
 Guangzhou Yilu 6,234 5,673
 Zhengzhou Smile 4,111 4,496
 Zhenjiang Wenjie 1,223 1,159
 Songbai Oukang 1,163 646
 Yishunkang 1,042 905
 Songbai Leye 329 255
 Changsha Minjian 141 187
 Songbai Maishi 106 47
 Songbai Qihai 41 8
 Guiyang Jinxin 16 102
 Luoyang Smile 15 40
 Chengdu Yafei 9 109
 Henan Red Sun 4 25
 Huizhou Dental Hospital 1 2
 Songbai Huaren 1 –
 Shanghai Qimei 1 –

14,437 13,654

Sales of intraoral scanners
 Zhengzhou Smile 257 405
 Songbai Oukang 152 –
 Guangzhou Yilu 46 77
 Zhenjiang Wenjie 21 75
 Songbai Zhongman – 79
 Songbai Maishi – 54
 Yishunkang – 4
 Songbai Leye – –

476 694

Purchase of raw materials
 Astro Science 217 504
 Shanghai Maxflex 371 63
 Hunan Songbei 5 –

588 567

Payment of property leases
 Nogueira 56 121

Purchase of consulting services
 CareCapital Orthotech 252 -
 Songbai Xingqi 119 -

371 -

Acquisition of a Subsidiary
 Jolly Oralcare 520 -

Capital injection
 Shanghai Maxflex 647 -
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36 Related party transactions (Continued)

(c) Key management compensation
Key management comprise the Company’s directors and senior management. The compensation paid or payable 
to key management for employee services is shown below:

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Fees 282 297
Salaries and wages 2,070 1,672
Bonuses 1,086 564
Share-based compensation expenses 4,808 4,423
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 88 49
Other social security costs, housing benefits and other 
 employee benefits 254 310

8,588 7,315
   

(d) Loans provided to key management

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Loans provided to key management – 3,835
Interests incurred 94 53
Proceeds of loans repaid by key management (194) (1,138)
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36 Related party transactions (Continued)

(e) Outstanding balances arising from sales of goods and services

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)
 

Trade receivables
 Guangzhou Yilu 87 66
 Guiyang Jinxin 54 77
 Changsha Minjian 49 55
 Zhenjiang Wenjie 47 17
 Zhengzhou Smile 29 5
 Songbai Leye 8 –
 Chengdu Yafei 6 –
 Songbai Oukang 1 –
 Yishunkang 1 –

282 220
   

As at December 31, 2024, the balances were with trade nature, unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on 
demand.

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Contract liabilities
 Zhengzhou Smile 1,944 1,893
 Guangzhou Yilu 1,858 1,517
 Yishunkang 457 376
 Zhenjiang Wenjie 433 395
 Songbai Oukang 390 272
 Songbai Leye 140 93
 Songbai Maishi 52 25
 Songbai Qihai 27 4
 Luoyang Smile 14 32
 Henan Red Sun 10 35
 Changsha Minjian – 41
 Guiyang Jinxin – 17
 Huizhou Dental Hospital – 1
 Shanghai Qimei – 1

5,325 4,702
   

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from the advance payments made by customers while the 
underlying goods or services are yet to be provided.
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36 Related party transactions (Continued)

(f) Outstanding balances arising from purchase of raw materials

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Trade payables
 Astro Science 64 58
   

(g) Outstanding balances arising from loans provided to key management

As at As at
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

Other receivables
 Loans provided to key management 2,596 2,735
   

37 Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2024.



179Annual Report   2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 Subsidiaries

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at December 31, 2024 and 2023, all of these are limited liability 
companies:

Name of subsidiaries

Place and date of
incorporation/
Acquisition

Principal activities 
and place of operation

Particulars of issued 
share capital/

registered capital

Attributable 
equity interest 

to the Group As at 
December 31, 2024

Attributable 
equity interest 

to the Group As at 
December 31, 2023

Wuxi EA PRC, February 10, 2010 Product design, manufacturing, research 
 and development of clear aligner 
 treatment solutions, PRC

USD56,000,000 100% 100%

Shanghai EA PRC, September 5, 2011 Product design, sales and marketing, 
 research and development of clear 
 aligner treatment solutions, PRC

RMB30,000,000 100% 100%

Wuxi EA Bio-Tech Co., Ltd.*
 (無錫時代天使生物科技有限公司)

PRC, July 11, 2018 Manufacturing, research and 
 development of clear aligner treatment 
 solutions, PRC

RMB400,000,000 100% 100%

Angelalign France Technology France, December 5, 2022 Sales and marketing of clear aligners, 
 France

EUR 2,000,000 100% 100%

USA Angelalign Technology Corp United States (“USA”), 
 April 30, 2022

Sales and marketing of clear aligners, 
 USA

USD 10,000,000 100% 100%

Angel Technology Spain S.L. Spain, December 22, 2022 Sales and marketing of clear aligners, 
 Spain

EUR 2,500,000 100% 100%

ADITEK DO BRASIL S.A. Brazil, January 16, 2023 Sales and marketing of clear aligners, Brazil BRL 85,817,873 51% 51%
Angelalign Orthodontics Development Cayman Islands, March 19, 2024 Investing, Cayman Islands USD 50,000 100% 100%

* The English names of the subsidiaries represent management’s best efforts in translating their Chinese names as they do not 
have official English names.
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39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the Company

As at
December 31,

As at
December 31,

Note 2024 2023
USD’000 USD’000

(Restated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 152,203 110,543
Property, plant and equipment 1 3
Right-of-use assets 23 67
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 29,970

152,227 140,583

Current assets
Receivables from subsidiaries 55,726 54,810
Term deposits with initial terms over three months 76,845 –
Cash and cash equivalents 125,330 254,942

257,901 309,752

Total assets 410,128 450,335

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 21 17 17
Share premium 21 415,426 439,086
Other reserves (a) 25,171 11,122
Accumulated losses (b) (7,159) (10,089)

Total equity 433,455 440,136

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Other payables 9,488 10,132
Lease liabilities 25 43

9,513 10,175

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – 24

– 24

Total liabilities 9,513 10,199

Total equity and liabilities 442,968 450,335

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on March 20, 2025 and were signed on its 
behalf.

Mr. Hu Jiezhang Ms. Dong Li

Director Director
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39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the Company (Continued)

(a) Other reserves

Share-based 
payment 
reserves

Currency 
translation 

reserves Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

Balance at January 1, 2023 (Restated) 5,120 (6,335) (1,215)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 10,195 – 10,195
New shares issued for options exercised (245) – (245)
Currency translation differences – 2,387 2,387

Balance at December 31, 2023 (Restated) 15,070 (3,948) 11,122

Balance at January 1, 2024 (Restated) 15,070 (3,948) 11,122
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 11,290 – 11,290
New shares issued for options exercised (163) – (163)
Currency translation differences – 2,922 2,922

   

Balance at December 31, 2024 26,197 (1,026) 25,171
   

(b) Accumulated losses of the Company

Accumulated 
 losses
USD’000

Balance at January 1, 2023 (Restated) (7,450)
Loss for the year (2,639)

Balance at December 31, 2023 (Restated) (10,089)

Balance at January 1, 2024 (Restated) (10,089)
Profit for the year 2,930

 

Balance at December 31, 2024 (7,159)
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40 Benefits and interests of directors

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of every director and chief executive is set out below:

For the year ended December 31, 2024:

Name Fees
Salaries

 and wages Bonuses

Share-based 
compensation

expenses

Pension costs 
– defined 

contribution 
plans

Other social 
security costs, 

housing 
benefits and 

other employee 
benefits Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
       

Year ended December 31, 2024
Executive directors
Mr. HU Jiezhang – 298 146 – 12 23 479
Mr. HUANG Kun – 96 45 – 2 2 145
Mr. SONG Xin – 253 124 1,166 12 23 1,578
Ms. DONG Li – 259 127 2,804 2 – 3,192
Non-executive director
Mr. FENG Dai – – – – – – –
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. HAN Xiaojing 103 – – – – – 103
Mr. SHI Zi 77 – – – – – 77
Mr. ZHOU Hao 103 – – – – – 103

       

283 906 442 3,970 28 48 5,677
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40 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023:

Name Fees
Salaries 

and wages Bonuses

Share-based 
compensation

expenses

Pension costs 
– defined 

contribution 
plans

Other social 
security costs, 

housing 
benefits and 

other employee 
benefits Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

Year ended December 31, 2023 (Restated)
Executive directors
Mr. HU Jiezhang (iii) (After July 31, 2023) – 126 50 – 4 4 184
Mr. HUANG Kun (iv) (After September 1, 2023) – 32 12 – 1 – 45
Ms. LI Huamin (iii) (Before July 30, 2023) – 194 – – 6 6 206
Mr. SONG Xin – 238 93 983 10 11 1,335
Ms. DONG Li (i) (After April 3, 2023) – 196 77 2,823 2 – 3,098
Non-executive directors
Mr. FENG Dai – – – – – – –
Mr. HUANG Kun (iv) (Before August 31, 2023) – – – – – – –
Mr. HU Jiezhang (iii) (Before July 30, 2023) – – – – – – –
Independent non-executive directors
Ms. DONG Li (i) (Before April 2, 2023) 41 – – – – – 41
Mr. HAN Xiaojing 102 – – – – – 102
Mr. SHI Zi 77 – – – – – 77
Mr. ZHOU Hao (ii) (After April 11, 2023) 77 – – – – – 77

297 786 232 3,806 23 21 5,165

(i) On March 23, 2023, the board of directors of the Company, announced that Ms. DONG Li, an independent non-executive 
Director, had been re-designated to be an executive Director and appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company 
with effect from April 3, 2023.

(ii) On April 11, 2023, the board of directors of the Company, announced that Mr. ZHOU Hao had been appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of each of the Nomination 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee with effect from April 11, 2023.

(iii) On June 30, 2023, the board of directors of the Company, announced that Ms. LI Huamin had resigned as an executive 
Director, a member of the Remuneration Committee and the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from July 
31, 2023. In addition, Mr. HU Jiezhang, a non-executive Director of the Company, had been re-designated and appointed 
as an executive Director, a member of the Remuneration Committee, the chief executive officer and the chief technology 
officer of the Company with effect from July 31, 2023.

(iv) On August 24, 2023, the board of directors of the Company, announced that, Mr. HUANG Kun, a non-executive Director 
of the Company, had been re-designated and appointed as an executive Director and the president of global business of 
the Company with effect from September 1, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to directors as an inducement 
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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40 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in Note 36, no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s 
business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

41 Subsequent events

On January 17, 2025, the board of Directors of the Company announces that the Company granted 34, 590 
options to one grantee with rights to subscribe for an aggregate of 34, 590 ordinary shares of the Company upon 
exercise of such options in accordance with the terms of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, subject to acceptance 
of the option grantee with exercise price of HKD52.55 per share. The option granted shall vest in four tranches 
of 30%, 30%, 20% and 20% on September 30, 2025, September 30, 2026, September 30, 2027 and September 
30, 2028, respectively. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 
January 17, 2025.

On February 28, 2025, the Group invested USD 4,000,000 in an unlisted entity engaged in medical and dental 
devices provision with shareholding percentage at 5.56%. The Group has classified this investment as a financial 
asset at FVPL.
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